

Brigham Young University BYU ScholarsArchive

All Theses and Dissertations

2014-12-01

Studies of PhoU in Escherichia coli: Metal Binding, Dimerization,Protein/Protein Interactions, and a Signaling Complex Model

Stewart G. Gardner Brigham Young University - Provo

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd

BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Gardner, Stewart G., "Studies of PhoU in Escherichia coli: Metal Binding, Dimerization, Protein/Protein Interactions, and a Signaling Complex Model" (2014). *All Theses and Dissertations*. 5685. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/5685

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen_amatangelo@byu.edu.

Studies of PhoU in Escherichia coli: Metal Binding, Dimerization,

Protein/Protein Interactions, and a Signaling Complex Model

Stewart G. Gardner

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

William R. McCleary, Chair Joel Shelby Griffitts Brent Lynn Nielsen Julianne House Grose Zachary Thomas Aanderud

Department of Microbiology and Molecular Biology

Brigham Young University

December 2014

Copyright ©2014 Stewart G. Gardner

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Studies of PhoU in *Escherichia coli*: Metal Binding, Dimerization, Protein/Protein Interactions and a Signaling Complex Model

Stewart G. Gardner Department of Microbiology and Molecular Biology, BYU Doctor of Philosophy

Phosphate is an essential nutrient for all forms of life. *Escherichia coli* has a PhoR/PhoB two component regulatory system that controls the expression of various genes whose products allow the cell to thrive in low phosphate environments. The signaling mechanism of the PhoR/PhoB system has been studied and the phosphorylation cascade that controls gene expression is well understood. What is still unknown is how PhoR senses the phosphate level of the environment. The PstS, PstC, PstA, PstB, and PhoU proteins play a role in this signal sensing. This work confirms the hypothesis that the PstSCAB complex senses the environmental phosphate and that phosphate signal is passed through PhoU to PhoR. Further, this work characterizes residues important for interaction on PhoU and PhoR and identifies a structural model for interaction. This model points to a potential mechanism for PhoU mediated signaling to PhoR. We tested this model with direct coupling analysis and obtained further confirmation. Further use of these techniques may elucidate more of the interactions necessary for proper phosphate signaling.

Keywords: PhoR, PhoU, PstSCAB, Pho regulon, two component signal transduction, PAS domain, direct coupling analysis, protein structure modeling

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. William R. McCleary for his guidance, encouragement, and mentoring throughout my academic career. I would also like to thank my advisory committee: Drs. Joel Griffitts, Brent Nielsen, Julianne Grose, and Zachary Aanderud. Thanks in addition to Dr. Allen R. Buskirk for serving on my committee. I would also like to thank Dr. Perry Ridge and Dr. Byron Adams for help with bioinformatic and phylogenetic analyses. Thanks to Casey Callison, Kristi Johns, and all the other students who have worked with me in Dr. McCleary's laboratory. Most importantly, thanks to my wife Jamie Gardner, for her support, love, and confidence.

For the research presented in Chapter 2 "The PhoU protein from *Escherichia coli* interacts with PhoR, PstB and metals to form a phosphate-signaling complex at the membrane" (1). I thank my co-authors: Kristine D. Johns, Rebecca Tanner, and William R. McCleary Additionally, I thank Dr. John Bell, Jen Nelson, and Liz Gibbons for their assistance with the fluorescence assays and Lance Moses for help with the ICP-MS analysis. I thank several undergraduate students; Geoffrey Johnston, Rachel Winn, Austin Callison, and Annaliese Gabrielle for help in the initial characterization of the mutant strains and Casey Callison, Kirk Richardson, Michael Barrus, and Gregory Bowden for excellent technical assistance. That work was supported by Public Health Service grant R15GM96222 from the National Institute of General Medical Sciences. R. T. was partially supported by an Undergraduate Mentoring Environment Grant from Brigham Young University.

For the research in Chapter 3 "Genetic analysis, structural modeling, and direct coupling analysis suggest a mechanism for phosphate signaling in *Escherichia coli*", I thank my coauthors: Justin B. Miller, Tanner Dean, Tanner Robinson, McCall Erickson, Perry Ridge, and William R. McCleary. Also, I thank Kathryn Hanks, Alex Cummock, Evan Christensen, Bethany Evans, Gregory Bowden, and Michael Barrus for help with sequence collection and mutant characterization. This work was supported by Public Health Service grant R15GM96222 from the National Institute of General Medical Sciences.

Title Page	i
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	ix
List of Figures	X
Chapter 1 The Pho Regulon in Escherichia coli	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.1.1 Histidine Kinases	2
1.1.2 Response Regulators	7
1.1.3 PhoB and PhoR	9
1.1.4 PstSCAB PhoU	14
1.2 Regulation of the Pho Regulon	
1.2.1 Crosstalk	22
1.2.2 Stochastic activation	
1.2.3 Other Pho Regulon Genes	
1.3 Pho Regulon and Pathogenesis	
1.3.1 PhoU and Pathogenesis	
1.4 Conclusions	

Table of Contents

Chapter 2 The PhoU protein from Escherichia coli interacts with PhoR, PstB and metals to form	
a phosphate-signaling complex at the membrane	29
2.1 Abstract	29
2.2 Introduction	30
2.3 Materials and methods	33
2.3.1 Bacterial stains, growth media, and growth conditions.	33
2.3.1.1 <i>E. coli</i> PhoU structure prediction	36
2.3.1.2 Bacterial adenylate cyclase two-hybrid analysis	36
2.3.2 β-galactosidase activity assays	36
2.3.3 PstB/PhoU co-elution experiments	37
2.3.4 PhoR/PhoU co-elution experiments	38
2.3.5 Alkaline phosphatase (AP) and Western immunoblot assays	39
2.3.6 PhoU purification and gel filtration.	39
2.3.7 Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS)	40
2.3.8 Fluorescence assays for metal binding.	40
2.3.9 Integrated strain construction	41
2.3.10 Cell fractionation	42
2.4 Results	43
2.4.1 Bacterial two-hybrid analysis shows interactions between P _i -signaling proteins	43
2.4.2 PstB and PhoR co-elute with PhoU during affinity chromatography	45

2.4.3 <i>E. coli</i> PhoU forms a dimer	50
2.4.4 <i>E. coli</i> PhoU binds manganese and magnesium	51
2.4.5 Mutational analysis of conserved residues	54
2.4.6 Analysis of <i>phoU</i> integrants	57
2.4.7 Biochemical analysis of the PhoUQuad protein	59
2.5 Discussion	60
Chapter 3 Genetic analysis, structural modeling, and direct coupling analysis suggest a	
mechanism for phosphate signaling in Escherichia coli	66
3.1 Abstract	66
3.2 Background	67
3.3 Results and Discussion	69
3.3.1 PhoU and PstSCAB necessity for phosphate signaling	69
3.3.2 PhoU and PhoU A1417E growth phenotypes in a $\Delta phoU$ strain	71
3.3.3 PhoU mutant's signaling phenotypes	72
3.3.4 BACTH of PhoU mutants interaction with PhoR and PstB	74
3.3.5 Scanning mutagenesis of the PAS domain of PhoR	75
3.3.6 Protein structure models and a docking model of PhoR/PhoU interaction	77
3.3.7 Direct Coupling Analysis	78
3.3.8 Potential model for PhoU mediated signaling to PhoR	86
3.4 Conclusions	87

3.5 Methods	87
3.5.1 Strains, plasmids, and reconstructing of signaling system	
3.5.2 Growth of PhoU A147E mutant	
3.5.3 Alkaline Phosphatase Assays	88
3.5.4 BACTH and β -Galactosidase Assays for scanning mutagenesis	89
3.5.5 Protein structure modeling and protein docking modeling	
3.5.6 Direct Coupling Analysis	
Chapter 4 Additional research findings involving PhoU	
4.1 Metal Binding	
4.2 Phylogeny of bacteria and gene organization of phoB, phoR, pstS, pstC, pstA, p.	stB, and
phoU	
4.3 Attempts to confirm protein/protein interactions	
4.4 Attempts to isolate a PhoU mutant that signals independently of PstSCAB	
Chapter 5 Future work and conclusions	100
5.1 Future work	100
5.1.1 PhoU and PstB	100
5.1.2 Complex isolation	101
5.2 Conclusions	
Supplementary Tables and Figures	104
REFERENCES	115

List of Tables

Table.2.1 Strains and plasmids	35
Table 3.1 DCA of PhoU A147 vs. PhoR PAS domain	80
Table 3.2 DCA of PhoU R148 vs. PhoR PAS domain	80
Table 3.3 DCA of PhoU E121 vs. PhoR CA domain	80
Table 3.4 DCA of PhoU A147 sorted by Direct Information	82
Table 3.5 DCA of PhoU R148 sorted by Direct Information	82
Table 3.6 DCA of PhoU R148 compared to all of the PhoR residues using 415 sequences from	L
bacterial species across the proteobacteria group	85
Table S.1 Oligonucleotides 1	04
Table S.2 Primers 1	05

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Overview of the major regulatory components of the Pho regulon	9
Figure 1.2 Modeled structure of <i>E. coli</i> PhoR	12
Figure 1.3 ABC transporter structural arrangements throughout transport	15
Figure 2.1 Modeled structural fold of <i>E. coli</i> PhoU	
Figure 2.2 PhoU interacts with PhoR and PstB.	
Figure 2.3 PstB and PhoR co-elute with PhoU	
Figure 2.4 PhoU forms a dimer	51
Figure 2.5 PhoU binds manganese	54
Figure 2.6 Signaling phenotypes of PhoU mutants.	56
Figure 2.7 Membrane localization of PhoU and its mutant derivatives	59
Figure 2.8 Model of Pho regulon expression control.	61
Figure 3.1 Pho regulon expression control.	69
Figure 3.2 Signaling necessity and sufficiency of PhoU and PstSCAB	
Figure 3.3 Growth yield of overnight cultures	
Figure 3.4 Signaling activity of various PhoU mutants	
Figure 3.5 PhoU mutant interaction s with PhoR and PstB	75
Figure 3.6 PAS domain scanning mutagenesis	
Figure 3.7 Structures of modeled PhoR and PhoU	
Figure 3.8 Residues from DCA analysis	81
Figure 3.9 Alignment of <i>phoU</i> and <i>phoR</i> from <i>E. coli</i> used for DCA analysis	85
Figure 3.10 DCA analysis of PhoU R148 compared to all of the PhoR residues using s	equences
from bacterial species across the proteobacteria group	86

Figure 4.1 Phylogenetic Tree of Pho regulon control gene arrangements	94
Figure 4.2 A phylogenetic tree with various gene states highlighted	96
Figure S.1 PhoU-His Quad is a dimer	. 106
Figure S.2 Metal binding does not affect PhoU dimerization	. 106
Figure S.3 PhoU F194W binds magnesium	. 107
Figure S.4 Alignment of <i>phoU</i> and <i>phoR</i> genes from gammaproteobacterial species	. 110
Figure S.5 Alignment of <i>phoU</i> and <i>phoR</i> genes from species across the proteobacteria	
phylogenetic group	. 114

1.1 Introduction

Phosphate is an essential nutrient for all forms of life and is found in many of the basic building blocks of life, such as DNA, RNA, protein modifications, lipid membranes, and more. To survive, organisms need to find and utilize phosphate from their environment. Through the use of a two-component signal transduction system, *Escherichia coli* and other bacteria adjust to the level of phosphate in their environment and adapt to uptake and utilize phosphate more efficiently when it is limiting. This allows for a more flexible life cycle and ability to grow in many different conditions and environments. The mechanisms for regulating this system have been well studied and the deleterious effects of disruptions in proper regulation show how important this system is to the bacterial cell (2-4). Further understanding of how this system functions may shed light on similar two component systems essential for many different organisms, as well as pathogenesis and disease mechanisms of *E. coli* and other related bacteria (5-9).

The coordinated expression control of a collection of genes called the Pho regulon is by a regulatory mechanism in which PhoB, a response regulator, acts as a transcriptional activator. Control of the Pho regulon is essential for proper growth of *E. coli*. Inorganic phosphate (P(i)) is transported into the cell by a transporter made up of PstS, PstC, PstA, and PstB proteins (PstSCAB). These proteins along with PhoR, PhoB, and PhoU are required for proper signaling of the Pho regulon, where gene expression is induced in low phosphate environments and repressed when environmental phosphate is plentiful (3). Studies have shown that in phosphate starvation of *E. coli*, up to 208 proteins show increase in abundance and 205 proteins show a

decrease (10). This study found at least 31 genes whose expression is directly controlled by the PhoB/PhoR two-component signal transduction system (10). In P(i) limiting conditions, PhoR, a histidine kinase, is phosphorylated and phospho-PhoR activates PhoB by phosphorylating it. Phospho-PhoB then acts as a transcriptional activator by interacting with conserved sequences in Pho regulon promoters, called Pho boxes, to increase transcription from those promoters (11)(Fig. 1.1). The exact mechanism by which PhoR receives a signal of the environmental phosphate level has been unknown. This work will discuss the major components of this system, their functions, describe this system's role in pathogenesis, and discuss recent findings that help to identify a potential mechanism for signaling in this system.

1.1.1 Histidine Kinases

Several studies have attempted to understand the mechanism by which histidine kinases receive and pass on environmental signals. Many of these studies base their understanding of signaling mechanisms on structures of various signaling proteins (12-15). In general, histidine kinases form homodimers and are composed of an N-terminal membrane bound periplasmic sensing domain coupled to a C-terminal cytoplasmic kinase domain. The kinase domains of histidine kinases are highly conserved and are responsible for autophosphorylation where a specific histidine residue of the kinase itself is phosphorylated, priming the protein to donate the phosphoryl group to a conserved aspartate residue on the cognate response regulator protein. Additionally, some histidine kinases also display phosphatase activity enabling them to dephosphorylate the phospho-response regulator and change the activation state of the signaling system. This allows for fine tuning of the signal and quick switching from one state to the other (14).

In the process of autophosphorylation, the histidine kinase's formation of the unique high-energy phosphoramidate N-P bond (a higher energy bond than the phosphoester bond formed by serine, threonine, and tyrosine kinases) allows for rapid phosphotransfer to the response regulator in these signaling pathways (12).

1.1.1.1 Conserved domains

Histidine kinases are often composed of several conserved domains. Each domain has a specific activity that when in combination with the other domains allows for proper activation/deactivation in response to various environmental signals. Different combinations and arrangements of the modular domains allows for multiple different activities specific for each of the signals sensed by a wide variety of histidine kinases.

Often, a signal sensing domain is found at the N-terminal end of the histidine kinase that is located outside the cell (in the periplasm of gram negative bacteria). These domains can detect the signal specific to the kinase by binding directly to signal molecules or through protein/protein interaction with other signal binding proteins. Alternatively, some histidine kinases have minimal periplasmic portions and receive signals through other means (16).

Many histidine kinases contain conserved HAMP domains (named for being associated with <u>h</u>istidine kinases, <u>a</u>denylyl cylases, <u>m</u>ethyl-accepting proteins, and other <u>prokaryotic</u> signaling proteins) that are found directly C-terminal to the transmembrane portion of the protein that are implicated in transferring signals from the periplasm to the cytoplasmic domains of the histidine kinase. HAMP domains contain a four helix coiled-coil structure that shows different packing arrangements based on the rotation of the individual helices. This rotation has been linked to activation states of the kinase domains (13, 17). The proposed mechanism is that

binding of a signal molecule to the C-terminal signal sensing domain of the protein causes a conformational shift that is transferred through the membrane by the HAMP domain helix rotation, passing the signal to the cytoplasmic kinase domains.

1.1.1.1 PAS domains

Other signaling domains often found in histidine kinases include c-GMP-specific and c-GMP stimulated phosphodiesterases (GAF) domains as well as <u>Per-ARNT-Sim</u> (PAS) domains. These domains are often found in the cytoplasmic region of histidine kinases and have been linked to signal sensing activity. They have a central five (PAS) or six (GAF)-stranded antiparallel β -sheet cores surrounded by multiple α -helices. PAS domains are found in >33% of all histidine kinases and GAF domains in about 10% of histidine kinases (13).

PAS domains have been shown to play a role in protein/protein interaction (13). Also, PAS domains can bind small ligands and detect changes in light, oxygen, redox potential, and cellular energy level and these signals lead to a conformational change of the PAS domain that causes perturbation of the structural arrangement of the kinase domains leading to altered activities of the histidine kinase (12). Several studies have identified the structures of PAS domains and their mechanism for transferring signals. The core structure of the PAS domain is highly conserved. When signals are sensed, they generate structural changes within the β sheet that are passed onto the adjacent effector domains. The signals often involve changes to the quaternary structure of the protein complex (18).

In one instance the PAS domain of a histidine kinase, WalK from *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, was found to be important for phosphatase activity and virulence in murine pneumonia (19). Another new study found that a PAS domain binds to a cell wall intermediate to

limit the histidine kinase activation (20). These results illustrate specific examples of the PAS domain being essential for proper kinase/phosphatase switch of a histidine kinase.

1.1.1.1.2 Cytoplasmic kinase domains

The actual switch from kinase to phosphatase activity is mediated by the threedimensional arrangement of the <u>C</u>atalytic and <u>A</u>TP binding (CA, also known as the HATPase_c in the Pfam database) and <u>D</u>imerization and <u>H</u>istidine <u>p</u>hosphotransfer (DHp, also known as the His kinase A domain clan in the Pfam database) domains with the phosphatase activity being found in the DHp domain (12, 17, 21). The CA domain binds to ATP and when in the proper conformation, catalyzes the phosphorylation of the conserved histidine residue of the DHp domain. The DHp domain not only contains the site for phosphorylation, but also is responsible for the dimer formation of the histidine kinase by interacting with the DHp domain of the other histidine kinase of the dimer.

1.1.1.2 Cis or Trans Phosphorylation

Given that histidine kinases function as dimers, one question concerning the mechanism of autophosphorylation has been whether the posphorylation occurs in cis or trans (meaning does the CA domain phosphorylate the conserved His residue of the DHp domain from the same protein or the DHp domain of the other protein in the dimer?). One review addresses this question well (22). Specifically, they mention several histidine kinases that have been shown to catalyze the cis reaction and several others that catalyze the trans. Some evidence points to the loop between the two helices of the DHp domain as determining the type of reaction that a histidine kinase performs. However, they cite an example where two kinases with the same loop

structure undergo different reaction types. The explanation for these results is that there are multiple factors that influence whether a cis or trans reaction occurs for each histidine kinase, the handedness of the loop between the DHp helices and the length of the hinge between the DHp and CA domains both potentially playing roles in determining whether the cis or trans reaction occurs.

1.1.1.3 Phosphatase activity

Many studies have examined the phosphatase activity of histidine kinases (23-25). A review of some of these studies restates that the phosphatase activity is dependent on the DHp domain and that proper three-dimensional conformational arrangement of the CA to DHp domains is essential for phosphatase activity. They also point out that the conserved His residue of the DHp domain does not appear to be essential for phosphatase activity, but may enhance it (25). That finding points to a specific phosphatase reaction for these proteins, not just the reversal of the kinase reaction. Another review confirms the physiological importance of phosphatase activity to prevent cross-talk between different two-component signal transduction systems. They also review a potential mechanism for phosphatase activity similar to known mechanisms of other phosphatase enzymes (24). This same group went on to show that many mutations that affect phosphatase function are likely due to inhibiting proper signal transduction and not necessarily abolishing the activity (23). The molecular mechanism for kinase and phosphatase activity is reviewed in another paper which shows that the switch from kinase to phosphatase activity requires an extra water molecule to be incorporated into the active site. This addition of another molecule to the active site means that the two different activities require unique active site conformations. This prevents the spontaneous dephosphorylation of sites that

were just phosphorylated. The switch between activities of histidine kinases often depends on other domains, like PAS domain (22).

1.1.1.4 Specificity of histidine kinase/response regulator interaction

One potential difficulty of having many two component signal transduction systems (that sense different signals but utilize similar conserved domains for activation) is how to ensure that a specific signal leads to activation of the proper response regulator and not any other response regulators. To prevent phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of response regulators that are not the target for a specific histidine kinase, there is a known interaction surface between the two proteins that allows for specific interaction between histidine kinase and response regulator pairs. This specific protein/protein interface has been identified and shown that if you mutate the residues at the interface you can alter the specificity of which response regulators are activated/deactivated by a histidine kinase (26).

1.1.2 Response Regulators

Histidine kinases act to change the response of the cell to environmental changes by modifying the activity of response regulators via selective phosphorylation/dephosphorylation. There is a modular architecture to the domains of response regulators. The domains consist of a receiver (REC, known as the Response_reg domain in the Pfam database) domain linked to an effector domain (12). Occasionally, proteins contain a REC domain only without an effector domain. These REC domain only proteins may act as phosphorylated intermediates in phospho relays or directly interact with other proteins.

The REC domain of response regulators act to control their cognate effector domain activity through conformational changes based on the REC domain phosphorylation state of a conserved aspartate residue. The phosphotransfer from the histidine kinase depends on catalytic contributions from both proteins, thus the REC acts as an enzyme in addition to its activity on the effector domain. The REC domain also plays a role in catalyzing autodephosphorylation of the response regulator (12).

Effector domains are varied and signal in many different ways. The majority of response regulators identified (63%) contain a DNA binding effector domain, of which the two most common are the OmpR/PhoB winged-helix domain and the NarL/FixJ four-helix helix-turn-helix domain. Additionally, some response regulators have RNA binding domains. Other effector domains include enzymatic domains and protein or ligand interaction domains. With the DNA binding domains, it is difficult to identify all of the DNA targets through bioinformatic methods due to the weak conservation of target sequences. So, experimental methods are more reliable in identifying target genes regulated by a specific response regulator (12).

The mechanism of activating some response regulators is well understood. For OmpR/PhoB response regulators, phosphorylation of the REC domain leads to dimerization coordinated by several salt bridges between highly conserved residues in both proteins. This dimerization brings the DNA binding domains together and allows them to bind to their recognition sites (12).



Figure 1.1 Overview of the major regulatory components of the Pho regulon PhoR is a histidine kinase that receives a signal and catalyzes the autophosphorylation of a conserved histidine residue in an ATP dependent manner. It has a Per-ARNT-Sim (PAS) domain, a dimerization and histidine phosphotransfer (DHp) domain, and a catalytic and ATP binding (CA) domain. PhoB is a response regulator that is activated by phosphorylation on a conserved aspartate (D) residue when it interacts with phospho-PhoR. Once active, PhoB DNA binding domain (DBD) binds DNA that contains the conserved Pho-box sequence to increase transcription from the promoters it binds. The Phosphate specific transporter is made up of PstSCAB proteins and is important in sensing phosphate levels. PhoU is a peripheral membrane protein that acts as negative regulator of the PhoR/PhoB system.

1.1.3 PhoB and PhoR

The control of expression of Pho regulon genes is mediated by a classic two-component signal transduction pair, PhoR and PhoB. There are many examples of two-component signal transduction systems found throughout nature that receive signals and adjust expression of various proteins to respond to changes in the environment. In *E. coli* alone there are at least 62 two component proteins encoded for on the genome (27).

PhoB and PhoR help bacterial cells respond to changes in the environmental phosphate level by regulating the expression of the Pho regulon genes. In low phosphate environments, a signal is sensed and passed through a few proteins, via a phosphorylation cascade that leads to increased gene transcription. PhoR, a histidine kinase, is autophosphorylated in an ATP dependent manner on a conserved histidine residue. In this active state, PhoR phosphorylates the PhoB response regulator on a conserved aspartate. The phosphorylated PhoB then interacts with DNA promoter regions (as a dimer) containing pho boxes and induces transcription. In high phosphate environments PhoR acts as a phosphatase and removes phosphate from PhoB. In this way, the cell can both activate and deactivate expression of this system. Importantly, *phoR* and *phoB* genes are under control of this expression control system. The *phoB* and *phoR* genes form an operon and the *phoB* promoter itself is activated by phospho-PhoB (28). This auto-catalytic loop leads to a control system that has very high levels of expression levels when the system is turned off in high phosphate environments (11).

1.1.3.1 PhoR

PhoR is responsible for the major activation/deactivation of PhoB. The phosphorylation site of PhoR is adjacent to the catalytic region, thus making it a member of the class I family of histidine kinases (29).

It is unclear how PhoR receives a signal that the cell is in a high or low phosphate environment. Many histidine kinases have a periplasmic sensing domain that directly binds signaling molecules to receive an environmental signal. When the signal is sensed, the kinase core is activated to phosphorylate the conserved histidine residue, often as a homodimer(4).

PhoR lacks any significant periplasmic sensing domain and must receive a signal in another manner. PstSCAB and PhoU are important in this signaling but the mechanism is still unknown(3).

Several groups have studied truncations and internal mutations of PhoR to identify what portions of the protein are important for the different functions of PhoR. Initially, one group found that the 158 amino acids on the N-terminus are not essential for kinase function, but do play a role in the phosphatase activity (30). Another group worked to define and characterize any periplasmic portion of PhoR. They found that there is no large domain in the periplasm but that there are two predicted transmembrane helices at the N-terminus (residues 10-60) and propose that the portion of PhoR in the cytoplasm (from residues 52-220), found before the conserved kinase domains, plays a role in regulation by sensing a cytoplasmic signal (31).

Based on studies of EnvZ, another member of the class I family of histidine kinases, the domains of *E. coli* PhoR were identified. Specifically kinase domains identified were: a CA domain from residues 267-431 and a DHp domain from residues 193-267 (32). Additionally, this group identified residues 72-106 as a charged region (CR) consisting of about 35 residues predicted to have a high helical content with six positively charged residues that may aid in stabilizing interaction with the membrane. PhoR also contains a PAS domain from residues 109-196 (33). PAS domains are conserved domains found in all kingdoms of life that play a role as signal sensors and interaction hubs in signal transduction proteins. Often, the PAS domains act to detect physical or chemical signals and stimulate the activity of an output domain for catalysis or DNA binding (18).

Based on an *E. coli* PhoR sequence modeled on the recent structure identified for histidine kinase VicK from *Streptococcus mutans* (34), the amino acid residues that make up each domain appear to be: PAS 109-194, DHp 195-267, and CA 268-431 (Fig 1.2).



Figure 1.2 Modeled structure of *E. coli* PhoR

A dimer of the cytoplasmic portion of PhoR from *E. coli* modeled on VicK from *Streptococcus mutans* using <u>Protein Homology/analogY</u> <u>Recognition Engine V 2.0 (Phyre2) (35)</u>. The PAS domains are in red, the DHp domains are in green, and the CA domains are in blue.

Using precise deletion mutants of PhoR, it was confirmed that the CA and DHp domains are essential for autokinase activity of PhoR and that the phosphorylated DHp domain transfers the phosphate group to PhoB (32). Further, Carmany (2003) showed that the phospho-PhoB phosphatase activity is contained in the DHp domain. However they noted the weak activity and postulated that other domains of PhoR may interact with the DHp domain to trigger phosphatase activity. Studies of a PhoR PAS domain in *Bacillus subtilis* have added to the knowledge of phosphate based regulation of gene expression (18, 20, 36, 37). PhoR in *E. coli* is similar to *B. subtilis* PhoR, except that it lacks the extracellular PAS domain, but both proteins have a cytoplasmic PAS domain. It appears that while these domains are often found in histidine kinases of two component signal transduction systems, the extracellular PAS domain of *B. subtilis* PhoR is not required for proper signaling and kinase activity. The mechanism for PhoR signaling in *B. subtilis* is still unknown.

1.1.3.2 PhoB

PhoB directly interacts with DNA and RNA polymerase to induce expression of Pho regulon genes. PhoB has two domains, an N-terminal receiver domain and a C-terminal DNA binding domain. The unphosphorylated receiver domain of PhoB acts to silence the DNA binding effector domain (38). Studies have shown that PhoB interacts directly with DNA at specific conserved sequences, called the pho box, and the σ^{70} subunit of RNA polymerase (39, 40).

In addition to PhoR, CreC and acetyl phosphate can transfer a phosphate group to PhoB leading to activation, but the physiological effect of this activation is still unclear (41-43). This non-PhoR mediated phosphorylation has led to speculation on the potential for crosstalk between different regulatory systems through kinases and phosphatases that not only act on their specific response regulator, but also on other response regulators (44). This cross activation may play a role in the expression control of many other genes and allowing the cell to respond to a variety of signals using existing signal transduction systems.

1.1.4 PstSCAB PhoU

One of the major operons in *E. coli* whose expression is controlled by PhoB contains the *pstS, pstC, pstA, pstB,* and *phoU* genes. These genes encode for proteins that play key roles in P(i) uptake as well as expression control of the Pho regulon. The PstSCAB proteins form a phosphate specific <u>ATP Binding Cassette (ABC)</u> transporter and PhoU is a negative regulator of Pho regulon expression.

1.1.4.1 ABC transporters

ABC transporters are a family of proteins that developed anciently and are found in all domains of life. There are two main classes, one where products are transported outside of the cell and the other class that imports substrates. ABC transporters play an important role in the pathogenesis of many organisms (45). These transporters use ATP hydrolysis to power transport of substances across the membrane. Many studies have elucidated the mechanism by which ABC transporters function. Specifically, in bacteria an ABC transporter responsible for transporting maltose into the cell has been well characterized (46).

The maltose transporter complex is composed of two transmembrane subunits, MalF and MalG, and two subunits of MalK, the cytoplasmic ATP binding protein. Additionally, maltosebinding protein (MBP) acts as a periplasmic substrate binding protein that binds maltose and presents it to the transporter complex. Several studies have identified the structure of the transporter at different states of the transport process. Specifically, a resting state where no ATP or MBP are bound where the pore has an inward facing conformation, the maltose binding site is exposed to the cytoplasm. When MBP is present but ATP is not, MBP makes contact with the transporter in a closed conformation where the transmembrane subunits are rotated compared to

the resting state. When ATP is added, the ATP binding domains undergo a conformational change that rotates the transmembrane proteins and opens the MBP. This allows the MBP to transfer maltose into the transmembrane pore and be transported into the cell through ATP hydrolysis. In each state the tertiary structure of the subunits remains the same, but the conformation of the complex changes (46).



Figure 1.3 ABC transporter structural arrangements throughout transport In transport, first the periplasmic substrate binding protein binds the substrate (phosphate in the case of PstSCAB). Next, the charged PstS (blue) binds the PstC and PstA (green) pore proteins. When ATP binds the PstB (pink) proteins the conformation of the complex is shifted to allow the substrate to enter the transporter. Hydrolysis of the ATP allows the substrate to complete transport and the transporter to return to its resting state.

Studies have shown that for importers like the maltose transporter, binding of the loaded

periplasmic substrate binding protein is necessary to trigger ATP hydrolysis and that substrate

alone does not trigger the hydrolysis of ATP. It is thought ATP binding, when a loaded periplasmic substrate binding protein is attached to the complex, triggers the conformational change to open the pore to accept the substrate. However, it is the hydrolysis of the ATP that powers the complex to reset so that it is ready for another cycle of transport. It is also interesting that a "scoop loop" from the MalG protein is thought to aid in transferring the tightly bound maltose from MBP to the transporter complex by inserting between two lobes of the maltose binding pocket of MBP to not only release the maltose but inhibit its immediate re-association with MBP (46).

Recently, the structures that this model is based on have been analyzed with an elastic network model to better understand the transition between structure conformations. They found that the nucleotide binding domains close first, which leads to the transmembrane domain conformational change. Then the MBP conformation is altered, allowing translocation of the maltose (47).

Another recent study further characterizes the transport mechanism. They questioned why the resting state of the transporter was inward facing. One hypothesis was that the resting state of the transmembrane proteins is because the naturally lowest energy state of these proteins is to be in this conformation. However, when isolated alone in the membrane, the transmembrane proteins formed an intermediate structure between the inward and outward facing conformations. They found that introduction of nucleotide free MalK into the complex allowed for the inward facing conformation. They also showed that mutant MalK, which bound more tightly to the pore complex, inhibited transport (locking the complex into the inward conformation). However, compensatory mutations, that weaken the protein/protein interaction, allowed for proper transport. They propose that it is through ATP hydrolysis that the transition from inward to

outward occurs and allows for release of maltose into the cytosol (48). Another group has studied how ATP binding can direct dimerization of MalK. They found that the entropic force caused by water drove the conformational change and that ATP hydrolysis then leads to a loss of waterentropy and allows for dissociation of the dimer (49).

Additionally, the transport mechanism for a different ABC transporter has been studied using limited proteolysis. For the MisQMP2 transporter (a positively charged amino acid transporter from *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium) they found that although there are distinct structural differences with the maltose transporter, the conformational changes that occur during transport are similar for both systems (50).

While studying ABC transporters, mechanisms to control the activity of the transporters have been identified. Bacterial cells selectively use a high energy sugar like glucose before maltose when both are available. Enzyme IIA (EIIA) of the glucose specific phosphotransferase system binds to and inhibits a variety of transporters in the presence of glucose. A structure of EIIA interacting with the MalK cytoplasmic portion of the transporter, locking it into the inward facing conformation and preventing ATP hydrolysis and transport through the complex has been characterized (51). There is much more evidence for the common theme that transport proteins are linked to regulation of transcription and metabolism in bacteria (52).

Another interesting finding that may be applicable to the Pho regulon expression control studies is that in a two-component signal transduction systems involved in antibiotic resistance for gram positive bacteria (BceR/BceS), an ABC transporter is the sensor of the regulatory system and passes the signal to the histidine kinase (16). In this example, the ABC transporter is actually an export complex (as opposed to the import function of PstSCAB), but the principle of

a transporter complex acting as the signal sensor for a histidine kinase may still apply to the PhoR/PhoB regulation system and PstSCAB transporter complex.

1.1.4.2 PstSCAB

Since phosphate sources do not readily diffuse through cell membranes, it is essential for all forms of life to have a way to import phosphate into the cell. In *E. coli* there are two main systems for transport of phosphate: phosphate inorganic transport (Pit) systems that have low affinity and, the phosphate specific transport (Pst) system that displays high affinity for phosphate. The Pst system is encoded by genes in the *pstSCAB phoU* operon (53-55). PstSCAB proteins compose an ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter, a common family of transporters that use ATP hydrolysis to power transport of P(i) across the cell membrane. PstS is a periplasmic protein that binds P(i), PstC and PstA form a pore to transport the P(i), and PstB is an ATPase that probably exists as a dimer in this ABC transporter and uses the energy from ATP hydrolysis to transport P(i) into the bacterial cell (11). The transport of P(i) by this complex is very specific. Interestingly, in *Mycobacterium smegmatis* a second ABC transporter (Phn) also appears to transport P(i) directly in addition to the Pst transporter complex (56).

PstSCAB is essential for sensing environmental P(i). It seems that PhoR cannot directly detect P(i) on its own. Proper negative regulation of this signal cascade requires PstSCAB, PhoU, and PhoR. The membrane localization of all these components has led to a theory that they interact at the membrane to form an inhibitory complex when environmental P(i) is abundant (3, 11). The conformational state of the PstSCAB transporter, that signals the abundance of P(i), may be recognized by PhoU and that signal passed along to PhoR to control the phosphate response.

There are other phosphate transporters found in *E. coli*. PitA is a low-affinity P(i) transporter that uses proton motive force to import metal phosphates into the cell and is expressed constitutively. PitB is another low affinity P(i) transporter that is also found in *E. coli* (57, 58). One study found that in a *pstS* mutant bacteria, over expression of *pitA* or *pitB* restored both P(i) transport and allowed for some phosphate signaling of the PhoR/PhoB system, but that this regulation still required the presence of the *pstC*, *pstA*, and *pstB* genes (59). Recent studies imply that the PstSCAB complex acts as the main transporter of P(i) in *E. coli* given: PitA is primarily a transporter of divalent metal cations that are in complex with P(i) and its expression is controlled by the environmental divalent cation concentration; and PitB is poorly expressed under normal growth conditions (3). Another group has found that PitA has a role in copper and arsenic resistance in the archaeal species *Metallosphaera sedula*, further confirming its primary role in metal transport (60).

1.1.4.3 PhoU

PhoU is a member of the *pstSCABphoU* operon and does not have significant homology to proteins with known activity. PhoU has a role in the regulation of the Pho regulon. Studies of PhoU has revealed its role in regulation, proteins that PhoU interacts with, and a potential protein/protein interaction model that implies a mechanism for signaling the switch of PhoR activity.

1.1.4.3.1 Role in Regulation

PhoU was found early on in the study of the phosphate response to play a role in negatively regulating the Pho system. In *E. coli* cells where PhoU is mutated, Pho regulon genes

are constitutively expressed and cells grow poorly. Often cultures accumulate compensatory mutations in the PstSCAB and/or the PhoB and PhoR encoding genes. It seems that constitutive expression of PstSCAB in the absence of PhoU is toxic to the cells. The reason for this is not well known, but it appears that PhoU plays a negative regulatory role in transport by the PstSCAB complex. This may also explain the high frequency of compensatory mutations in *phoU* knockout strains (61-63).

PhoU has been implicated in aiding in the regulation of other systems in addition to the phosphate response. In one study, they identified a link between regulation of the phosphate response and iron response to control virulence genes in *Edwardsiella tarda* (64). PhoU is implicated in bridging the regulation of the phosphate response and a ferric uptake regulator (Fur) that coordinates pathogenesis with low phosphate and iron concentrations as would be found inside of host of this pathogen.

1.1.4.3.2 Structures

Multiple crystal structures have been solved for PhoU proteins from various organisms (65-67). In general, the structures consist of two fairly symmetric, three alpha-helix bundles. Often, metal ions have been found associated with these structures that are coordinated by highly conserved amino acids. It is still not clear whether these ions play a role in PhoU's function or if they are an artifact from the purification and crystallization of the proteins. The work described in Chapter 2 addresses metal binding of PhoU from *E. coli* and finds that metal binding is important for proper function when *phoU* is expressed from a single gene on the chromosome, but the phenotype can be ameliorated by expression *phoU* from a medium copy number plasmid (1).

One of these structure studies suggests that PhoU has folds similar to Bag domains (a class of cofactors of the eukaryotic chaperone Hsp70 family). Given this similarity, they propose that PhoU may associate with the ATPase domain of PhoR and cause it to release PhoB, thus turning off the signaling cascade in a manner similar to Bag domain's association with Hsp70 (65). PhoU/PhoR interaction has since been mapped to be between PhoU and the PAS domain of PhoR in addition to the ATPase domain (1)(Chapter 3 of this work). A recent study of PhoU structure from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* confirmed the same fold and a dimer quaternary structure. However, they did not observe metal binding (67).

1.2 Regulation of the Pho Regulon

In addition to PhoB, recent studies have identified other proteins that interact with PhoR. The work presented in Chapter 2 describes results that show PhoR interacts with both PhoU and PstB (1). Another study found that PhoR interacts with the EIIA protein of the nitrogen-related phosphotransferase system (68). That study shows that EIIA^{Ntr} plays a role in enhancing the activity of PhoR in the phosphate response. These results demonstrate that the regulation of the phosphate response has multiple signal inputs that may help cells adapt specifically to various environments and combinations of nutrients and environmental signals. Better understanding about these different signal inputs and their affect on Pho regulon expression will more fully elucidate the phosphate response and the complex regulation control that is needed for optimal growth in a variety of environments and may be pertinent to other regulatory systems with similar control mechanisms and networks of signal inputs.

1.2.1 Crosstalk

One unique theme in studies of Pho regulon control and in studies of other twocomponent signal transduction systems is the potential for crosstalk between different regulatory systems. PhoR is the major activator of PhoB, but other histidine kinases and acetyl phosphate molecules have been shown to phosphorylate PhoB as well. Some have hypothesized that these interactions allow for multiple signals to play a role in expression of the Pho regulon genes. Acetyl phosphate activity to phosphorylate PhoB may indicate a role of fatty acid availability in the activation of PhoB. CreC is a predicted catabolite repression sensor kinase that has been shown to activate PhoB by phosphorylation (11, 69). This interaction may imply a cross regulation between the Pho regulon and central carbon metabolism (70). Additionally, the interactions of PhoU and PhoR with Fur and EIIA^{Ntr} respectively may point to roles in regulation of other response genes independent of the Pho regulon genes as another mode of crosstalk between bacterial regulatory networks (64, 68).

1.2.2 Stochastic activation

One study of the activation of Pho regulon looked at the activation of this system on a single cell level (44). This study found that the Pho system is often expressed in a stochastic manner in different bacterial cells of the same population. In this manner, the overall response of the population of bacteria can be observed as a degree of activation, but each cell is either fully active or inactive. Some potential causes of this activation profile include activation of PhoB by non-cognate histidine kinases, for example, the CreC and acetyl phosphate molecules that phosphorylate PhoB in the absence of a phospho-PhoR signal. Given that *phoR* background expression is low, this stochastic activation by PhoR independent mechanisms may be necessary

for quick adaptation to environmental changes. This may be a reason why PhoB is sensitive to these non-PhoR signal sources. So that at any given time, there can be a few cells in every population that are primed to induce expression of the Pho regulon, thus making the population more flexible in its response to phosphate level changes. PhoR translation is slow, so there may be some cells in the population that have no PhoR proteins synthesized to initiate the signal (3).

Another study observed the transcript and protein levels of several components during phosphate starvation (70). They followed interactions of various proteins by using FRET analysis. They found that CreC interacts with PhoB faster than the PhoR/PhoB interaction.

1.2.3 Other Pho Regulon Genes

There are 31 genes shown to be under direct control of PhoB mediated transcriptional control and several other genes that are believed to be but direct evidence is still lacking (3). Many of these genes have roles in increasing the cell's efficiency in P(i) uptake and scavenging P(i) from other sources of phosphate. The following section will discuss some of the major genes found in the Pho regulon.

1.2.3.1.1 PhoE

It is essential that phosphate can enter the periplasmic space of gram negative organisms so that is available for transport into the cell across the inner membrane. One member of the Pho regulon that aids in meeting this requirement is *phoE*. PhoE protein forms a porin in the outer membrane. It is considered a nonspecific porin (similar to OmpF and OmpC). However, it does show some selectivity toward anions such as organophosphates and P(i) due to several lysine

residues. The pore is formed by three monomers that each contain a central channel forming a trimer that has tight association with membrane lipid head groups of the outer membrane (11).

1.2.3.1.2 Phosphonate Pathways

Phosphonates, molecules that have a direct carbon phosphorous bond, are found in several organisms and are an environmental source of phosphorous that *E. coli* has developed a method to transport and metabolize. In particular, there are two pathways for utilization of phosphonates under Pho regulon expression control: the Phosphonatase and the C-P lyase pathways. These pathways differ in their mechanisms for breaking down phosphonates, but they both offer a way for the cell to utilize and incorporate phosphate from phosphonate molecules. Each of these pathways contain enzymes and transport mechanisms specific for the type of phosphonates that are broken down (11).

1.2.3.1.3 Bap

Cells can increase the local availability of free P(i) by cleaving phosphate from molecules outside the cell. <u>B</u>acterial <u>a</u>lkaline <u>phosphatase</u> (Bap), a nonspecific phosphomonoesterase is an enzyme encoded by the *phoA* gene that is part of the Pho regulon that can cleave phosphate from other molecules. When P(i) is limiting, Bap synthesis can increase over 1,000-fold due to phopho-PhoB activation. This protein is secreted into the periplasm and is post-translationally modified by cleaving an N-terminal signal peptide and the removal of Arg-22 by an aminopeptidase. The monomers then form disulfide bonds and dimerize to make an active protein (11). Various innate properties of Bap have made is useful for following Pho regulon expression control as well as for use in many other techniques (1, 43, 63, 71-74).
1.2.3.1.4 Ugp

Another source of phosphate available to *E. coli* cells is *sn*-glycerol-3-phosphate (G3P). This organophosphate is transported into the cell with a specific transporter made up of the Ugp proteins and processed by UgpQ, a glycerophosphoryl phosphodiesterase. These proteins are encoded by the *ugpBAECQ* operon which is under Pho regulon expression control (11). The structure of this transporter complex has been identified and the transporter activity characterized to show that transport activity did not appear to be sensitive to phosphate or PhoU (75). Interestingly, there is another G3P transport system in *E. coli*, GlpT. However, the GlpT transporter only transports G3P for use as a carbon source for the bacterial cell. It is independent of the Ugp system and not a part of the Pho regulon (11).

1.3 Pho Regulon and Pathogenesis

There is strong evidence of a link between the Pho regulon and pathogenesis (6, 9, 76). There are many studies that find the pathogenicity of various organisms is affected by Pho regulon members (5-8, 76-79). These studies show that the disruption of the Pho regulon leads to a variety of effects, such as: bacterial resistance to host responses, reduced ability to form plaques, and slower growth rates. All of these functions may be impacted by the Pho regulon and can lead to poor pathogenicity when the Pho regulon expression control is lost.

These results are not unexpected and show that uncontrolled expression of the Pho regulon has a deleterious effect on bacterial cells. This is seen in the phenotype of PhoR/B and PstSCAB PhoU mutants where cell surface modification and response to oxidative stress are linked to Pho Regulon control. Mutations in the PstSCAB complex proteins also affect certain bacterial cells' ability to adhere to host's intestinal cells, weakening their pathogenesis. All of these studies demonstrate that not only is the regulation of the phosphate response important for adapting to changing levels of environmental phosphate, but it is also important in many cell pathways involved in virulence. Continued study of these interactions may lead to new insight about disease as well as hew to prevent and treat these diseases.

1.3.1 PhoU and Pathogenesis

PhoU plays a role in some bacterial cells' ability to successfully colonize a host and cause disease. Specifically, a few studies have looked that the effect that PhoU has in allowing the development of persisters in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and *E. coli* (5, 7). A persister is a pathogen that develops increased resistance to treatment. The mechanisms for persistence are not well understood and are still being studied. PhoU and the Pho regulon may play an important role in these pathways and further study could lead to advances in treatment.

Another study linked PhoU to toluene resistance in *Pseudomonas putida* (79). They found that a transposon insertion into the *phoU* gene of *P. putida* led to susceptibility to toluene, in an otherwise resistant strain. They hypothesize that this is due to an increase in a porin protein that makes the membrane more permeable to toluene than the wild-type cells.

The direct link between PhoU and the ferric uptake regulator (Fur) in *Edwardsiella tarda* is an example where PhoU may directly affect control of the expression of virulence genes that code for a type III and VI secretion systems (64).

The many systems that link Pho regulon expression control mechanisms to pathogenesis present several interesting questions. Is the environmental level of nutrients important for a successful bacterial colonization of a host? Are there other nutrient sensing systems that affect

pathogenesis? Are these phenotypes due solely to a poor growth phenotype caused by unregulated expression of the Pho regulon or is there a direct mechanistic link between the Pho regulon and control of virulence factors? While current data address some of these questions, further study of these issues is essential to fully understand the mechanisms of how pathogenesis is affected by the Pho regulon and expression control.

1.4 Conclusions

The study of the Pho regulon and its control has added understanding to how *E. coli* cells adapt to changes in the environment. Studies of the phosphate response show how complex and intertwined the regulatory mechanisms for adapting to environmental changes are in bacteria. The effects of the Pho regulon and its expression control are seen throughout the cell and lead to changes in cell growth, equilibrium, and pathogenesis. Continued study of this system will no doubt bring further understanding of how these cells grow and adapt to changes. In particular, the mechanism for transferring the signal may be deduced with further study and lead to greater understanding of how this and similar two component signal transduction systems work.

While many parts of this system have been studied and are now well understood, there is still much to learn. How does PhoR receive signals correlated to the phosphate level of the environment? What is PstSCAB and PhoU's role in this signaling? Is there a small molecule that is produced to pass on the signal or is direct protein/protein interaction essential? How do PhoU and other Pho regulon genes cause the effects seen in pathogenesis and could these properties then become targets for therapies?

Knowledge gained about this system may apply to the many other two-component regulatory systems found in other forms of life. This may lead to advances in our understanding

of molecular interactions of signaling proteins, transcriptional control, signal transduction, and many more areas that have potential for application in molecular biology, medicine, ecology, bioremediation, and a multitude of other fields. Chapter 2 The PhoU protein from *Escherichia coli* interacts with PhoR, PstB and metals to form a phosphate-signaling complex at the membrane

2.1 Abstract

Robust growth in many bacteria is dependent upon proper regulation of the adaptive response to phosphate (P_i) limitation. This response enables cells to acquire P_i with high affinity and utilize alternate phosphorous sources. The molecular mechanisms of P_i signal transduction are not completely understood. PhoU along with the high affinity, P_i-specific ATP-binding cassette transporter PstSCAB and the two-component proteins PhoR and PhoB are absolutely required for P_i signaling in *Escherichia coli*. Little is known about the role of PhoU and its function in regulation. We demonstrate using bacterial two-hybrid analysis and confirmatory coelution experiments that PhoU interacts with PhoR through its PAS domain and that it also interacts with PstB, the cytoplasmic component of the transporter. We also show that the soluble form of PhoU is a dimer that binds manganese and magnesium. Alteration of highly conserved residues in PhoU by site-directed mutagenesis shows that these sites play a role in binding metals. Analysis of these *phoU* mutants suggests that metal binding may be important for PhoU membrane interactions. Taken together, these results support the hypothesis that PhoU is involved in the formation of a signaling complex at the cytoplasmic membrane that responds to environmental P_i levels.

2.2 Introduction

Escherichia coli employ seven genes whose products sense environmental phosphate (P_i) and control the expression of the Pho regulon (3, 11). These genes include *phoB*, *phoR*, *pstS*, *pstC*, *pstA*, *pstB* and *phoU*. Together, these genes are necessary and sufficient for P_i -signal transduction. While the identity of these signaling proteins has been known for some time(2, 80, 81), the mechanisms by which they function to transduce the P_i signal have not yet been fully elucidated.

The hub of the signaling pathway consists of the two-component signaling proteins PhoB and PhoR (82). PhoB is a typical winged-helix response regulator that upon aspartyl phosphorylation forms a dimer, which binds to DNA sequences upstream of Pho regulon genes to recruit RNA polymerase and initiate transcription (42, 83-85). PhoR is the bifunctional histidine autokinase/phospho-PhoB phosphatase that donates a phosphoryl group to PhoB when environmental P_i is limiting and removes the phosphoryl group from PhoB~P when environmental P_i is abundant (32, 84). PhoR is an integral membrane protein that does not contain a significant periplasmic domain, but does contain a membrane spanning region (Mem), a cytoplasmic charged region (CR), a Per-ARNT-Sim (PAS) domain (32, 86), with prototypical Dimerization/Histidine phosphorylation (DHp) and Catalytic ATP binding (CA) domains at its C-terminus (29). Since PhoR does not contain a significant periplasmic sensory domain, it is assumed that its PAS domain senses a cytoplasmic signal, but the nature of the signal is not known. Changes in intracellular P_i concentration are not the signal because these levels remain relatively constant in the presence of various extracellular P_i concentrations and different P_isignaling states (87, 88).

It has been suggested that the PhoR/PhoB proteins assess P_i availability by monitoring the activity of the Pst transporter (89). The Pst proteins form a type I ATP-binding cassette (ABC) importer that exhibits high affinity, P_i-specific transport (90-92). PstS is the periplasmic P_i-binding protein, PstC and PstA are integral membrane proteins that form the pore through which P_i passes and PstB is the dimeric, cytoplasmic ATPase. Based upon data from other welldescribed ABC transporters (93), P_i-bound PstS likely stimulates the ATPase activity of PstB to facilitate the significant conformational changes that are involved in P_i transport (91). When external P_i levels are above ~ 4 μ M the transporter exists in a high activity state that stabilizes the phospho-PhoB phosphatase state of PhoR (2). The low activity state transporter signals for the high autokinase activity of PhoR that leads to elevated levels of phospho-PhoB.

In addition to the four transporter proteins, PhoU is also required for P_i-signal transduction, but not for transport through the PstSCAB complex (62). When *phoU* is mutated or deleted, PhoR is a constitutive PhoB kinase leading to high expression of the Pho regulon genes. This is accompanied by poor growth and frequently leads to the accumulation of compensatory mutations in *phoR*, *phoB*, or the *pstSCAB* genes. It has been reported that PhoU is a peripheral membrane protein that is a negative regulator of the signaling pathway and that it modulates P_i transport through the PstSCAB proteins (62, 63, 94). Multiple crystal structures have been reported for PhoU proteins in various organisms (65, 66, 95). Each of the structures shows that PhoU consists of two fairly symmetric, three alpha-helix bundles (See Fig. 2.1). These structures show several different quaternary structures: monomer, dimer, trimer, and even hexamer. Metal ions are found associated with two of these structures and are coordinated by highly conserved amino acid residues that are found in each three-helix bundle (66, 95). One metal group is bound

by residues that correspond to *E. coli* PhoU D58, N62, E100 and D104 and another bound by D161, D165, E200, and D204 (66) (Fig. 2.1).



Figure 2.1 Modeled structural fold of E. coli PhoU

The structure of the PhoU protein from *Escherichia coli* was modeled based upon known structures from the Protein Data Bank using the Phyre2 server. The protein is colored blue to red going from the amino terminus to the carboxyl terminus. The six helices are labeled from to α 1 to α 6. The side chains of several highly conserved amino acids are shown. In particular, D58, N62, E100, and D104 form a putative metal binding site between helix 2 and 3 and D161, D165, E200, and D204 form another metal binding site between helix 5 and 6. Also shown is the F194 residue used in the fluorescence assays.

It is not known how PhoU functions in the signaling pathway. However, two general classes of models have been suggested; PhoU may mediate the formation of a signaling complex between the PstSCAB transporter and PhoR (11, 65) or it may produce a soluble messenger that is recognized by the cytoplasmic domains of PhoR (consistent with observations reported by Hoffer and Tommassen (59) and by Rao and Torriani (96)). No experimental evidence has yet been presented supporting physical interactions between signaling proteins.

We employed bacterial adenylate cyclase two-hybrid (BACTH) analysis as well as coelution experiments to show that PhoU interacts with both PhoR and PstB. Our results show that the PhoU/PhoR interaction involves the PAS domain of PhoR. This is consistent with the presence of a P_i-signaling complex consisting of the PstSCAB transporter, PhoU, and PhoR. We also show that *E. coli* that soluble PhoU is a dimer that binds manganese and magnesium at conserved sites and that metal binding may be important for localizing PhoU to the membrane.

2.3 Materials and methods

2.3.1 Bacterial stains, growth media, and growth conditions.

The bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study are shown in Table 2.1. P1*clr* transductions were carried out as previously described (97). Strains were grown in LB medium (98) at 37°C or in MOPS defined media containing either 0.06% glucose and 2.0 mM P_i (MOPS HiP_i) or 0.4 % glucose and 0.1 mM Pi (MOPS LoP_i) (99). When indicated, kanamycin, ampicillin or chloramphenicol were used at 50 μ g/ml, 50 μ g/ml, and 40 μ g/ml respectively. BACTH strains were grown on MOPS LoP_i plates with 0.2% maltose as a carbon source with ampicillin (50 μ g/ml), kanamycin (30 μ g/ml), isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) at

0.5 mM, and 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-β-D-galactopyranoside (X-Gal) at 40 µg/ml. The Histagged versions of PhoR, PhoU, and PstB, and the other site-directed mutants were created using the QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis kit from Agilent Technologies and verified by DNA sequence analysis (see Table S1 for primer sequences).

F coli strains	Description	Source
BW25113	wild-type strain	(100)
CSH126	recA Tn10 tet ^R	(97)
BM261	P_{ref} : $P_{\text{ref}} \wedge nit A$: frt $\Lambda nit B$: frt nRR48	(63)
BM263	P_{pst} : $P_{\text{tag}} \wedge nit A$: frt $\wedge nit B$: frt $\wedge nho U$ nRR48	(63)
BM265	BM263 <i>nstB</i> :::pBU3 <i>recA</i> 1 encodes wild-type <i>nhoU</i>	this study
BM266	BM263 <i>pstB</i> ::pBO3 <i>recA</i> 1 encodes <i>phoU</i> Ouad	this study
BTH101	F^{-} cva-99, araD139, galE15, galK16, rnsL1 (Str ^R).	EuroMedex
	hsdR2. mcrA1. mcrB1	
BW26337	BW25113 $\Delta pstSCAB-phoU$::frt	(100)
BW26390	BW25113 $\Delta pstB$::frt	Yale CGSC
JW0390-2	BW25113 $\Lambda phoR$::kan	Yale CGSC
ANCH1	$\Delta phoBR::kan$	(101)
SG1	BW26337, Δ <i>phoBR::kan</i> from ANCH1 by P1 <i>clr</i> transduction	this study
Plasmids		
pIB307	nMAK705 based vector with a temperature sensitive replicon	(102)
pH507	nACVC184 based replicon cam ^R nahR	(102)
pK0110	pAC = C = 104-based replicon cum nunk cam^{R} $nhoU$ expression plasmid salievlate inducible	(103)
p116U2His	n116U2 with a C terminal 6X. His tag	(05)
n116U2D58A	n116U2 with D58A mutation	this study
p116U2E100A	n116U2 with E100A mutation	this study
p116U2R101A	n116U2 with R101A mutation	this study
p116U2E200A	n116U2 with F200A mutation	this study
n116U2R201A	n116U2 with R201A mutation	this study
p116U2D204A	p116U2 with D204A mutation	this study
n116U2D58A N62A	n116U2 with D58A and N62A mutations	this study
n116U2E100A R101A	n116U2 with F100A and R101A mutations	this study
n116U2E200A R201A	n116U2 with F200A and R201A mutations	this study
n116U2Ouad	n116U2 with E100A R101A E200A and R201A mutations	this study
nBU3	cam^{R} temperature-sensitive encodes $nhoU$	this study
nBO3	cam^{R} temperature sensitive encodes <i>photo</i>	this study
nRR48	nBR 322-based renlicon Amn ^r <i>lacl</i> ^q	(104)
n48nhoR	nRR48 hased <i>phoR</i> expression plasmid lactose inducible	this study
n48nhoRNHis	n48nhoR with an amino terminal 6X-His tag	this study
n48nstB	pRR48 with <i>nstB</i> cloned into the NdeI and KpnI sites lactose inducible	this study
n48nstB-His	n48nstB with a carboxyl-terminal 6X-His tag	ths study
pKT25	kanR. BACTH plasmid for T25 fragment of AC	EuroMedex
pUT18C	ampR. BACTH plasmid for T18 fragment of AC	EuroMedex
pUT18zip	ampR, BACTH plasmid for T18 fragment fused to leucine zipper	EuroMedex
pKT25zip	kanR. BACTH plasmid for T25 fragment fused to leucine zipper	EuroMedex
pKT25phoU	kanR. BACTH plasmid for <i>phoU</i> -T25 fusion	this study
pKT25guad	kanR. BACTH plasmid for <i>phoUOuad</i> -T25 fusion	this study
pKT25pstB	kanR. BACTH plasmid for <i>pstB</i> -T25 fusion	this study
pUT18phoU	ampR. BACTH plasmid for <i>phoU</i> -T18 fusion	this study
pUT18Couad	ampR. BACTH plasmid for <i>phoUOuad</i> -T18 fusion	this study
pUT18CD85A	ampR, BACTH plasmid for <i>phoUD</i> 85A-T18 fusion	this study
pUT18CE100A	ampR, BACTH plasmid for phoUE100A-T18 fusion	this study
pUT18CA147E	ampR, BACTH plasmid for phoUA147E-T18 fusion	this study
pUT18CE200A	ampR, BACTH plasmid for <i>phoUE200A</i> -T18 fusion	this study
pUT18CE200A, R201A	ampR, BACTH plasmid for phoUE200A, R201A-T18 fusion	this study
pUT18CphoRN-C	ampR, BACTH plasmid for phoR-T18 fusion	this study
pUT18CRN-DHp	ampR, BACTH plasmid for N-DHp portion of PhoR-T18 fusion	this study
pUT18CRN-PAS	ampR, BACTH plasmid for N-PAS portion of PhoR-T18 fusion	this study
pUT18CRN-CR	ampR, BACTH plasmid for N-CR portion of PhoR-T18 fusion	this study
pUT18CRPAS	ampR, BACTH plasmid for PhoR PAS-T18 fusion	this study
pUT18CRCR-C	ampR, BACTH plasmid for CR-C portion of PhoR-T18 fusion	this study
pUT18CRPAS-C	ampR, BACTH plasmid for PAS-C portion of PhoR-T18 fusion	this study
pUT18CRDHp-C	ampR. BACTH plasmid for DHp-C portion of PhoR-T18 fusion	this study

Table.2.1 Strains and plasmids

2.3.1.1 E. coli PhoU structure prediction

The three-dimensional structure of the PhoU protein from *E. coli* was predicted by using the Phyre2 web site (http://www.sbg.bio.ic.ac.uk/phyre2) (35). The PhoU sequence was submitted as a query and was analyzed in intensive mode. The server indicated that 216 residues were modeled at >90% accuracy. The predicted structures were displayed using MacPyMol (Schrödinger, LLC).

2.3.1.2 Bacterial adenylate cyclase two-hybrid analysis

Two-hybrid screens were carried out using the plasmids pKT25 and pUT18C from the BACTH kit and grown in the BTH101 indicator strain (EuroMedex). Control plasmids, coding for T18 and T25 fragments that were fused to a leucine zipper (GCN4), were also provided by the BACTH System Kit. Plasmid constructs encoding *phoR*, *phoR* truncations, *pstB*, and *phoU* fusions to the T18 or T25 fragments were generated by cloning PCR fragments that incorporated *Xba*I and *Kpn*I restriction sites by using the primers listed in Table S1. About 1 µl of overnight cultures were spotted on MOPS Maltose, ampicillin, kanamycin, IPTG, X-Gal plates and grown at 30°C until color developed.

2.3.2 β -galactosidase activity assays.

 β -galactosidase has long been utilized as an easily assayable enzyme to measure gene expression and in the BACTH system gene expression is linked to protein-protein interactions (97). Assays of β -galactosidase activity were based on methods published previously (105). Specifically, quadruplicate cultures in LB with ampicillin, kanamycin, and IPTG were grown at 30°C with shaking overnight. Then 50 µl of overnight culture were added to 150 µl LB in a 96

well flat bottom plate (Greiner Bio-One) and the OD_{600} values were read. In addition, in a 1.7 ml centrifuge tube, 200 µl of overnight culture were added to 800 µl of Z buffer (16 g Na₂HPO₄*12H₂O, 6.25 g NaH₂PO₄*H₂O, 0.75 g KCl, 0.246 g MgSO₄*7H₂O, and 2.7 ml of β-mercaptoethanol added to 1 liter of water and pH adjusted to 7.0 (105)). 1 drop of 0.1% SDS and 2 drops of chloroform were added to the cells and samples were vortexed vigorously for 15 sec. The tubes were spun for 1 min. at 16,000 X g in a benchtop centrifuge to pellet cell debris and chloroform. 200 µl of the cell lysates were then loaded into wells of a 96 well flat bottom plate. 40 µl of 0.4% ONPG (*o*-nitrophenyl-β-d-galactopyranoside) in Z buffer were added to each sample and the OD₄₂₀ values were read once a minute for 30 min in a plate reader that was maintained at 28°C (BioTek Synergy HT). Various studies have reported different units of activity for β-galactosidase activity assays in 96 well plates (106, 107). Units of activity were calculated as follows: Units = (1000*Slope of a line fit to OD₄₂₀ in mOD/min) / (4*OD₆₀₀ of 1:4 diluted overnight sample), based on previously described tests for the BACTH system (105).

2.3.3 PstB/PhoU co-elution experiments

Cell cultures were grown overnight in 250 ml MOPS LoP_i medium (except the mixed culture which combined the $\Delta pstB$ strain containing pRR48 in 125 ml MOPS HiP_i with the $\Delta pstB$ strain containing p48pstB-His in 125 ml MOPS LoP_i). Samples were collected by centrifugation at 5,000 X g and stored at -20°C. Cell pellets were thawed on ice and resuspended in 5 ml PstB lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.2, 300 mM NaCl, 20 mM Imidazole) with Protease Inhibitor Cocktail for use in purification of Histidine-tagged proteins (Sigma). Cells were lysed by one passage at 4000 psi and three additional passages at 18,000 psi using a Microfluidics LV1 cell disruptor. The crude lysate was then cleared by centrifugation in a

Sorval SLA-600 TC rotor at 10,000 X g at 4°C for 10 min. An aliquot of the cleared, crude lysate (0.5 ml) was collected and stored at -20°C for later analysis. The remaining cleared crude lysate was loaded onto a fresh 1 ml HisTrap FF nickel column (GE Healthcare). The HisTrap column was then loaded onto a GE Healthcare AKTA Prime Plus liquid chromatography system. The column was washed with 20 ml of PstB lysis buffer followed by elution with 5 ml of PstB elution buffer (Tris-HCl pH 7.2, 300 mM NaCl, 250 mM Imidazole). Wash and elution samples were collected in 1 ml fractions and stored at -20°C before analysis.

2.3.4 PhoR/PhoU co-elution experiments

SG1 cells (a $\Delta phoBphoR$, $\Delta pstSCABphoU$ strain) were transformed with p48phoRNHis or pRR48 (as a negative control) and p116U2 (Table 2.1). 50 ml cultures were grown overnight in LB with ampicillin, kanamycin, and 100 µM IPTG. These cells were collected by centrifugation, resuspended in 5 ml PhoU Lysis Buffer (50 mM Tris, 0.5 M NaCl, 2 mM Imidazole, 14 mM β-Mercaptoethanol, pH 7.2) and 25 µl of Protease Inhibitor Cocktail for use in purification of Histidine-tagged proteins (Sigma). Then cells were lysed by 1 passage at 5,000 psi and 3 passages at 18,000 psi through a Microfluidics LV1 microfluidizer. Lysates were cleared by centrifugation and a lysate sample was taken.

Cleared lysates were mixed with 1 ml of Ni-NTA Agarose slurry (Qiagen) and shaken for 1 hour on ice. Samples were then loaded onto a 1 ml disposable polypropylene column (Qiagen); flow through was collected and reapplied to the column. 10 ml of PhoU Lysis buffer was applied for the first wash, followed by 6 ml PhoU Wash buffer (same as PhoU Lysis buffer, but with 35 mM Imidazole) for the second wash. Finally, 2 ml of PhoU Elution buffer (PhoU Lysis buffer with 0.5 M Imidazole) was applied to elute off the bound proteins. We added equal volumes of Laemmli Sample buffer (Bio-Rad) to each sample, boiled for 5 min., and 5 µl of each was used for Western blot analysis (the lysate sample was diluted 1:20 to run on the gel).

2.3.5 Alkaline phosphatase (AP) and Western immunoblot assays.

The AP assays were carried out as described previously (108). The immunoblot assays were performed as described (109, 110) using a polyclonal rabbit a-PhoU antibody and a mouse a-Penta-His antibody (Qiagen). Immunoblots were visualized using the WesternBreeze chemiluminescent Western blot immunodetection kit (Invitrogen).

2.3.6 PhoU purification and gel filtration.

The DH5a *E. coli* strain harboring p116U2His was grown overnight in LB medium containing 40 μ g/ml chloramphenicol and 100 μ M sodium salicylate. Cells were harvested by centrifugation and resuspended in lysis buffer (20 mM NaPO₄, 0.5 M NaCl, 20 mM imidazole, 0.5 mM DTT, 10% glycerol, and 0.1 mM PMSF, pH 7.4) after which they were lysed by1 passage at 5,000 psi and 3 passages at 18,000 psi through a Microfluidics LV1 microfluidizer. The crude lysate was centrifuged at 12,000 X g for 15 min and the supernatant fraction was used for purification on an AKTA Prime-plus chromatography system (GE Healthcare) using a 1 ml HisTrap column as directed by the manufacturer.

Specifically, we washed with 20 ml of a mixture of 80% lysis buffer and 10% elution buffer (20 mM NaPO₄, 0.5 M NaCl, 0.5 M imidazole, 0.5 mM DTT, 10% glycerol). Then we eluted with 100% elution buffer collecting 1 ml fractions. All steps were carried out at 1 ml/min flow rate. It should be noted that the PhoU-His protein remained soluble only at concentrations below ~ 0.7 mg/ml, whereas mutant derivatives fell out of solution at concentrations above ~ 0.1 mg/ml. Gel filtration chromatography was also performed on this system using a HiPrep 16/60 Sephacryl S-200 HR column (GE Healthcare and a 0.5 ml sample loop run at 0.7 ml/min at 4°C. Standards of 450, 158, 45, 25, 12.5 kDa were run under the same conditions to create a calibration curve used to predict the size of soluble PhoU.

2.3.7 Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS)

Samples of purified PhoU-His were collected from the HisTrap column in 1ml fractions. For a buffer only control, the same purification protocol was followed using these same buffers without loading any cell lysate onto the HisTrap column. PhoU-His and the corresponding buffer only 1ml fractions were collected during elution and then diluted to 12 ml of 5% nitric acid. These samples were incubated for 3 hours at 55°C, centrifuged 10 min at 2250 X g, filtered through a 0.2 µm Nalgene syringe filter (Thermo Scientific) and analyzed for metal content with ICP-MS on Elan6000 using the TotalQuant method. We scanned over the whole range using distilled deionized water as the blank and an optimization solution containing 10 ppb of various metals as the standard. Five replicates were performed of each and the metal content of the PhoU-His fraction was compared to the buffer only control.

2.3.8 Fluorescence assays for metal binding.

To confirm metal binding, we used PhoU-His F194W protein purified by metal affinity chromatography, dialyzed extensively in dialysis buffer (20 mM Sodium phosphate, 0.5 M NaCl, 0.1 mM DTT, 10% glycerol, pH7.4), and assayed in a FlouroMax-3 spectrofluorometer with excitation at 280 nm (the excitation wavelength for Tryptophan), at 21°C in a temperature-controlled continuously stirred chamber, and scanned for fluorescence from 300-400 nm.

For manganese interactions, we assayed purified protein (70 μ g F194W PhoU and 26.4 μ g E100A, R201A, F194W, E200A, R201A PhoU (QuadW)) in dialysis buffer. To the protein samples, we added 10 mM MnCl₂ stepwise to get 5 μ M, 25 μ M, 75 μ M, and 150 μ M final concentrations of manganese and scanned the sample for fluorescence. These scans were performed in triplicate. We averaged the fluorescence values for the 345-355 nm wavelengths, subtracted the corresponding buffer plus MnCl₂ control values, corrected for dilution, and then fit curves to the data to determine the K_d, and derived the peak fluorescence of each scan. For MgCl₂, we followed the same protocol as for MnCl₂ but added stocks of MgCl₂ stepwise to get 25 μ M, 75 μ M, 150 μ M, 250 μ M, 500 μ M, 1.5 mM, and 2.75 mM final concentrations.

2.3.9 Integrated strain construction.

Temperature-sensitive plasmids encoding a 300-bp fragment of *pstB* upstream of *phoU* were constructed in order to introduce *phoU* (or its mutant derivative) back into the chromosome at its native location. To create the plasmid insert, the 3' end of the *pstB* gene extending 67 bp into the *phoU* gene was first amplified from chromosomal DNA obtained from BW25113 using primers PstBfor and PstBrev (See Table S1 for primer sequences). The *phoU* gene was then amplified from p116U2 or p116U2Quad using the PhoUfor and PhoUrev primers. These two PCR fragments were purified, diluted 1:50, combined and amplified again using the PstBfor and PhoUrev primers to generate a PCR fragment encoding the 3' end of the *pstB* gene upstream of *phoU*, exactly how it is found in the chromosome. This PCR product was subsequently digested with XbaI and HindIII (sites that were engineered into the primers) and ligated into the temperature-sensitive plasmid pIB307, which had been similarly digested. The resulting

plasmids were called pBU3 and pBQ3, and encoded *phoU* and *phoU* E100A R101A E200A R201A (*phoU*Quad), respectively.

The plasmids were then transformed into BM263, which contains a chromosomal deletion of *phoU* and subsequently grown at 30°C. To select for cells in which the whole plasmid integrated into the chromosome via RecA-mediated recombination into the *pstB* region, several colonies from each transformation were streaked onto fresh LB chloramphenicol plates and incubated at 42°C. To prevent excision of the integrated plasmid, isolated colonies were grown in LB medium at 37°C and then transduced with P1 phage carrying a marked *recA* allele from *E. coli* strain CSH126. The resulting strain with an integrated *phoU* gene was called BM265 and the strain with the integrated quadruple mutant was called BM266. Strains were confirmed by PCR analysis.

2.3.10 Cell fractionation

Membranes were prepared from the indicated strains by harvesting cells from 300 ml of liquid cultures grown to stationary phase in LB. Cells were harvested by centrifugation and resuspended in 14 ml of cold Buffer A (PBS, 1 mM DTT, 0.1 mM PMSF, pH 7.2). The cells were then lysed by three to four passages through a Microfluidics M-110L microfluidizer at 4°C. The crude lysates were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 13,000 X g to remove unbroken cells and aggregated proteins and 5 ml of the supernatant fractions were then subjected to ultracentrifugation at 100,000 X g for 1 hour at 4°C in a L100XP Beckman Coulter ultracentrifuge using a Type 90 Ti rotor. The soluble fractions were saved and the pelleted fractions were resuspended in 5 ml of 0.1% SDS. 50 μ l of each fraction were mixed with 50 μ l Laemmli Sample Buffer (Bio-Rad) prepared with β -mercaptoethanol and boiled for 10 min.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Bacterial two-hybrid analysis shows interactions between P_i-signaling proteins

Since preliminary experiments in our laboratory to isolate a stable signaling complex from membranes using affinity chromatography with non-ionic detergents were unsuccessful, we employed alternate approaches to address this important question. If a signaling complex exists, then we should be able to detect physical interactions between multiple proteins. Since PhoU, PstB and PhoR are predicted to be found on the cytoplasmic surface of the cytoplasmic membrane, we probed for interactions between these three proteins. We first conducted bacterial two-hybrid experiments using the BACTH system. When the T18 and T25 domains of adenylate cyclase from *Bordetella pertussis* are in close proximity, they create an active enzyme that catalyzes the production of cAMP. By attaching different proteins to the T18 and T25 fragments, cAMP production is a measure of whether the fused proteins interact. Since cAMP binds to the CRP protein, a functional adenylate cyclase can be measured indirectly by assaying the expression of certain catabolic gene products, such as β -galactosidase. We prepared plasmids that express T18-PhoU, T25-PhoR and T25-PstB and introduced various combinations into an E. *coli* strain that was deleted for adenvlate cyclase (BTH101). The strains were plated onto MOPS-maltose plates containing X-gal to provide a qualitative measure of β -galactosidase activity. For a more quantitative evaluation of protein interactions, we performed β galactosidase assays in 96-well plates. We found that PhoU interacts with both PhoR and PstB, with the interaction between PhoU and PhoR being stronger than the PhoU/PstB interaction (Fig. 2.2A). We did not observe interactions between the T18-PhoU construct and the T25 domain

alone or the T25 domain fused to a leucine zipper domain. Interactions were also detected between T25-PhoU and T18-PhoR and T18-PstB (data not shown).

A pUT18C	Zip	PhoU	PhoU	PhoU	PhoU		1	
pKT25	Zip	PhoR	PstB	Zip	Empty	* = Pv	* = P value <0.01	
β-Gal Units	2712	1071	690	90.7	66.7	for a		
SD	1201	147	285	10.6	34.6	unpai	red t test	
48 hrs	0			*	*	comp PhoU	aired to /PhoR	
	Men	n <u>CR</u>	PAS	E	ЭНр	CA		
5 Phor	N						C	
Domains	10	60 72 10	6 109	193	267		451	
pUT18C	PhoU	PhoU	PhoU	PhoU	PhoU	PhoU	PhoU	
pKT25	N-DHp	N-PAS	N-CR	CR-C	PAS-C	DHP-C	PAS	
β-Gal Units	1296	1432	134	3051	2583	72.9	153	
SD	360	514	5.4	285	661	34.6	48.5	
5.577		-	*			*	*	
48 hrs	0							
72 hrs	0					ι.	0	
DUT18C	E100A	E200A	ER200,20	1AA Qu	ad			
pKT25	PhoR	PhoR	PhoR	Ph	oR			
β-Gal Units	2072	1956	3607	344	41			
2 hourses	400	422	296	598	8			

Figure 2.2 PhoU interacts with PhoR and PstB.

A BACTH system was used to identify PhoU interactions.Cultures were spotted onto MOPS-HiP_imaltose plates containing X-Gal and incubated at 30°C for the indicated time. All samples shown were from the same plate. The average β -galactosidase activities (β -Gal Units) are reported with the standard deviation (SD)(n = 4). A. We used leucine zippers (Zip) fused to the adenylate cyclase domains as a positive control. We observed interaction between PhoU and both PhoR and PstB. As negative controls, we combined PhoU with the Zip plasmid as well as a plasmid that did not have any protein fused to the T25 domain. B. We engineered several PhoR truncations to identify where the interaction occurs. We see that any construct without the PAS domain has significantly less interaction than the full length PhoR (two-tailed t test gave P values of < 0.01). The PAS domain alone shows weak interactions with PhoU (as seen with color development after 72 hrs as well as significantly higher β -galactosidase units than either of the negative controls (two-tailed t test gave P values of < 0.05). C. We tested various PhoU mutant proteins and found that none of the mutations prevented the PhoU/PhoR interaction. Several nested deletions of *phoR* were constructed to identify the region(s) of the protein that interacts with PhoU (see Fig 2.2B). The deletions were named PhoRN-'domain' to indicate a protein that extends from the amino terminus of PhoR through a particular domain. Constructs were called PhoR'domain'-C when deletions removed residues from the amino terminus of PhoR. The PhoRN-DHp and PhoRN-PAS constructs showed that the CA and DHp domains are not required for the PhoU interaction. Importantly, when the PAS domain was removed (PhoRN-CR), the interaction was lost. When PhoR was truncated from the amino terminus, we found that neither the membrane-spanning region nor the CR were required for interaction (PhoRCR-C and PhoRPAS-C), but loss of the PAS domain again disrupted the interaction (PhoRDHp-C). The PAS domain alone showed a weak interaction with PhoU. PhoU fused with T25 and PhoR truncations with T18 gave similar results (data not shown).

2.4.2 PstB and PhoR co-elute with PhoU during affinity chromatography

As a complementary method we employed protein co-elution experiments using Histagged versions of either PstB or PhoR. The *pstB* gene was cloned into the pRR48 plasmid in such a manner that it expressed versions of PstB with and without a C-terminal 6XHis tag and both constructs were tested for P_i-signaling. Functional P_i-signaling is most readily apparent when cells are grown under P_i-replete conditions because cells produce very low amounts of alkaline phosphatase (AP). In contrast, elevated AP levels are observed when signaling is defective, such as when mutations occur in any of the *pstSCAB* genes, *phoU*, or even *phoR*. Wild-type cells also display high AP levels when cells are grown in low P_i media.

Under high P_i growth conditions, $\Delta pstB$ strains expressing either *pstB* or *pstB*-His exhibited very low AP levels, similar to the wild-type control strain, indicating that a functional

signaling pathway was reconstituted for both of these strains (see Fig. 2.3A). The empty vector control showed elevated AP levels, as expected for a strain that is deficient in P_i-signaling. However, in low P_i conditions, while the reconstituted BW26390 p48*pstB* strain demonstrated an expected increase in AP activity, the strain carrying the p48*pstB*-His plasmid still exhibited very low AP levels. This indicates that the *pstB*-His construct constitutively signals a high-P_i environment regardless of the P_i levels in the growth medium.





A. Genetic complementation of a $\Delta pstB$ mutation with p48*pstB* and p48*pstB*-His. The $\Delta pstB E$. *coli* strain BW26390 was transformed with the indicated plasmids and AP assays were performed. Cells were grown in MOPS HiP_i or MOPS LoP_i media, where indicated. B. Binding of PhoU to PstB-His. Cells were lysed and the soluble extracts were subjected to nickel affinity purification by passage over a HisTrap column. Identical samples from the lysate and elution fraction were separated by SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membranes and analyzed by immunodetection. The mixed lysate sample contained extracts from a strain expressing high levels of PstS, PstC, PstA, and PhoU with a sample expressing high levels of PstB-His. The use of the mixed lysate was necessary because the expression of PstB-His decreased the expression of the Pho regulon in the $\Delta pstB$ genetic background. C. Plasmids expressing PhoR-His (PhoR with an amino terminal 6X His tag) and PhoU were both transformed into a $\Delta phoBR \Delta pstSCAB-phoU$ strain (SG1). Nickel affinity chromatography was used to retain the PhoR-His on the affinity column. Cell lysate and elusion fractions were analyzed by Western blotting to see that PhoU co-elutes with PhoR-His.

We were well aware of the possibility that potential interactions between PstB and PhoU could be transient and difficult to detect due to the large conformational changes that occur in the PstSCAB protein as a consequence of P_i transport. We also recognized that the PstB-His construct may have the fortuitous effect of trapping a complex between PstB and PhoU because it is locked into a "high-P_i" signaling conformation making the PstB/PhoU interaction easier to detect.

Once the signaling characteristics of the p48*pstB* and p48*pstB*-His plasmids were determined, we tested whether protein-protein interactions between PstB and PhoU occurred. This was performed by retaining PstB-His on a HisTrap nickel column along with any interacting proteins and then performing an immunoblot on the subsequent lysate and elution fractions assaying for the presence of PhoU with the eluted PstB-His.

Since we desired elevated levels of expression of the Pst transporter and the strains expressing PstB-His were repressed for the Pho regulon, we chose to mix extracts from two $\Delta pstB$ strains to detect protein-protein interactions. The first strain harbored the pRR48 plasmid and highly expressed the *pstSCA-phoU* operon (including *phoU*), but was missing PstB. The second $\Delta pstB$ strain harbored the p48*pstB*-His plasmid and expressed elevated levels of PstB-His, but did not produce much of the other Pst proteins or PhoU. Cells were grown in MOPS HiP_i media, pelleted, and then mixed together before cell disruption. The cleared, lysed sample was incubated for several minutes on ice, subjected to affinity chromatography and then processed for Western immunoblotting with anti-His antibody to detect the PstB-His protein and anti-PhoU antibody to detect PhoU. As shown in Fig. 2.3B, the mixed sample showed bands for PstB-His and PhoU in the lysate and elution fractions. These results demonstrate that PstB-His retained PhoU on the column through the washing procedure. As a control experiment, a $\Delta pstB$

strain harboring the empty vector pRR48 was grown in MOPS LoP_i medium and subjected to the same protocol. As shown in Fig. 2.3A, this strain constitutively expresses high levels of AP, and as expected, also produced elevated amounts of PhoU (Fig. 2.3B, central panel). No PstB-His was observed in any fraction, but a strong PhoU band was observed only in the crude fraction, indicating that PhoU does not bind to the HisTrap nickel column in the absence of PstB-His. When a $\Delta pstSCAB$ -phoU strain containing p48*pstB*-His was analyzed it showed low level expression of PstB-His in the crude fraction but accumulation in the elution fraction. This strain also showed the absence of PhoU in every fraction, indicating that the antibody was specific for PhoU.

We confirmed the PhoU/PhoR interaction with co-elution experiments. We constructed a plasmid that expressed PhoR with an amino-terminal 6XHis tag (p48PhoRNHis) and confirmed its signaling activity by introducing it into the $\Delta phoR$ deletion strain JW0390-2 (111) and performing AP assays (data no shown). Because of difficulties with protein expression levels in this genetic background, we assayed interactions between PhoR and PhoU in SG1, a strain in which genes for all seven of the P_i-signaling proteins were deleted. Either pRR48 or p48PhoRNHis were introduced into the SG1 strain containing p116U2. The new strains were grown in LB medium, pelleted, lysed, and subjected to affinity chromatography. The crude and elution fractions were then probed by Western blot analysis for both PhoR and PhoU. Fig. 2.3C shows that PhoU was observed in the lysate fractions of both strains, but was only found in the elution fraction when PhoR-His was also present. The anti-His antibodies showed that PhoR-His was only produced when SG1 harbored p48PhoRNHis.

The results presented above show that PhoU interacts with both PhoR and PstB and are consistent with the presence of a P_i-signaling complex. To further understand the role of PhoU

in P_i-signaling we have sought to characterize its native structure in *E. coli*, to explore the functions of the most highly conserved residues in the PhoU family by mutational analysis, and to determine whether PhoU binds metal ions.

2.4.3 E. coli PhoU forms a dimer

We cloned *phoU*, to encode a native protein or a version with a C-terminal 6XHis-tag (PhoU-His) into pKG116 and confirmed that the constructs were functional by complementation analysis (data not shown). We then purified PhoU-His using immobilized metal ion affinity chromatography. To investigate its native structure, we analyzed this purified form of PhoU-His by gel filtration chromatography. Under nonreducing conditions, PhoU-His (a predicted molecular weight of 28,240 Da) eluted in several peaks corresponding to high molecular weight oligomers (data not shown). The PhoU oligomers were resolved when β-mercaptoethanol was included in the sample buffer. We think that these oligomers represent nonfunctional forms of PhoU because the side chains of each of its five Cys residues are predicted to extend towards the interior of the protein. Any covalent bonds involving these Cys residues would require PhoU to be partially or completely unfolded. When PhoU-His was analyzed with β-mercaptoethanol in the column buffer, it eluted as a single peak with an apparent molecular weight of 52.1 kDa which is comparable to the predicted molecular weight of a PhoU dimer (Fig. 2.4A).



Figure 2.4 PhoU forms a dimer.

A. *E. coli* PhoU-His was purified and run on a gel filtration column. The PhoU-His protein eluted as a single peak between the 45 kDa and 68 kDa standards. PhoU-His has a predicted molecular weight of 28.2 kDa, so this peak corresponds with the expected size of a PhoU dimer. B. BACTH analysis Strains grown in LB medium with different combinations of plasmids were spotted onto MOPS-HiP_i-maltose plates with X-Gal and incubated at 30°C. These results show that PhoU interacts with itself as well as the PhoU E100A, R101A, E200A, R201A mutant (Quad). As a negative control, each construct is shown in combination with an empty vector. As a positive control, constructs with leucine zipper domains (Zip) fused to T18 and T25 were combined.

We used the BACTH system to confirm our gel filtration experiments. Using compatible

plasmids that express T18-PhoU and T25-PhoU, we observed that PhoU interacts with itself

(Fig. 2.4B), which is consistent with PhoU gel filtration results. We did not observe interactions

when T18-PhoU was co-expressed with the T25 fragment alone or when T25-PhoU was co-

expressed with the T18 fragment.

2.4.4 E. coli PhoU binds manganese and magnesium

X-ray crystal structures show that PhoU from *Thermotoga maritima* coordinates

trinuclear and tetranuclear iron clusters at conserved sites (66), while PhoU from Streptococcus

pneumoniae shows zinc ions bound to these same sites(95). It is not known whether these metals

are important for physiological function or if they are artifacts of crystallization conditions. We wanted to determine if *E. coli* PhoU binds metal, and if it does, which metal it binds. To screen for potential bound metals, the PhoU-His protein was purified from *E. coli* and analyzed by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). We identified manganese as a potential bound metal because significantly more manganese was found with the PhoU-His sample than with a buffer only control (t test with a P value of 2.4×10^{-7}). Nickel and zinc were also identified as potentially binding to PhoU; however these metals may be an artifact from the 6XHis tag on PhoU and the nickel column protein purification. We did not detect any significant increase of iron in the sample containing PhoU compared with the control.

We used a fluorescence assay to further investigate interaction of PhoU with these metals. Tryptophan fluorescence intensity and maximum wavelength change when polarity of its local environment changes. Assays that follow changes in intrinsic tryptophan fluorescence are frequently used to detect changes in local protein environments (112). We engineered a PhoU-His F194W mutant and confirmed that the construct still functioned similar to the wild type protein in P_i-signaling (data not shown). This engineered tryptophan is located 6 residues upstream of the conserved putative metal binding residue, E200, and should be on the same face of the α -helix as one of the predicted metal binding sites (Fig. 2.1). We tested this purified protein with excitation at 280 nm and followed the fluorescence from 345 to 355 nm. When manganese was added to the sample, fluorescence was enhanced in a pattern that fit a predicted binding curve (Fig. 2.5A). Fitting a curve to the fluorescence data with various concentrations of manganese, we found that PhoU-His F194W bound manganese with an apparent K_d (dissociation constant) of 18.3 μ M with a standard error of 6.2, based on three replicates (Fig. 2.5B). This value is similar to intracellular levels of manganese in wild-type *E. coli* reported between 15 μ M

(113) and 21.1 μ M (114), although it is proposed that the free manganese levels in *E. coli* are much lower than this (115). Magnesium and manganese often overlap in functions for cellular processes and magnesium is in much higher concentration in the cell than manganese (116). So, we also tested whether our purified PhoU-His F194W protein bound magnesium and found that it bound this metal with a K_d of ~1.5 ± 0.68 mM (Fig. S3). The high K_d for magnesium may explain why we did not observe this metal bound to PhoU in the ICP-MS experiment. Since it has been reported that the amount of free magnesium in *E. coli* cell is between 1 and 2 mM (117), binding this metal may be important for its physiological function. We saw a shift in the wavelength of peak fluorescence with metal binding. We did not of 6XHis tags (118). Apparently, binding at the C-terminal 6XHis tag on PhoU is far enough away that it does not alter the F194W fluorescence. A change in fluorescence with magnesium and manganese implies that the metal binds at or near the conserved metal binding site or that metal binding significantly alters protein structure around the F194W residue.



Figure 2.5 PhoU binds manganese.

A. A representative emission scan of tryptophan fluorescence when purified *E. coli* PhoU-His F194W (F194) is mixed with increasing levels of manganese and excited at 280 nm. The addition of manganese leads to an increase in the fluorescence and a shift in peak fluorescence. B. With the addition of manganese, the mean change in fluorescence between 345 nm to 355 nm was plotted and a binding curve was fit to the data (error bars represent \pm standard error, n = 3). We see that PhoU-His F149W binds manganese to a greater degree than the PhoU-His E100A, R101A, F194W, E200A, R201A, F194W (QuadW) mutant protein.

2.4.5 Mutational analysis of conserved residues

To examine the role of PhoU metal binding on Pi-signaling, we mutated the phoU gene

on the p116U2 plasmid to encode proteins with several of the highly conserved charged residues

converted to alanine residues. The residues that were initially altered were D58, E100, R101, E200, R201 and D204. These plasmids were introduced into a $\Delta phoU$ strain that replaced the *pstSCAB-phoU* promoter with a lactose inducible promoter (BM263) to prevent the poor growth phenotype seen in *phoU* mutants that overexpress a functional PstSCAB transporter (63). Strains were grown overnight in a high-P_i medium and AP assays were performed to assess signaling (Fig. 2.6A). Each of the mutants displayed nearly wild-type signaling activity, repressing the expression of alkaline phosphatase. The strongest phenotype was associated with the R201A mutation, which still left PhoU with nearly 80% of its wild-type activity. Immunoblot analysis showed that each of the mutant proteins was expressed at a similar level to each other (data not shown).





A. Alkaline phosphatase expression was used as a reporter of P_i signaling. Plasmids with the mutant *phoU* constructs were introduced into a strain for which the native P_{pst} promoter was replaced by the P_{tac} promoter. For ease in referring to this strain, it is called STAC, for *PstS* operon, P_{tac} promoter. A $\Delta phoU$ STAC strain (BM263) was used to test PhoU mutants for signaling. Assays were performed in triplicate and the error bars represent ± the standard deviations of the measurements. B. Signaling phenotypes of the integrated *phoU* constructs. Cells were grown overnight on a roller drum at 37°C in MOPS HiP_i medium in the presence or absence of 50 µM IPTG and AP assays were performed in triplicate. The error bars represent ± the standard deviations. C. BM265 (*phoU*) and BM266 (*phoU*Quad) were grown in the presence or absence of 50 µM IPTG in MOPS HiP_i, then harvested and processed for visualizing protein expression by immunoblot analysis.

We created three mutants that carried two mutations in a single site: D58A/N62A,

E100A/R101A, and E200A/R201A to test if it was necessary to alter more than a single residue

within a putative metal binding pocket to block function. Each of these double mutants also

retained significant PhoU signaling activity. Since these mutations only affected a single threehelix bundle, we wanted to know if there is a functional redundancy between the two PhoU domains. We created a PhoU quadruple mutation, E100A R101A E200A R201A (PhoUQuad), which had mutations in each three-helix bundle putative metal binding sites (E100A and E200A) as well as mutations of two other highly conserved residues (R101A and R201A). This version of PhoU also retained ~80% of its signaling activity.

2.4.6 Analysis of phoU integrants

Since the mutations were carried on a medium-copy-number plasmid, we postulated that the lack of a prominent phenotype was due to elevated expression levels rather than to those residues not being important for function. To address this possibility, we engineered two new strains, BM265 and BM266, which inserted the wild-type *phoU gene* or the *phoU*Quad variation into the chromosome of the $\Delta phoU$ strain BM263 at its normal location. AP assays were performed on strains that were grown overnight in MOPS HiP_i medium \pm 50 μ M IPTG. This amount of IPTG was found to be the minimal amount needed to achieve full repression of the Pho regulon in BM261 (a strain for which the native P_{pst} promoter was replaced by the P_{tac} promoter) (data not shown). Analysis of the parent strain BM261 showed that repression of the Pho regulon required expression of the *pstSCAB-phoU* operon as AP was derepressed in the absence of IPTG (Fig.2. 6B). Because of its inherent defect in signaling, the Pho regulon was induced both in the presence and absence of IPTG in the $\Delta phoU$ strain BM263. The strain containing the integrated *phoU* gene showed a response that was indistinguishable from the BM261 parent strain, indicating that the reconstruction of the *pstSCAB-phoU* operon was functional and was regulated in a normal pattern. However, the phoUQuad mutant showed a

pattern that was like the $\Delta phoU$ strain BM263, indicating that when expressed at lower levels from the chromosome, the PhoUQuad mutant was not functional in signaling a high P_i environment. We performed a Western blot to ensure that the signaling differences between the $phoU^+$ construct and the phoUQuad mutant were not due to differences in protein expression or protein stability (Fig. 2.6C). These results indicate that PhoU and PhoUQuad were equally expressed from their chromosomal locations and that at this expression level the mutant version of PhoU was nonfunctional whereas the wild-type version was fully functional. This supports the conclusion that elevated expression of phoU from a multicopy-number plasmid suppresses the phenotype of the site-directed phoU mutations described above.

What type of signaling function may be alleviated by over-expression? One possibility is that these conserved sites may be involved in targeting PhoU to its proper cellular location. When expressed from a plasmid, there may be sufficient PhoU throughout the cell so that targeted membrane localization is not required for signal transmission. However, proper cellular targeting would be essential for signaling when the *phoU* gene is present in single copy and expression levels are low. To test this membrane affinity hypothesis for these conserved residues, plasmids expressing several *phoU* mutants were introduced into the $\Delta phoU$ strain BM263 and membrane localization experiments were performed. The amount of PhoU in the membrane fraction progressively decreased as the number of mutations in PhoU increased from zero to four (Fig. 2.7).



Figure 2.7 Membrane localization of PhoU and its mutant derivatives.

BM263 cells harboring p116U2 or several derived plasmids carrying mutations that alter conserved residues were grown at 37°C in LB medium. Cells were disrupted and the cell components were separated into soluble and membrane fractions by ultracentrifugation. A total of 1.5 μ g of proteins from the soluble fractions and 5 μ g from the membrane fractions were separated by SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose, and probed with polyclonal rabbit antiserum to PhoU.

2.4.7 Biochemical analysis of the PhoUQuad protein

To further understand the role of these conserved residues, we analyzed the PhoUQuad mutant protein for dimer formation and metal binding. When examined by gel filtration chromatography, the PhoUQuad protein eluted from the column at the same volume as the PhoU-His protein (Fig. S1). We also tested the PhoUQuad mutant with the BACTH system and found that it also interacts with itself (see Fig. 2.4D). We also repeated the PhoU-His gel filtration experiments with buffers that contained either EDTA to chelate metal or excess manganese to saturate metal binding and did not see any changes in the elution profiles (Fig. S2). From these observations we conclude that PhoU forms a dimer and that the E100, R101, E200, and R201 residues are not essential for dimer formation.

We also tested the purified PhoU-His Quad F194W protein using the fluorescence assay to measure metal binding and found that it did not bind manganese as well as PhoU-His F194W (K_d of 85.2 μ M ± 26.3 versus a K_d of 18.3 μ M ± 6.2 with no overlap of 94% confidence intervals of the calculated K_d 's based on triplicate tests). The fluorescence peak shift observed with the PhoU-His Quad F194W was significantly less than the shift caused by PhoU-His F194W (4.2 nm for F194W versus 1.7 nm for Quad F194W, P value of 0.020 from a two-tailed t test). We did not observe fluorescence enhancement when the PhoUQuadF194W protein was reacted with magnesium. Since the wild-type and mutant proteins both form dimers and the mutant protein does not appear to bind metals as well, we conclude that PhoU dimerization is independent of metal binding.

To further analyze the role of these residues in PhoU function, we employed the BACTH system to test whether the conserved charged residues that are involved in metal binding are important for the interactions between PhoU and PhoR. The E100A, E200A, E200A/R201A, and *phoUQuad* mutations were introduced into pUT18C*phoU* and interactions with PhoU were determined as described above. As shown in Fig. 2.2C, none of the mutations disrupted the interactions between PhoU and PhoR.

2.5 Discussion

This work provides evidence that the PhoU, PhoR, and PstB proteins physically interact. The demonstration of this interaction is important because it provides a framework for understanding P_i-signal transduction. Our current model of this signaling pathway is that PhoU is required for the formation of a signaling complex that is comprised of PstSCAB and PhoR
(See Fig. 2.8). We propose that PhoU contains multiple non-overlapping binding sites where it interacts with the membrane, PhoR and PstB.



Figure 2.8 Model of Pho regulon expression control.

PhoR contains two transmembrane segments (TM1 and TM2), a charged region (CR), PAS, DHp, and CA domains. PhoR either phosphorylates or dephosphorylates the response regulator PhoB on a conserved aspartic acid residue (D) of its receiver domain (REC), Upon phosphorylation PhoB binds DNA and activates expression of Pho regulon genes. The PstSCAB transporter may signal P_i levels through the alternating conformations that are inherent to its transport process. Thus, PhoU may respond to mechanical forces in its interaction with the PstSCAB transporter and transmit that information to PhoR through its PAS domain. Proper signaling complex formation requires PhoU to localize to the cytoplasmic face of the inner membrane. Metal binding (M^{2+}) by PhoU is important for its interaction with the membrane, especially when expressed at low levels, as is the case when cells are grown under phosphate-replete conditions.

We found that PhoU's interaction with PhoR requires the PAS domain of PhoR (Fig. 2.2B). PAS domains often function in signaling through sensing physical or chemical stimuli (18). Structural studies of histidine kinases have shown that the correct spatial positioning of the DHp and CA domains is essential for their kinase and phosphatase activities (12, 34, 119, 120). In some cases, it is thought that physical interactions between the CA and DHp domains lead to phosphatase activity and that altering these interactions upon receiving a signal allows for autokinase activity (12). There have also been several studies of PAS domain structures in histidine kinases (13, 18, 119, 121). In one study, the authors proposed that the PAS domain interacts with the CA domain to inhibit the CA/DHp domain interaction that is required for kinase activity, and that signal binding to the PAS domain frees up the CA domain and allows for kinase activity (121). Disruption of the interactions between the PAS domain and other domains may lead to changes in activity (34). One example reported that the PAS domain is essential for kinase function (122) while another found that the PAS domain is essential for phosphatase function (19). Clearly, PAS domains play a role in regulating the activity of many histidine kinases. Our data supports a model in which the PAS domain of PhoR receives its input through direct interactions with PhoU. PAS domains frequently bind small molecules, our data do not address whether the PAS domain of PhoR binds a small molecule that allows it to interact with PhoU.

According to our signaling complex model, PhoR is able to sense through PhoU the conformational states of PstSCAB as a consequence of P_i transport and then modulate its kinase/phosphatase equilibrium towards the appropriate response. This model could accommodate variations in which the signaling complex is stable regardless of the activity of the

Pst transporter or the possibility that the complex is transient and is only formed under a subset of conditions. For example, in high P_i conditions, PstB may interact with PhoU and favor the binding of PhoR at the PAS domain. This may allow the PAS domain to interact with the CA domain and shift the activity toward phospho-PhoB phosphatase activity. Conversely, in low P_i conditions, PhoU may not have a stable interaction with the PAS domain of PhoR, which stabilizes the autokinase activity. This hypothesis is consistent with the observed unregulated kinase activity of PhoR in the absence of PhoU or a functional PstSCAB transporter (62).

In support of a signaling complex involving PhoU, we have previously shown that PhoU modulates P_i transport through the Pst transporter (63). It seems likely that such modulation would involve direct protein interactions between PhoU and PstSCAB. Moreover, Organesyan et al. reported that PhoU contains folds similar to Bag domains (a class of cofactors of the eukaryotic chaperone Hsp70 family) and proposed that PhoU may associate with the ATPase domain of PhoR (CA domain) and cause it to release PhoB, thus turning off the signaling cascade in a manner similar to Bag domain's association with Hsp70 (65). While supporting an interaction between PhoU and PhoR, our results show that unlike the Bag/Hsp70 paradigm, that PhoU interacts with the PAS domain of PhoR and not its ATP-binding CA domain. The dimeric nature of PhoU may also be important as it interacts with the dimeric PstB and PhoR proteins.

Our data suggest that the roles of the most highly conserved residues within the PhoU protein family are to bind metal ions, which function to target PhoU to the membrane. Membrane targeting may be especially important when PhoU is present at low concentrations, such as when P_i is abundant. There are several examples where metal binding by proteins allows them to localize to the membrane. For example, annexins play a crucial role in Ca²⁺ signaling by binding Ca²⁺ that forms a bridge between the protein and the phospholipid head groups (123).

Metal is bound by the protein through interactions with carbonyl and carboxyl groups of the protein and bound to the membrane through interaction with the phosphoryl moieties of the phospholipids (124). A similar mechanism is employed by the a-toxin protein from *Clostridium perfringens*, where binding of Ca^{2+} is linked to membrane binding and triggers the opening of the active site (125).

The highly conserved metal-binding residues of PhoU are important for signaling only when the *phoU* gene is expressed in single copy from the chromosome. They are not essential for signaling when expressed from a plasmid. It therefore seems unlikely that these residues are part of an enzymatic active site that produces a soluble message that is part of the signaling process.

By assaying for co-elution of PhoU following the retention of PstB-His on a HisTrap nickel column we were able to detect protein-protein interactions between these two proteins. We assume that this method was effective because the PstB-His protein was incorporated into a complete transporter consisting of PstC and PstA where the proper protein conformations required for physical interactions were maintained. Coomassie stained gels of the elution fractions showed many bands (not shown), including those of the predicted sizes for PstC and PstB, indicating that the affinity chromatography step enriched for the PstB-His protein, but did not produce a purified complex. It seems likely that the complexity of the eluate was due to the nature of the sample applied to the column, which consisted of soluble proteins as well as proteins imbedded in membrane vesicles.

A few studies have investigated PhoU's interaction with other proteins. One group used fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) analysis to determine protein-protein interactions of various proteins involved in the P_i starvation response and failed to find an interaction between PhoU and either PhoR or PhoB (70). Another study used a Yeast two-hybrid assay to

show that in *Edwardsiella tarda* PhoU interacts with PhoB and Fur, but they did not see any interaction with PhoR (64). However, the conflicting results between these studies imply that more evidence is necessary to fully understand all of the proteins that interact with PhoU. It is possible that fusing PhoU to enhanced cyan fluorescent protein in the FRET analysis and using a truncated PhoR expressed in yeast cells prevented the PhoU/PhoR interaction or the detection methods were not sensitive enough to identify the PhoU/PhoR interaction.

We used a BACTH system to identify and characterize PhoU/PhoR interactions. Others have had success using these systems to identify domains from bacterial proteins that interact and have found the BACTH system is especially useful for testing membrane bound proteins (105, 126). Our results confirm that PhoU does interact with PhoR. Given the multiple PhoR and PhoU constructs that show interaction (Fig. 2.2) it is unlikely that all of the different constructs are false positives. These results are also confirmed with PhoU co-eluting with PhoR-His (Fig. 2.3).

Chapter 3 Genetic analysis, structural modeling, and direct coupling analysis suggest a mechanism for phosphate signaling in *Escherichia coli*

3.1 Abstract

Background: Proper phosphate signaling is essential for robust growth of *Escherichia coli* and many other bacteria. The phosphate signal is mediated by a classic two component signal system composed of PhoR and PhoB. The PhoR histidine kinase is responsible for phosphorylating/dephosphorylating the response regulator, PhoB, which controls the expression of genes that aid growth in low phosphate conditions. The mechanism by which PhoR receives a signal of environmental phosphate levels has remained elusive. A transporter complex composed of the PstS, PstC, PstA, and PstB proteins as well as a negative regulator, PhoU, have been implicated in signaling environmental phosphate to PhoR.

Results: This work confirms that PhoU and the PstSCAB complex are necessary for proper signaling of high environmental phosphate. Also, we identify residues important in PhoU/PhoR interaction with genetic analysis. Using protein modeling and docking methods, we show an interaction model that points to a potential mechanism for PhoU mediated signaling to PhoR to modify its activity. This model is tested with direct coupling analysis.

Conclusions: These bioinformatics tools, in combination with genetic and biochemical analysis, help to identify and test a model for phosphate signaling and may be applicable to several other systems.

3.2 Background

Adapting to changes in the environment is one of the hallmarks of life. For all life, phosphate is an essential nutrient. Bacteria have several mechanisms to scavenge phosphate that are only expressed when the level of available environmental phosphate is limited: including a phosphate specific ABC transporter complex (PstSCAB) and a periplasmic phosphate scavenging enzyme (alkaline phosphatase (AP)); the product of the *phoA* gene) (11). Expression control of these genes is essential for optimal growth and has been implicated in the regulation of pathogenesis in several organisms (6, 9).

In Escherichia coli, a classic two-component signal transduction system, composed of the PhoR histidine kinase and the PhoB response regulator, is responsible for expression control of a group of genes called the Pho regulon. PhoR consists of an N-terminal membrane-spanning region, as well as cytoplasmic PAS, DHp and CA domains. The PAS domain was named for the Drosophila Per, Arnt, and Sim proteins, in which this domain was originally described and has been found in many signaling proteins. Many PAS domains bind cofactors such as heme (33). The DHp domain is conserved in histidine kinases and functions in dimerization and contains the site of histidine phosphorylation. The CA domain is the catalytic, ATP-binding part of the protein. PhoB consists of an N-terminal phosphorylation domain that receives a phosphoryl group from PhoR and a C-terminal DNA binding domain. In low phosphate conditions, PhoR acts as a PhoB kinase. Upon phosphorylation, PhoB recruits RNA polymerase to promoters of the Pho regular that contain a Pho box. In high phosphate conditions, PhoR acts as a phospho-PhoB phosphatase and removes the phosphate from PhoB to keep the expression level of Pho regulon genes very low. One unanswered question with this system is how PhoR perceives external phosphate concentrations. PhoR lacks a significant periplasmic domain that could

detect phosphate abundance outside the cell. Past work has shown that the PstSCAB transporter and the PhoU protein play important roles in phosphate signaling to PhoR (11). The mechanism of this signal has not been fully elucidated.

A deletion mutation of the *phoU* gene leads to poor growth and the frequent development of compensatory mutations in the other Pho regulon expression control genes, *pstSCAB*, *phoR*, and *phoB* (62). The poor growth phenotype is likely due to overexpression and under-regulation of a functional PstSCAB transporter (61), which leads to phosphate poisoning when cells are grown in high phosphate environments (63). Reference (63) proposed that PhoU modulates phosphate transport through the PstSCAB complex by inhibiting transport when internal phosphate levels are too high.

Recently, PhoU was shown to directly interact with PstB and PhoR (1). This observation suggested a model that PhoU interacts with PstB to sense environmental phosphate levels and that it passes that signal along to PhoR to modulate its kinase/phosphatase activities (Fig 3.1). To further characterize these interactions, this work analyzes several *phoU* mutants for signaling activity, interactions with PhoR, and interactions with PstB. A scanning mutagenesis screen of the PAS domain of PhoR identified potential residues important for interaction with PhoU. We modeled potential docking interactions between PhoR and PhoU. One of the docking models showed a close proximity of identified residues in PhoU with a predicted interaction loop of the PAS domain of PhoR. To validate this model, we performed a Direct Coupling Analysis (DCA) between PhoR and PhoU using sequences from the gammaproteobacteria. The DCA results are consistent with the proposed docking model and may point to a mechanism of action for PhoU in controlling the opposing kinase and phosphatase activities of PhoR.





Proper control of Pho regulon expression involves the histidine kinase, PhoR that has a Per-Arnt-Sim (PAS), dimerization/histidine phosphorylation (DHp), and catalytic (CA) domains; the response regulator PhoB (with a conserved aspartate (D) residue that is phosphorylated); the phosphate specific ABC transporter composed of PstS (Periplasmic phosphate binding protein), PstC and PstA (proteins that form the pore in the inner membrane), and PstB (the ATP binding portion of the transporter); and PhoU (a negative regulator of PhoR).

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 PhoU and PstSCAB necessity for phosphate signaling

Mutations in any of the *pstSCAB* transporter genes or *phoU* lead to loss of phosphate signaling. To determine whether PhoU could act independently of the PstSCAB transporter, we expressed these two genetic entities from separate plasmids in *E. coli* strain BW26337, which contains a deletion of the *pstSCABphoU* operon and tested strains for control of the Pho regulon. We cloned the *pstSCAB* genes into the pRR48 plasmid (Amp^R) (104) and the *phoU* gene into the compatible pKG116 plasmid (Cam^R) (103). Control of the Pho regulon was analyzed by

determining Alkaline Phosphatase (AP) expression. Fig 3.2 shows that AP expression was unregulated when cells were grown under high phosphate conditions in strains expressing neither protein (containing two empty vectors), or expressing each protein individually. However, when both proteins were expressed in the same cell, AP expression levels were significantly reduced. These results show that *phoU* expression is necessary but not sufficient for proper phosphate signaling and are consistent with a model that these proteins act together in signal transduction.



Figure 3.2 Signaling necessity and sufficiency of PhoU and PstSCAB. Triplicate cultures of BW26337 (a $\Delta pstSCABphoU$ strain) cells with pKG116 and pRR48 (Empty vectors), pKG116 and pRR48SCAB (PstSCAB), p116U2 and pRR48 (PhoU), p116U2 and pRR48SCAB (PstSCAB PhoU) and BW25113 (a wild-type strain) were grown in LB and Bacterial Alkaline Phosphatase activity was assayed. Error bars represent the standard deviation. * = p-value of < 0.05 compared to the Empty vectors with a two-tailed T-test. Early studies of phosphate homeostasis in *E. coli* isolated mutants that constitutively expressed AP (73). One mutant, named C4 (127) was characterized (128) and was later named *phoU35* because it was independent of the phosphate transport genes (129). When the genes of the *pstSCABphoU* operon were sequenced and the *phoU35* mutant was analyzed , they found this mutation encoded a change from alanine at position 147 to glutamic acid (A147E) (71). Since a *phoU* deletion mutation results in loss of phosphate signaling and causes a severe growth phenotype, but the *phoU35* allele was only reported to cause a loss of signaling without the accompanying poor growth, we hypothesized that the *phoU35* mutation may disrupt PhoU's interaction with PhoR, preventing the signal for the switch to PhoR phosphates activity, but may maintain the interaction with PstB, limiting excess transport of phosphate into the cell during phosphate replete conditions.

3.3.2 PhoU and PhoU A1417E growth phenotypes in a $\Delta phoU$ strain

We wanted to confirm that strains expressing the *phoU*35 allele do not show a severe growth phenotype. We employed a *phoU* deletion strain in which the normal *pstS* promoter was replaced by the *tac* promoter to uncouple expression of this operon from mutations in any of its genes (STAC Δ phoU) (1). By growing this strain in the absence of IPTG the accumulation of compensatory mutations was avoided. Fig 3.3 shows the results of characterizing the growth yield of various cultures grown in a high-phosphate medium with IPTG overnight with shaking. The STAC strain with a wildtype copy of *phoU* still in the chromosome grew normally. We observed a significant growth defect when the *phoU* knockout strain containing an empty vector, pKG116, was grown in identical conditions. When the p116U2 plasmid was introduced into this strain, expressing wild-type *phoU*, and grown under identical conditions, no growth defect was observed. Moreover, when the *phoUA147E* allele was introduced into the strain, the growth phenotype was similar to that of wild-type *phoU*. These results confirm the lack of growth defect in the *phoU35* mutant and are consistent with the hypothesis that the A147 residue of PhoU is important for interactions with PhoR.



Growth yield of overnight cultures

Figure 3.3 Growth yield of overnight cultures. Triplicate cultures were grown overnight in LB and the absorbance of 600nm wavelength of light for each culture was recorded. Error bars represent standard deviations. * = p-value of < 0.01 compared to STAC with a two-tailed T-test.

3.3.3 PhoU mutant's signaling phenotypes

To verify that the *phoU*35 allele caused a signaling defect when expressed from a multicopy plasmid, we tested AP expression in the strains constructed for the previous experiments. Fig 3.4 shows that high AP levels were observed in the STACΔphoU pKG116 strain and the STACΔphoU p116U2 A47E strain grown under high phosphate conditions, but

that reduced AP levels were observed in the STACΔphoU p116U2 strain. This showed that PhoUA147E could not regulate PhoR and was consistent with the model presented. We wondered if other mutations that caused changes in the *phoU* protein in the vicinity of A147 would also display a signaling defect. We therefore introduced additional mutations by sitedirected mutagenesis in the region near A147 (A147, R148, and D150) to create versions of PhoU with different charges and sizes of amino acid side chains in this region. The mutations that we created were A147K, R148E, R148A, and D150A. The rightmost four bars in Fig 3.4 show that the A147K, R148E and R148A mutants lost phosphate signaling activity as they expressed elevated AP levels, but that the D150A mutation retained signaling activity. These results suggest that both A147 and R148 are important for interactions with PhoR.



Signaling Activity

Figure 3.4 Signaling activity of various PhoU mutants.

Triplicate cultures were grown in LB and assayed for Bacterial Alkaline Phosphatase activity. BW25113 is a wildtype control. Other strains were STAC Δ phoU with p116U2 (wildtype *phoU*), pKG116 (empty parent plasmid), and various p116U2 plasmids with specific mutations in *phoU* (A147E, A147K, R148A, R148E, and D150A). Error bars represent standard deviations. Values significantly greater than p116U2 are labeled with * = p-value of < 0.001 compared to p116U2 with a two-tailed T-test.

3.3.4 BACTH of PhoU mutants interaction with PhoR and PstB

The combination of no growth inhibition and disrupted signaling are the expected phenotypes of a *phoU* mutant that can interact with PstB to limit phosphate transport but can no longer interact with PhoR to signal the phosphate level. We further examined this hypothesis by using a bacterial adenylate cyclase two-hybrid (BACTH) system to test for interactions between mutant versions of PhoU and PstB and PhoR (Fig 3.5A and 3.5B).

The BACTH system employs the separable T18 and T25 domains of adenylate cyclase from *Bordetella pertussis*. When these two domains are in close proximity they create an active enzyme that produces cAMP. By creating gene fusions in which protein domains are connected to the T18 and T25 fragments, cAMP production is a measure of whether the fused proteins interact. Since cAMP binds to the CRP protein, cAMP can be measured indirectly by assaying βgalactosidase. We previously used this method to show interactions between the wild-type version of PhoU and PstB and various domains of PhoR.

Fig 3.5A shows the results of β -galactosidase activity assays of various BACTH strains. Each sample is BTH101 strain containing one plasmid that expresses the T18 domain fused to PhoR and another plasmid that expresses either the T25 domain alone (Empty vector), T25 fuzed to PhoU (PhoU/PhoR), or various PhoU mutant proteins (A147E, A147K, A148A, R148E, and D150A). The A147 and R148 mutants of *phoU* had a significantly weaker interaction with PhoR (as represented by low β -galactosidase activities) and the D150A mutant retained PhoR interaction. We also tested these plasmids expressing the T25-PhoU fusions for interaction with a T18-PstB fusion protein. Interestingly, the A147 and R148 mutant proteins maintained

interactions with PstB (Fig 3.5B). This implies that the loss of interaction with PhoR is not due to protein instability or radical protein misfolding.



Figure 3.5 PhoU mutant interaction s with PhoR and PstB.

Values shown are the average of triplicate samples with the error bars representing standard deviation. A. BACTH analysis of PhoU/PhoR interaction. Various combinations of PhoU and mutants or an empty vector negative control were tested for interaction with PhoR. Activity of β -Galactosidase correlates with protein/protein interaction. * = p-value < 0.01 compared to PhoU/PhoR with a two-tailed T-test. B. This chart shows the interaction of PstB with various PhoU mutants and an empty vector negative control. * = p < 0.05 compared to Empty Vector with a two-tailed T-test.

3.3.5 Scanning mutagenesis of the PAS domain of PhoR

Previous work showed that the PhoR/PhoU interaction was dependent on the PAS

domain of PhoR (1). We used scanning mutagenesis of a plasmid expressing a T18-PhoR N-PAS

(the portion of the PhoR protein from the C terminus through the PAS domain, but without the

CA and DHp domains) domain fusion protein to identify the residues within this domain that are important for the interaction. Every two amino acids of the PhoR PAS domain were mutated to alanine and cysteine residues by sequentially replacing the six bases encoding adjacent codons with a *SphI* restriction site. The mutant versions were then introduced into the appropriate tester strain expressing wild-type *phoU* fused to the T25 fragment of adenylate cyclase and β -galactosidase assays were performed. Many mutants lost the ability to interact with PhoU as indicated by significantly reduced β -galactosidase levels (shown as blue bars in Fig. 3.6B). Among the mutations there were several regions where neighboring residues showed loss of interaction (for example, residues 141-146, 157-162 and 169-176). There were also several single mutations (111, 115, 189) that reduced protein interactions.



B Ala-Cys Scanning Mutagenesis of the *phoR* PAS domain



Figure 3.6 PAS domain scanning mutagenesis.

A. Predicted secondary structure of the PhoR PAS domain with alpha helixes labeled with yellow arrows and β -sheets labeled with red cylinders. B. Scanning mutagenesis of the PhoR PAS domain used BACTH to identify regions of the protein that are essential for interaction with PhoU. Every two amino acids were changed to code for alanine and cysteine. Each construct was tested in triplicate for interaction with PhoU. Blue bars represent samples that had less than 40% of the activity of unmutated PhoR.

3.3.6 Protein structure models and a docking model of PhoR/PhoU interaction

We modeled the cytoplasmic portion of the *E. coli* PhoR structure based upon the structure of the VicK protein from *Streptococcus mutans* using the Phyre2 webserver (Fig 3.7A). This modeled structure predicts that the 141-146 and the 157-162 regions of PhoR have residues that are exposed to the surface and face outwards, consistent with an interaction with another protein (Fig 3.7A, the residues colored red and purple respectively.) The 111, 115, 189, and the 165-176 mutations all map to regions of PhoR that are predicted to lie along a β -sheet that has been shown in other histidine kinases to be important for PAS domain dimerization contacts. For this reason, these mutations may not be involved in PhoU/PhoR interactions, but for maintaining a proper protein conformation.

We docked a modeled *E. coli* PhoU protein onto the modeled PhoR dimer. The server returned ten potential PhoR/PhoU models with most of the models being unreasonable because they docked PhoU onto the part of PhoR that interacts with the cytoplasmic membrane. One of the reasonable models showed an interesting interaction between PhoR and PhoU (Fig 3.7B). In this model the PhoU residues that were identified through genetic analysis as important for interactions with PhoR were in close proximity to regions of the PhoR PAS domain that were identified by scanning mutagenesis. Fig 3.7C shows that some of the PhoR 157-162 residues (shown in green) appear to interact with the A147 and R148 residues of PhoU (shown in blue).



Figure 3.7 Structures of modeled PhoR and PhoU.

A. Interaction sites identified from scanning mutagenesis that are found on the surface of a modeled PhoR structure, 141-146 are red and the 157-162 residues are purple. B. Shows the protein surface predictions of the PhoU/PhoR docking model. PhoR is colored yellow and PhoU is colored red. C. A cartoon of protein backbones with PhoU A147 and R148 shown as spheres in blue and PhoR K157-S162 shown as green spheres.

3.3.7 Direct Coupling Analysis

Support for this interaction model was obtained through a bioinformatic method, called direct coupling analysis (DCA) that identifies covariance between residues. DCA identifies which residues from a sequence tend to co-evolve with any other residue by measuring the predictive power of one residue on another. This can identify direct interactions between residues, such as residues that are directly involved in protein/protein interactions. Also, residues that are involved in indirect interaction (for example residues that play a role in proper structural conformation) and mechanistic interactions (as would be found in residues associated with an enzyme active site) are identified with DCA (130). Mutual information (MI) quantifies the direct and indirect coupling of residue pairs. MI has been used to identify both intradomain and interdomain interactions (131-137). Direct information (DI) is a value that attempts to eliminate the indirect coupling of MI due to neighboring residues. Biologically, MI may identify residues

that play a role in interaction through indirect means that may not be identified with DI. We used MI to sort our DCA results to identify the residues that play an important role in PhoU/PhoR interaction,

We analyzed sequences of PhoU and PhoR from 196 gammaproteobacteria. We concatenated the *phoU* and *phoR* sequences from each species with 20 ala residues in between the two genes to aid in alignment. We aligned the sequences and then compared all the residues with DCA. The alignment had some gaps, mostly at the beginning and end of the two genes (Fig. S.4)

Our previous work identified PhoU A147 and R148 residues as being involved in interaction with PhoR. To isolate residues from the PhoR PAS domain that show covariance with PhoU A147 and R148, we sorted the top co-varying residues of the PhoR PAS domain by MI for both A147 and R148 residues of PhoU. The top ten predicted pairs are shown in Table 3.1 and Table 3.2. Several of these co-varying residues fall in the same region of the PAS domain of PhoR identified by the BACTH analysis. When the top five residues for A147 and R148 are highlighted in the docking model, we see that many cluster near the predicted interaction surface. Given that some of the residues for A147 overlap with the R148 residues we colored residues that co-vary with A147 green, residues that co-vary with R148 cyan, and residues that co-vary with both purple (Fig 3.8A).

PhoR	PhoU	Mutual information	Direct Information	Distance (Å)
Y149	A147	0.5876	0.0016	12.1
N166	A147	0.5475	0.0006	14.7
F161	A147	0.5189	0.0005	12.2
P164	A147	0.5045	0.0009	12.9
R163	A147	0.4823	0.0005	12.1
G118	A147	0.4796	0.0011	19.0
Q186	A147	0.4565	0.0009	16.6
L187	A147	0.4459	0.0012	13.7
D160	A147	0.4442	0.0006	6.0
Q154	A147	0.4438	0.0008	10.9

Table 3.1 DCA of PhoU A147 vs. PhoR PAS domain

Table 3.2 DCA of PhoU R148 vs. PhoR PAS domain

PhoR	PhoU	Mutual information	Direct Information	Distance (Å)
R148	R148	0.4980	0.0045	11.4
Y149	R148	0.4927	0.0006	7.2
G118	R148	0.4121	0.0011	16.3
N145	R148	0.4082	0.0011	12.9
N166	R148	0.3901	0.0007	3.1
P164	R148	0.3861	0.0004	2.0
Q154	R148	0.3831	0.0006	12.1
N139	R148	0.3795	0.0004	21.9
P150	R148	0.3781	0.0017	12.0
R163	R148	0.3767	0.0003	3.0

Table 3.3 DCA of PhoU E121 vs. PhoR CA domain

PhoR	PhoU	Mutual information	Direct Information	Distance (Å)
K428	E121	0.512	0.003	17.8
N429	E121	0.489	0.001	19.2
D316	E121	0.475	0.001	10.6
T340	E121	0.461	0.004	23.8
I426	E121	0.460	0.003	10.2
L274	E121	0.453	0.001	6.4
T271	E121	0.453	0.001	3.4
E375	E121	0.451	0.003	22.3
S430	E121	0.443	0.001	20.1
K277	E121	0.437	0.001	14.3





A. PhoR in yellow and PhoU in red with A147 and R148 highlighted in blue and the top five DCA residues of PhoR PAS domain highlighted as spheres (residues that co-vary with A147 are green, R148 are cyan, and residues that co-vary with both are purple). B. PhoU E121 highlighted in blue and the top seven residues in the DCA analysis of the PhoR CA domain highlighted in green spheres. C. PhoU R148 potential interactions with the side chain of PhoR PAS R163, P164, and N166 residues (distances labeled are Å).

For a more complete analysis, we also sorted the potential interacting pairs by DI and found that several of the same residues were found in the top pairs (Tables 3.4 and 3.5). In the tables, residues that were also found in the top ten residues of MI sorted data are underlined. Several other residues sorted by MI show relatively large DI values (Tables 3.1 and 3.2). Also, it is interesting that many of the interacting pairs sorted by DI fall into the loop regions identified by the PAS domain scanning mutagenesis (Fig. 3.6).

PhoR	PhoU	Mutual information	Direct Information	Distance (Å)
R148	A147	0.4267	0.0028	16.9
T195	A147	0.1738	0.0019	18.6
<u>Y149</u>	A147	0.5876	0.0016	9.3
L133	A147	0.2515	0.0016	20.9
I120	A147	0.1997	0.0015	20.0
E151	A147	0.4273	0.0014	8.0
L146	A147	0.3957	0.0014	15.8
L126	A147	0.2256	0.0014	22.2
V168	A147	0.3870	0.0014	15.0
F121	A147	0.2997	0.0013	22.1

Table 3.4 DCA of PhoU A147 sorted by Direct Information. Underlined PhoR residues are also in the top ten residues when sorted by Mutual Information

Table 3.5 DCA of PhoU R148 sorted by Direct Information Underlined PhoR residues are also in the top ten residues when sorted by Mutual Information

PhoR	PhoU	Mutual information	Direct Information	Distance (Å)
<u>R148</u>	R148	0.4980	0.0045	11.4
I143	R148	0.2236	0.0019	11.2
L167	R148	0.2752	0.0017	5.4
<u>P150</u>	R148	0.3781	0.0017	11.6
L126	R148	0.1135	0.0016	14.5
E176	R148	0.3762	0.0014	13.5
I120	R148	0.2126	0.0013	15.2
F152	R148	0.2972	0.0012	13.4
<u>N145</u>	R148	0.4082	0.0011	12.9
<u>G118</u>	R148	0.4121	0.0011	16.3

With the docking model it appears that the loops on the opposite side of PhoU from the PAS interacting surface are in close proximity to the CA domain of the opposite PhoR of the dimer. To observe any covariance between PhoU and PhoR at these surfaces, we compared the PhoU E121 residue to the CA domain with DCA. We see that the top PhoR CA domain residues that co-vary with E121 (shown as green spheres) cluster at the surface of PhoR nearest to PhoU E121 (shown as blue spheres) (Table 3.3, Fig 3.8B).

We noticed that there are few residues that appear to interact based on the docking model and DCA that did not show loss of function in our scanning mutagenesis (~PhoR163-166). To better understand these results we looked closer at the residues in our docking model structures. When we highlight the side chain of the PhoU R148 residue and the side chains of residues in positions 163, 164, and 166 of the PhoR PAS domain, it appears that the R148 may interact with the amino acid backbone for these sites and not the side chain residues as they appear to point away from the PhoU structure (Fig 3.8C). Changing the side chains of these amino acids in our scanning mutagenesis of the PAS domain may not disrupt PhoU/PhoR interactions, which explains our scanning mutagenesis results.

Additionally, when distances between predicted interacting pairs is measured, several residues are found near R148 (within ~8Å) but few are found that near to A147. One explanation for this is that PhoU A147 itself does not directly interact with PhoR, but mutations of PhoU A147 may affect the ability of R148 to interact with PhoR. For example, the A147E mutation places a large acidic side chain right next to the R148 basic side chain and may disrupt proper PhoU/PhoR interaction and phosphate signaling. Using MI to sort our DCA results allows for identifying residues like this that are important for proper interaction but may not be directly involved. This phenomenon may also explain some of the PhoR PAS residues identified with DCA, like PhoR G118. The PhoR G118 residue is not found very near to PhoU R148 or A147 in our docking model (Table 3.1 and Table 3.2). However, G118 is on the surface of the PhoR PAS domain on a loop between α-helices that appears to form the top of the PhoU binding pocket. One would expect that mutations of a highly flexible glycine at this position could be associated with compensating mutations of PhoU in the R148 region.

In an effort to expand our DCA we completed an analysis using 415 sequences from various species belonging to the proteobacteria group. This analysis further confirmed our findings that PhoU interacts with the PAS domain of PhoR. When we compared the entire PhoR protein with either A147 or R148 residues of PhoU, we found that 14 of the top 20 pairs sorted by MI for both A147 and R148 fall within the PAS domain of PhoR. With aligning so many diverse PhoR sequences, there were several gaps in the alignment (Fig. S5). Often these gaps correspond to the loop regions between the a helices of the PAS domain. Where the DCA residue for PhoR fell into a gap in the *E. coli* PhoR aligned sequence, we report the residues on either side of the gap (Table 3.6 and Fig 3.10). Interestingly, many of the top ten residues fall in the loops between predicted a helices (Fig 3.5A) that form the same predicted PhoU binding pocket of our docking model (Fig3.10). There is also a residue that maps to the predicted PhoU/PhoR CA domain interaction surface that was identified (H272-L273). This again may be due to our use of MI and the fact that even though the residue is far from the direct interaction site, it plays a role in docking and any mutations there may need to be compensated for at other interaction sites. This also appears to support the hypothesis that PhoU interacts with the CA domain of PhoR.

> Escherichia coli K-12 MG1655
MDS-LNLNK-HISGQFNAELESIRTQVMTMGGMVEQQLSDAITAMHNQDSDLA
KRVIEGDKNVNMMEVAIDEACVRIIAKROPTASDLRLVMVISKTIAELERIGDVADKICRTALEKFSOOH
OPLIVSLESIGRHTIONI, HOVI, DAFARMDIDEAVRIYREDKKVDOEYEGIVROLMTYMM-
GAFFGYLGAFFGYL
PWFLLASVTG-LLIWHFWNLLRLSWWLWVDRSMT-PPPG-RGS-WEPLLYGLHQ
MQLRNKKRRRELGNLIK-RFRSGAESLPDAVVLTT-EEGGIFWCNGLAQQIL-
GLRWPEDNGQNILNLLRYPEFTQYLKTR-DFSRPLNLVLNT
GRHLEIRVMPYTHKQLLMVARDVTQMHQLEGARRN
FFANVSHELEGAVREKALHTMRE
OTORMEGLVKOLLTLSKIEA-APTH-LLNEKVDVPM-MLRVVEREAOTLSOKK-OTFTF-
~ ~
THTTVRWOR-VPHGAAA
KFSFV1FFKTTKUN-2D

Figure 3.9 Alignment of *phoU* and *phoR* from *E. coli* used for DCA analysis

For DCA, we concatenated the *phoU* sequence with the corresponding *phoR* sequence from the same bacterial species. We added 20 alanine residues between the two gene sequences to aid in correct multiple sequence alignment. After aligning sequences from the different species, we used the FASTA formatted files for DCA.

PhoR	PhoU	Mutual Information	Direct Information
T171-G172	R148	0.832	0.002
D138	R148	0.825	0.005
H272-L273	R148	0.820	0.002
W56	R148	0.802	0.003
N145	R148	0.755	0.003
H184-K185	R148	0.751	0.002
T171-G172	R148	0.750	0.002
L156-K157	R148	0.739	0.003
L156-K157	R148	0.737	0.007
L156-K157	R148	0.733	0.002

Table 3.6 DCA of PhoU R148 compared to all of the PhoR residues using 415 sequences from bacterial species across the proteobacteria group



Figure 3.10 DCA analysis of PhoU R148 compared to all of the PhoR residues using sequences from bacterial species across the proteobacteria group PhoR is shown as yellow and PhoU is shown as red. The R148A residue of PhoU is highlighted as blue spheres and green spheres represent the top ten residues identified through DCA using 415 different sequences of various species from the proteobacteria group.

3.3.8 Potential model for PhoU mediated signaling to PhoR

Our results confirm that PhoU is necessary for proper signaling in high phosphate, but that the PstSCAB transporter is also necessary. We have identified the A148 and R149 residues of PhoU as being important for interaction with PhoR. Using scanning mutagenesis, we identified residues of the PhoR PAS domain essential for interaction with PhoU. A docking model was identified and tested with DCA. The docking model shows PhoU interacting with both the PAS domain and the CA domain of PhoR, pointing to a potential mechanism for PhoU mediated switching of PhoR's kinase to phosphatase activity.

The switch from kinase to phosphatase activity for histidine kinases is dependent upon the conformation between the CA and DHp domains (21, 138). The CA domain must remain flexible for proper kinase function. Also, the DHp domain was previously shown biochemically to be the portion of PhoR that has phospho-PhoB phosphatase activity (32). It is possible that when PhoU interacts with PhoR, that interaction may constrain the CA domain to inhibit kinase activity and expose the DHp domain to allow phosphatase activity of PhoR. These results are the first to point to a specific molecular mechanism for PhoU mediated modification of PhoR activity.

3.4 Conclusions

These studies have combined genetic, mutagenesis, computer modeling, and DCA analyses in studying the molecular interaction of PhoU and PhoR. It will be interesting to apply these techniques to identify residues involved in other signaling pathways and develop interaction models. For example, PhoU interaction with PstB appears to be weaker than PhoU interaction with PhoR based on our BACTH (Fig 3.6A and 3.6B), making it more difficult to directly identify residues essential for interaction. Using modeling and DCA, potential interacting residues may be identified. Efforts to isolate a complete signaling complex of PhoR, PhoU, and PstSCAB have been unsuccessful in the past. However, if the sites of interaction were identified, perhaps an entire signaling complex could be isolated and characterized using methods directed toward the specific interaction sites.

3.5 Methods

3.5.1 Strains, plasmids, and reconstructing of signaling system

Plasmids that were used include pKG116(103), p116U2(63) (a pKG116 with the *phoU* gene under salycilate expression control), p116A147E, p116U2 A147K, p116U2 R148A, p116U2 R148E, p116U2 D150A (all the mutant p116U2 plasmids were constructed with QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis kit from Agilent Technologies and verified by DNA sequence analysis as described in (1) (primers listed in Table S2)), pRR48(104), and p48SCAB (a pRR48 with the *pstSCAB* genes inserted also as described in (1) (primers are listed in Table S2)). For signaling analysis, combinations of p48SCAB and a pKG116 derived plasmid were introduced into the *E. coli* strain BW26337 (having a chromosomal deletion of the *pstSCABphoU* genes constructed from the wildtype strain BW25113(100)). The cultures were grown at 37°C with shaking overnight in morpholinepropanesulfonic acid (MOPS) defined medium with 0.06% glucose and 2.0 mM phosphate (a high phosphate minimal media)(1).

3.5.2 Growth of PhoU A147E mutant

STAC and STAC Δ phoU (1) were used with pKG116, p116U2, or p116U2 A147E (a p116U2 plasmid mutated with QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis kit from Agilent Technologies and verified by DNA sequence analysis (primers listed in Table S2). Triplicate overnight cultures were grown in LB media with 100 μ M IPTG and the OD₆₀₀ of a 1:5 dilution of culture was measured. Values were adjusted for dilution and averages are reported with error bars representing the standard deviation.

3.5.3 Alkaline Phosphatase Assays

We based our Alkaline Phosphatase (AP) Assays on a 96 well plate β-Galactosidase Activity assay previously described (1). Cultures were grown overnight at 37°C with shaking. The OD_{600} was read on a 1:4 dilution of the culture. 1 ml of culture was collected and resuspended in 900 µl of 1 M Tris-HCl pH 8.2. 1 drop of 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate and 2 drops of chloroform were added to each tube and tubes were vortexed vigorously for 15 sec. Tubes were then spun for 1 min at 16,000 x g and 200 µl of each sample was loaded into a well of a 96 well flat bottomed plate. 40 µl of 20 mM p-Nitrophenyl phosphate in 1 M Tris-HCl pH 8.2 was added. The OD₄₂₀ values were read once a minute for 20 min at 37°C. Units of activity were calculated as (1000 x slope of a line fit to OD_{420} in mOD/min)/(4 x OD_{600} of 1:4 dilution of the overnight culture). Cultures were grown in triplicate and the average is reported with error bars representing the standard deviation.

3.5.4 BACTH and β-Galactosidase Assays for scanning mutagenesis

BACTH analysis and β-Galactosidase Assays were performed as described in (1). Briefly, using the QuikChange Lightning Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit from Agilent Technologies, the p18CRN-PAS plasmid was mutated to change every two amino acids of the PhoR PAS domain to code for alanine-cysteine (primers listed in Table S2). For example, p18CRN-PAS 109 had PhoR D109A and A110C changes. These residues were chosen because they are not predicted to cause major secondary structural changes. Each p18CRN-PAS plasmid of the library of alanine-cysteine mutants was transformed with pKT25phoU into the tester strain, BTH101 from EuroMedex. Cultures were grown in triplicate in LB and assayed as described in (1). The percent of PhoU/PhoR Interaction was found by dividing the average activity of each sample with the activity of an unmutated p18CRN-PAS control and multiplied by 100.

3.5.5 Protein structure modeling and protein docking modeling

We used the ClusPro webserver (139-142) to dock structures of a dimer of the cytoplasmic portion from *E. coli* PhoR (structure modeled from the structure for VicK from *Streptococcus mutans* (34)), and PhoU (modeled from *Thermatoga maratima* PhoU (95)) using Protein Homology/analogY Recognition Engine V 2.0 (Phyre2) (35).

3.5.6 Direct Coupling Analysis

We used PhoU and PhoR sequences from 196 species of bacteria from the gammaproteobacteria group. Sequences were concatenated starting with PhoU, followed by PhoR from the same species. 20 alanine residues were placed between the two protein sequences to aid in differentiating the PhoU from the PhoR after the alignment. Using MAFFT version 7 (website is http://mafft.cbrc.jp/alignment/server/); we were able to create an alignment file to use in DCA analysis. A MATLAB implementation of direct coupling analysis reported in (143) distinguished differences between the direct information and mutual information between all protein residues. The command line argument used was matlab -nodisplay -nojvm -nosplash -r "dca \$INPUT ALIGNED FASTA \$OUT FILE". The DCA implementation used the input aligned fasta file in its calculations, outputting a file with N(N-1)/2 (N = length of the sequences) rows and four columns: residue i (column 1), residue j (column 2), MI(i,j) (Mutual Information between i and j), and DI(i,j) (Direct Information between i and j). All inserts columns were removed from the alignment during the analysis. Concluding this analysis, a simple python script was used to remove all rows in which residues i and j were within five residue numbers of each other. This was done to eliminate false positive residue interactions caused by their proximity to

other amino acids. Mutual information was later screened to signify relatedness between two residues.

Chapter 4 Additional research findings involving PhoU

4.1 Metal Binding

As we analyzed the metal binding curves of PhoU with various metals, a pattern appeared that may be significant. As seen in Fig.S3, it appears that at lower concentrations of magnesium the fluorescence is initially quenched, but as the concentration increases fluorescence is enhanced. This trend appeared consistently in our experiments. We did not see the same trend with manganese. However, it may be that the increased binding affinity for manganese made it so that we did not test concentrations low enough to see an initial quenching trend.

One possible explanation of the different effect on tryptophan fluorescence at different metal concentrations may be that when PhoU initially binds metal, the environment around the tryptophan is less hydrophobic (based on the properties of tryptophan fluorescence as discussed in (112)), but as another metal is bound by the same PhoU, perhaps at the metal binding site proximal to the tryptophan, the local environment is then more hydrophobic or more exposed to the metal ion. This may imply a two-step mechanism for PhoU binding metal where the PhoU dimer "breaths" to allow metal binding where binding of a single metal ion allows the PhoU dimer to exclude water, but when the second metal is bound the dimer is less tight and exposes the tryptophan to the metal ion and water. This metal mediated more open dimer structure may aid in allowing a sufficient portion of the PhoU in the cell to be in a monomer conformation to interact with the membrane and be sequestered to the cellular localization of PhoR and PstSCAB transporter.

One model for PhoU function is that soluble PhoU is present as a dimer, but a fraction of PhoU may be found as monomers where the metal bound allows it to interact with the

phospholipid head groups of the membrane and localize near PhoR and PstB. Then, PhoU monomer interaction with PstB in the open conformation (associated with phosphate transport indicating a high phosphate environment) allows PhoU to specifically interact with PhoR and trigger phosphatase activity. If PhoU interacts with the membrane through the metal binding surface, perhaps binding metal allows PhoU to localize to the membrane to be in a higher effective concentration near membrane bound PhoR, allowing for proper interaction. Loss of metal binding activity can be made up for by over expressing PhoU, thus having a sufficient number so that the small fraction of PhoU in monomeric states can interact with PhoR independent of metal mediated membrane interaction.

4.2 Phylogeny of bacteria and gene organization of *phoB*, *phoR*, *pstS*, *pstC*, *pstA*, *pstB*, and *phoU*

As we collected sequences for DCA analysis, several different gene organizations of the Pho regulon expression control genes were identified. We created a phylogenetic tree based on the various gene orders to identify branches where various genes may have been altered or lost using various species of proteobacteria (Figure 4.1). The phylogenetic tree was generated using iTOL Interactive Tree Of Life webserver (144, 145). The general trend appears to follow known phylogenetic branching with genes being rearranged and lost with different speciation events.

It is interesting to note that species of the epsilonproteobacteria do not appear to have any genomic phoU genes. Given that many epsilonproteobacteria live in the digestive tract of various hosts, or in the deep ocean, it may be that the fairly constant phosphate concentration of these environments did not provide sufficient evolutionary selection to maintain this signaling system

and so it has been lost. This may also explain the lack of annotated phosphate regulon control genes in *Neisseria meningitidis*.



Figure 4.1 Phylogenetic Tree of Pho regulon control gene arrangements.

This tree was constructed with iTOL Interactive Tree Of Life webserver. Bacterial genomes were searched using KEGG webserver for annotated genes. Species that did not have an annotated *phoU* gene were checked by running a BLAST search against *E. coli* MG1655 PhoU protein and no clear PhoU protein sequences were found.

The alphaproteobacteria species highlighted in our trees do not appear to have *phoR* and *phoB* as a single operon, but maintain the *pstSCABphoU* order of genes. With *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* and *Rhodopseudomonas palustris*, it appears that the *pstSCABphoU* operon has inserted between the *phoB* and *phoR* genes. However, with *Brucella melitensis* and *Brucella suis* it appears that the *phoR* gene from this group has relocated to another area of the chromosome.

Also, the *Coxiella burnetii* genome analyzed did not show any *pstSCABphoU* genes. This is not unexpected given the obligate intracellular nature of *C. burnetii*. These genes may have been lost due to the environment that this bacteria inhabits maintains a fairly constant concentration of phosphate as part of the normal homeostasis of the host cells. Perhaps the remaining *phoBphoR* operon in this species has been co-opted for some other purpose than the phosphate response.





This tree was created using the program Mesquite: A modular system for evolutionary analysis version: 3.01 (146). This tree shows black branches as where the *pstSCAB* genes are found as a single operon on the chromosome. White branches are where the *pstSCAB* genes are not found as a single operon in the species shown. On the right of the tree, green boxes represent the presence and white boxes represent the absence of *phoBphoR* genes as an operon, *pstSCABphoU* genes as an operon, and the *pstSCAB* genes as an operon respectively.
4.3 Attempts to confirm protein/protein interactions

Initially, to further characterize residues involved in PhoU/PhoR interaction we utilized the BACTH system. With this system, protein interaction is linked to the reporter cells ability to grow with maltose as the sole carbon source. We used this phenotype as a selection for a screen of potential compensatory mutations in PhoU or PhoR mutant proteins, that we identified significant loss of interaction, that restored interaction. For example, we created a mutant library of *phoR* containing plasmids by growing them in XL1 Red (Agilent Technologies) cells for several generations. This library of plasmids was used to transform BTH101 cells containing a corresponding *phoU35* containing plasmid that showed weak interaction with wildtype PhoR. The cells were then grown on maltose indicator plates to select for cells where interaction was restored. Potential compensatory mutants were isolated, re-transformed to confirm phenotype, and sequenced to identify mutations that restored interaction. Unfortunately, none of the potential compensatory mutants examined showed mutations in the genes we were studying.

One possible explanation for this finding may be that with the initial mutant proteins, whose interaction was significantly weaker than the wildtype but still existent, significant interaction was restored by mutations in promoter sequences or in regulator proteins that allowed increased expression of the mutant protein from the plasmid, thus giving the appearance of restored interaction.

With our predicted docking model identified, we wanted to confirm the sites of interaction using protein crosslinking and/or co-elution studies. Specifically, we cloned mutants of PhoU that would code for a cysteine residue at the A147 position similar to our scanning mutagenesis of PhoR's PAS domain. We then attempted to identify specific crosslinking of the

mutant PhoU with various PhoR mutants that contained cysteine residues at predicted interaction sites (PhoU AR147,148AC; PhoU MD149,150AC; PhoR RD159, 160AC; PhoR FS161,162A; and PhoR DA109,110AC (as a negative control because the 109,110 sites do not appear to interact with PhoU in our docking model)). Unfortunately, every condition that was tested showed crosslinking of all samples, even the negative controls. It appears that the native cysteine residues of wildtype PhoU can crosslink with the cysteine containing PhoR proteins nonspecifically under all the conditions we tested.

For co-elution studies, we based our conditions on the conditions used to confirm the initial PhoU/PhoR interaction (Figure 2.3C). We used various PhoU mutants in an attempt to confirm the weaker interaction of PhoU with PhoR seen in our BACTH analysis of PhoU A147E (Figure 3.5A). However, we could not find conditions that specifically allowed native PhoU to co-elute with PhoR but prevented the co-elution of PhoU A147E. Given that the BACTH showed the PhoU A147E maintained a significant amount of interaction with PhoR, it may be that co-elution is not sensitive enough to resolve the small but significant difference between the binding affinity of PhoU versus PhoU A147E binding to PhoR.

4.4 Attempts to isolate a PhoU mutant that signals independently of PstSCAB

One question that we had as we have studied the role of PhoU in Pho regulon expression control was: can PhoU cause the shift to PhoR phosphatase activity in the absence of PstSCAB proteins. We attempted to address this question with the reconstructed signaling system in BW26337 cells (Fig 3.2). We saw that wildtype PhoU could not function to signal in the absence of the PstSCAB proteins in our initial studies. However, we wondered if there were any possible mutations in PhoU that could allow for signaling to PhoR in the absence of the PstSCAB

complex. To test this theory, we mutated the p116U2 plasmid (a plasmid that contains a wildtype copy of *phoU*) using XL1 cells (Agilent Technologies) to create a library of mutated *phoU* genes encoded on the pKG116 plasmid. We transformed this mutated library of plasmids into BW26337 cells and plated the cells onto LB plates. After colonies formed, an agar overlay containing 5-Bromo 4-Cloro 3-Indolyl Phosphate, p-Toluidine Salt (X-Phos) allowed for the differentiation of cells where regulation was dysfunctional (blue colonies like the BW26337 parent phenotype) and cells that no longer expressed AP in the high phosphate growth conditions (white colonies, as would be expected if the plasmid encoded PhoU restored negative regulation in the absence of the PstSCAB complex).

We screened >164,000 colonies and picked several white colonies. We found a frequency of ~0.54% of colonies with a white phenotype. However, with subsequent rounds of growth, most of the white colonies isolated returned to the blue phenotype. A few plasmids that maintained the white phenotype after repeated retransformation into BW26337 were sequenced, but no mutation in *phoU* was identified. Based on our work, we believe it is unlikely that any minor mutation will allow PhoU to signal to PhoR in the absence of the PstSCAB complex. This correlates with the finding that even in the PstS mutant background, the PstC, PstA, and PstB proteins are necessary for a PitA or PitB mediated suppression of the mutant phenotype (59). The high frequency of white colonies may be due to an increased mutation rate linked to the absence of functional repression of the PhoR/PhoB expression control system.

5.1 Future work

The methods used in these studies have potential to help better understand the signaling mechanism of the Pho regulon and have potential application to a variety of other signal transduction systems. Specifically, studies of the PhoU/PstB interaction have been difficult due to the relatively weak interaction (note the absolute values of the BACTH analysis of PhoU/PstB interactions versus PhoU/PhoR in Figure 3.5).

Interestingly, the EIIA proteins of various phosphotransferase systems have come up a few times in relation to various Pho regulon expression control genes. Specifically, the EIIA from the glucose phosphotransferase system is known to bind and inhibit transport of various transporters (51). However, the EIIA protein of the nitrogen-related phosphotransferase system has been shown to interact with PhoR and alter activity (68). In addressing the function of PhoU, it also appears to interact with an ABC transporter to limit transport and bind to PhoR to alter its activity. While the sequences and secondary structures of the EIIA protein and PhoU do not share high identity, perhaps they still function in similar manners. It would be interesting to observe the effect that EIIA and PhoU have on each other in binding and modulating PhoR activity (68). These study methods may be used to identify additional proteins that interact in this system, like an EIIA protein, and characterize their effect on signaling phosphate and identify potential cross-regulation mechanisms of various systems in *E. coli*.

5.1.1 PhoU and PstB

Using DCA to compare PstB sequences with PhoU sequences within the same species of bacteria may identify potential sites of interaction on each protein. Once potential sites are identified, these sites could then be mutated to test for loss of interaction. Additionally, sites may be mutated to cysteine residues and interaction may be confirmed through crosslinking experiments. Knowing the sites of interaction may allow a study where specific mutations disrupt interaction and further mutation of the predicted interaction interface may restore interaction (similar to work done with histidine kinases and response regulators in (26)).

If specific surface residues are identified that are responsible for PhoU/PstB interaction, docking models based on PhoU and PstB modeled structures can be identified where the sites of interaction of both proteins are in close proximity. With a PhoU/PstB docking model, perhaps a full signaling complex structural model may be proposed by docking the PstSCAB, PhoU, and PhoR protein structures as a complete phosphate signaling complex.

5.1.2 Complex isolation

Furthermore, using combinations of cysteine mutant PstB, PhoU, and PhoR perhaps an entire signaling complex could be crosslinked and isolated. This would confirm the signaling complex hypothesis that has been proposed for years but not yet confirmed with experimental data. Isolating the complex would be significant evidence for our proposed signaling mechanism for the Pho regulon's response to environmental phosphate levels. Additionally, with an entire complex isolated, perhaps co-elution experiments could identify if other proteins also interact with the complex. While there is no evidence that *E. coli* requires any proteins in addition to the PstSCAB, PhoU, PhoR, and PhoB proteins, perhaps other proteins may interact and modify the phosphate response in *E. coli*, like the EIIA^{Ntr}. Identifying all of the players that have an effect

on PhoR/PhoB mediated activation may elucidate how the Pho regulon is involved in virulence in many species and other potential cross-regulation of bacterial systems with the phosphate response.

5.2 Conclusions

This work has led to significant progress toward understanding PhoU's role in phosphate signaling in *E. coli*. Our work shows that the highly conserved residues of PhoU may play a role in metal binding and affect signaling function of PhoU, but the loss of signaling can be overcome with over expression of mutant PhoU. These results imply that metal binding may be essential for proper cellular localization of PhoU but not essential for direct signaling activity. This tends to preclude the hypothesis that PhoU acts as an enzyme. If metals were essential cofactors for enzymatic activity, overexpressed non-metal binding mutant proteins should not show any signaling activity.

We have shown that PhoU does in fact interact with PhoR at its PAS domain and also with PstB. This interaction adds evidence for the hypothesis that signaling occurs through the formation of a signaling complex between the PstSCAB transporter, PhoU, and PhoR. Additionally, we have identified residues in PhoU and PhoR that are important for protein/protein interaction. A potential docking model of PhoU and PhoR where these residues are found in close proximity has been proposed and tested by comparing the model with DCA results of co-varying residues in PhoU and PhoR. This model implies a potential molecular mechanism for PhoU mediated signaling to PhoR to alter the kinase/phosphatase activity through direct interaction with the CA domain of PhoR.

Future work characterizing the PhoU/PstB interaction as well as identifying the whole signaling complex may explain more fully how interaction with PstB can allow PhoU to signal for PhoR phosphatase activity. Identifying a structure of PstB associated with phosphate transport may aid in more fully understanding the conformational arrangement of proteins in ABC transporters during active transport. These results would answer remaining questions about this signaling system that has been studied for many years.

Supplementary Tables and Figures

Table S.1 Oligonucleotides

Primer name	Sequence 5'-3'
PstBfor	GACGCAGGCCCATATGAGTATGGTTGAAACTGCCCCGAGTAAAATTCAGG
PstBrev	GACGCAGGCCGGTACCTCAACCGTAACGACCGGTGATGTAG
PhoUfor	AAACATATTTCCGGCCAGTTCAACGCCGAACTGG
PhoUrev	GCGAAGCTTTTATTTGTCGCTATCTTTCCCCGCCAGCAGTTTATCCAGC
PhoUCHis for	AAGATAGCGACAAACACCACCACCACCACCACCAAGGTACCGAGCTCCTCGA
PhoUCHis rev	TCGAGGAGCTCGGTACCTTAGTGGTGGTGGTGGTGGTGTTTGTCGCTATCTT
D58A forward	CGCGTCATCGAAGGCGCAAAGAACGTCAACATGATGG
D58A reverse	CCATCATGTTGACGTTCTTTGCGCCTTCGATGACGCG
D85A forward	CCGACGGCGAGCGCACTGCGACTGGTTA
D85A reverse	TAACCAGTCGCAGTGCGCTCGCCGTCGG
E100A forward	CCATTGCCGAGCTGGCTCGTATTGGCGACG
E100A reverse	CGTCGCCAATACGAGCCAGCTCGGCAATGG
R101A forward	ATTGCCGAGCTGGAGGCAATTGGCGACGTGGCGG
R101A reverse	CCGCCACGTCGCCAATTGCCTCCAGCTCGGCAAT
E200A forward	GCGCGTTCTATCGCACGTATTGGCGACC
E200A reverse	GGTCGCCAATACGTGCGATAGAACGCGC
R201A forward	GCGCGTTCTATCGAAGCAATTGGCGACCGCTGCC
R201A reverse	GGCAGCGGTCGCCAATTGCTTCGATAGAACGCGC
D204A forward	CTATCGAACGTATTGGCGCACGCTGCCAGAATATTTGTGA
D204A reverse	TCACAAATATTCTGGCAGCGTGCGCCAATACGTTCGATAG
D58A, N62A for	GCGTCATCGAAGGCGCCAAGAACGTCGCCATGATGGAAGTGGC
D58A, N62A rev	GCCACTTCCATCATGGCGACGTTCTTGGCGCCTTCGATGACGC
E100A,R101A for	CCATTGCCGAGCTGGCGGCTATTGGCGACGTGGC
E100A R101A rev	GCCACGTCGCCAATAGCCGCCAGCTCGGCAATGG
E200A R201A for	GCGCGCGTTCTATCGCAGCTATTGGCGACCGCTG
E200A R202A rev	CAGCGGTCGCCAATAGCTGCGATAGAACGCGCGC
PhoRfor	CCAGGTCATATGCTGGAACGGCTGTCGTGGAAAAG
PhoR rev	CCAGGTGGTACCTTAATCGCTGTTTTTGGCAATTAAACGTTCCGGG
PhoRNHis for	TAAAGGAGTGTCATATGCACCATCACCATCACCATCTGGAACGGCTGTCGTG
PhoRNHis rev	CACGACAGCCGTTCCAGATGGTGATGGTGATGGTGCATATGACACTCCTTTA
PstBHis rev	GTA GGTACC TCAGTGGTGGTGGTGGTGGTGGTGACCGTAACGACCG
PhoU BACTH for	GACTGACTGA TCTAGA CGGTGGTATGGACAGTCTCAATCTTAATAAACATATTTCCG
PhoU BACTH rev	GACTGACTGAGGTACCTTATTTGTCGCTATCTTTCCCCGCC
PstB BATCHfor	GACTGACTGATCTAGACGGTGGTATGAGTATGGTTGAAACTGCCCCG
PstB BATCHrev	GACTGACTGA GGTACC TCAACCGTAACGACCGGTGATGTA
PhoR BACTH for	GACTGACTGATCTAGACGGTGGTATGGTGCTGGAACGGCTGTCGTGGAAAAGGCTGG
PhoR CR BACTH for	GACTGACTGA TCTAGA CGGTGGTATGCGCAGTATGACCCCGCCACCGGGGCGTGGTA
PhoR PAS BACTH for	GACTGACTGA TCTAGA CGGTGGTATGCTGCCCGACGCGGTGGTGCTGACCACGGAAG
PhoR DHp BACTH for	GACTGACTGATCTAGACGGTGGTATGACGCAATATCTGAAAAACGCGTGATTTTTCTCGC
PhoR CA BACTH for	GACTGACTGATCTAGACGGTGGTATGGAAGCCGCACCGACGCATTTGCTCAATGAA
PhoR BACTH rev	GACTGACTGAGGTACCTTAATCGCTGTTTTTGGCAATTAA
PhoR DHp BACTH rev	GACTGACTGAGGTACCTTATTCTATTTCGACAGCGTCAGCAA
PhoR PAS BACTH rev	GACTGACTGAGGTACCTTATTGCGTGACATCACGCGCCACCAT
PhoR CR BACTH rev	GACTGACTGAGGTACCTTACGACTCCGCGCCGCTACGAAAGCG

Bold indicates restriction sites

Primer name	Sequence 5'-3'
pstSFor	GCATGATCGTCATATGAAAGTTATGCGTACCACCGTC
pstBRev	GCATGACGTGGTACCTCAACCGTAACGACCGGTGAT
A147E	GCTGGACGCGTTCGAGCGGATGGACATTG
A147E antisense	CAATGTCCATCCGCTCGAACGCGTCCAGC
А147К	CGTGCTGGACGCGTTCAAGCGGATGGACATTGAC
A147K antisense	GTCAATGTCCATCCGCTTGAACGCGTCCAGCACG
R148A	TGGACGCGTTCGCGGCGATGGACATTGACG
R148A antisense	CGTCAATGTCCATCGCCGCGAACGCGTCCA
R148E	CTGGACGCGTTCGCGGAGATGGACATTGACGA
R148E antisense	TCGTCAATGTCCATCTCCGCGAACGCGTCCAG
D150A	GTTCGCGCGGATGGCCATTGACGAAGCGG
D150A antisense	CCGCTTCGTCAATGGCCATCCGCGCGAAC
109 Sphl	CGCGGAGTCGCTGCCCGCATGCGTGGTGCTGACCACGG
109 SphI antisense	CCGTGGTCAGCACCACGCATGCGGGCAGCGACTCCGCG
111 SphI	AGTCGCTGCCCGACGCGGCATGCCTGACCACGGAAGAGGG
111 SphI antisense	CCCTCTTCCGTGGTCAGGCATGCCGCGTCGGGCAGCGACT
113 SphI	GCCCGACGCGGTGGTGGCATGCACGGAAGAGGGCGGTA
113 SphI antisense	TACCGCCCTCTTCCGTGCATGCCACCACCGCGTCGGGC
115 SphI	CGACGCGGTGGTGCTGACCGCATGCGAGGGCGGTATTTTCTGGT
115 SphI antisense	ACCAGAAAATACCGCCCTCGCATGCGGTCAGCACCACCGCGTCG
117 SphI	CGGTGGTGCTGACCACGGAAGCATGCGGTATTTTCTGGT
117 SphI antisense	ACCAGAAAATACCGCATGCTTCCGTGGTCAGCACCACCG
119 Sphl	GCTGACCACGGAAGAGGGCGCATGCTTCTGGTGTAACGGTCTGG
119 SphI antisense	CCAGACCGTTACACCAGAAGCATGCGCCCTCTTCCGTGGTCAGC
121 Sphl	CCACGGAAGAGGGCGGTATTGCATGCTGTAACGGTCTGGCGC
121 SphI antisense	GCGCCAGACCGTTACAGCATGCAATACCGCCCTCTTCCGTGG
123 Sphl	CAAGAATTTGTTGCGCCAGACCGCATGCCCAGAAAATACCGCCCTCTTCCG
123 SphI antisense	CGGAAGAGGGCGGTATTTTCTGGGCATGCGGTCTGGCGCAACAAATTCTTG
125 SphI	CGCAAACCAAGAATTTGTTGCGCGCATGCGTTACACCAGAAAATACCGCCCTC
125 SphI antisense	GAGGGCGGTATTTTCTGGTGTAACGCATGCGCGCAACAAATTCTTGGTTTGCG
127 Sphl	TATTTTCTGGTGTAACGGTCTGGCATGCCAAATTCTTGGTTTGCGCTGGC
127 SphI antisense	GCCAGCGCAAACCAAGAATTTGGCATGCCAGACCGTTACACCAGAAAATA
129 Sphl	GTGTAACGGTCTGGCGCAAGCATGCCTTGGTTTGCGCTGGCCGG
129 SphI antisense	CCGGCCAGCGCAAACCAAGGCATGCTTGCGCCAGACCGTTACAC
131 Sphl	GGTGTAACGGTCTGGCGCAACAAATTGCATGCTTGCGCTGGCCGGA
131 SphI antisense	TCCGGCCAGCGCAAGCATGCAATTTGTTGCGCCAGACCGTTACACC
133 Sphl	GTAACGGTCTGGCGCAACAAATTCTTGGTGCATGCTGGCCGGAAGATAAC
133 SphI antisense	GTTATCTTCCGGCCAGCATGCACCAAGAATTTGTTGCGCCAGACCGTTAC
135 SphI	GGCGCAACAAATTCTTGGTTTGCGCGCATGCGAAGATAACGGGCAGAACATCCTTA
135 SphI antisense	TAAGGATGTTCTGCCCGTTATCTTCGCATGCGCGCAAACCAAGAATTTGTTGCGCC
137 SphI	ATTCTTGGTTTGCGCTGGCCGGCATGCAACGGGCAGAACATCCTTAAC
137 SphI antisense	GTTAAGGATGTTCTGCCCGTTGCATGCCGGCCAGCGCAAACCAAGAAT
139 SphI	CTTGGTTTGCGCTGGCCGGAAGATGCATGCCAGAACATCCTTAACCTACTG



Figure +S.1 PhoU-His Quad is a dimer.

E. coli PhoU-His E100A, R101A, E200A, R101A (Quad) was purified and run on a gel filtration column similar to Fig. 4A and elutes as at a similar size.



Figure S.2 Metal binding does not affect PhoU dimerization.

For analysis, 0.6 ml of purified *E. coli* PhoU-His (0.65 mg/ml) was treated with 2 μ l of 0.5 M EDTA, or EDTA and 20 μ l of 1 M MgSO₄ Then, untreated PhoU-His and the two treated samples were run on a gel filtration column. We see that all of the samples eluted at similar volumes.



Figure S.3 PhoU F194W binds magnesium.

Scans of PhoU F194W with addition of $MgCl_2$ were performed similar to those shown in Figure 2.5. The mean change in fluorescence between 345 nm to 355 nm was plotted and a binding curve was fit to the data (error bars represent +/- standard error n = 3).

							4.4						-			l
an Talan Alizzan Sanda a geographi Alizzan						19.90						2.03	5 14 960 11 7		an ang an	l,
						e la sur Charsan						2000	-4040 C //		rik (t§ k§di) Na introposi	
na se en el ser el proposition de la companya de la En esta en en el proposition de la companya de la co						al a sec						200	4961.2		en de seu a	l,
						el di 300 e tanàna						200	-40-60 C // 10-00-00		re de seare au transie	1
						eta so					-en d	i de la cale	4060.0		CHARLES AND A	I,
en en la finis de la companya de la construcción de la construcción de la construcción de la construcción de la La construcción de la construcción d						gi di 390. A tati san									ren de serve Canada anti-	
						Q14-340		808.00			nê ki û	$\tilde{\xi} > 0$	4961.7		6 (E - E - E - E - E - E - E - E - E - E	l
								19129-24 1948-24							n Herrich Brieffel A In Herrich Brieffel A	
						da so		82040		an de la		2.00	4961.2		e de seus	
an de la completa de la productiva de la completa de la completa de la completa de la completa de la completa Esta de la completa d						4,131,2900 6,131,2900					्रहेल्ला है। जुड़े के बि				n Hell (HEL) (H	
and the second state of th						QUE 200				a te e t		$\frac{1}{2} > 0.3$	sa 960 ti 17		en de service	
a na dhean Albert a Na ann an Albert an Ann an Albert an Albert an Albert an Anna an Anna an Albert an Albert Anna a' Martin Rainne an Albert						द्वात २०० द्वात २००		1868 - 1 1968 - 1			nen h. Nen h.	10 - 11 - 1 12 - 11 - 11			ne di sina Ne di sina	
						(131-340) (131-340)		96879				$\frac{1}{2} > 0.3$	sa 960 ti 17		en e	
						end son End son				a territ. A territ	nen h Rei h	1997 - 1997 1997 - 1997 - 1997 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 19			ne ne estan ne ne estan	
						418-90) 111-111				atteret.		200	-1960 C			
에는 가지 사람이 있는 것이 가지 않는 것은 것이 있는 것이 있는 것이 가지 않는 것이다. 이 사람은 것이 있는 것이 같은 것이 같은 것이 같은 것이 같은 것이 같은 것이 같이 있는 것이 같이						ena en Ena en		SCOMP SCOMP			nen h Rei h	200	anderen in Anderen i		ne ne este ne ne este	
						e - 9 (99)		86666		3 (19 e j.). 1		$\mathbb{C} > 0.3$	sc0601-7		(ie dis selet)	
		0-E					ξik (s−β) na si na	28 B.				and the second				
		ee -	21.4			11.51	ê na seri	10.0				1.016				
n Bernarden (1997) - Bernard Herner, et al Bernard (1997) - Bernard (1997) Maria Mathematika (1997) - Bernard (1997) - Bernard (1997) - Bernard (1997)							€ le trefa 8 le trefa	10.0				and the second				
and the second secon	10.032		16.4				şa de	12.0				10016				
							ξik Leβi Σik j⊆c	10.0				and the second				
and the second	10.032		26 A.				é en ruga	+E=0				100° R. 1				
							gile (seg) gile (segs	10 C				and the second s	1100			
							ş en regi	$\{ f_{i} \in I \}$				100710-1				
							€ik ta-βa sia juana	一日 一日				and the second s				
en de la companya de La companya de la comp			jan e s				e e cere	$+ \tilde{E} = U_{\rm c}$				$100^{11} R_{\odot}$				
							g in theft g in theft	19日 - 19日 19日 - 19日				and the second s	1.00			
and the second second second second second		0E	100			te se	ge (sep	+ E = 1		17 m		10016-0				
			an a				g te doego g te doego	(11) (11) (11)				and the second s				
			15.				e e trefte e tradición	11.0				100110-0				
			an a'			n eu N eu	é el reco	110				100 B				
						th eu	ξik (s−β) statusti	「長」と				and the second				
			sis An an an an	C. R. W	n ^{er} Lan an R				1.7.4.1.6							ļ
and the second state of the se			010	6.636			0.9510-3		17-416			69 (D.)	97.08		(Fight 1994)(E)	
(a) A. A. S. M. L. M. L. M. Lee, "Interpret of an interpret of the second seco	i Ltori en en Ltori en entre	erten. Erten		6 636 6 636	and a second and a second				Lisea. L'Esa G			en dat. En dat	ing provide The provide		1999年1月1日(1993年)。 1999年1日(1993年)(1993年)	
	LE SESSO		0.00	6 6 6	an a se		0.0010-3		1. T. H. L. P			en det	97.00		and a second	ļ
n en service de la constante de la constante en la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante d La constante de la constante de			n en	0.636	111 - 11 111 - 114		10.0010-00 10.0010-0		la sina n Li Tinggi A			en der En der	an the second se		serie confider series confider	
			010	6 6 6	1911 - 1918 1917 - 1919		0.0351003 0.055100		l The P			es date es date	19 × 14 ;		and a second of the second s	
	10.000		0.00	0.636			10.95 (%) 10.95 (%)		n sentre Li Tennië			54 - 141 19	in the second		serie contration contra contration	
		ERLER Extension	104 C. 104 C.	6 636 6 636	ann a Re ann a Re		a de Berraria Los de Lacia		L Treaction A Treaction			es inte es inte	 Excelsion 		an an an Angel An an	ļ
	10.000		0.0	6.636			0.000100		1.7 - 1.6		68 (-E)	54 (D)	1.00		and states	
	a Carlo Radian A Carlo Radian		0 - 1 11 - 1	6 636 6 636	ann a Re ann a Re				1,7 mil 6 1,7 mil 6			es que Es que	ing a cara Tiga cara			
	$(\underline{1},\underline{1}) \in \overline{\mathbb{F}} \times \overline{\mathbb{F}}$		(÷ 1	6.636			0.9510-9		L Tread			99 (14) 1	1990 B.		an a seithe	
				6 636 6 636	and a de and a de				1,7 – 1,6 1,7 – 1,6			54 - 141 54 - 141	ing a state of The state of			
			03.5	6.636	1917 - 1918 1917 - 1918		0.00160		1.7 mil (6- 11) -	19 × 18 ×		an a seite de la companya de la comp	
		erender Breiherter	n en	0.010	111 - 115 111 - 116		10.9510-0 10.9510-0		La nun L'Unun			es que	a sure a		ingen er sinderige Konstanten er sinderige i	ĺ,
			0.00	6 636 6 636	an a R an R		a de la Carlo Competitione		la Tress P Comunica			es det Suite	States States		را چې د د او مو د د ده د مورو د	
	11.000		Ç44	6.636			0.06190		n na star Li Torra di			р. 141	60.00	1 1	an a	ļ
			0.11	6 E : E			CONSTRUCT		1,7 ma. 6			PH 111	Stores.	 (1) - a (d); 		
and the second																
and an an anti-stand and a stand and an																
an an an Arrang Barang ang kanang ang kanang ka Kanang kanang																

te - Et entre tra segunda en gra da tra da presenta da segunda en la composición de la composición de la compo						
ude (1999), constant a sub-constant de l'Alexandre (1998) El secondo de la sub-constant de la sub-constant de la sub-constant de la sub-						
en 1992 - El Color Color de La Galeria de la color de la Calencia de La Secolar de Maria. Color de la Calencia de Cal						
					 A Education 3 	and a free table to
$e^{-i\omega_{2}}e^{-i\omega_{2$						
an Alista and second reads and an argument and			e da terre da ger			
			e valte e searce			
			 A statistic statistics 			
a an	ger Lite La Latin Aler Maria Cara Aler	ina dia dia dia dia dia dia dia dia dia di	ika Romanistan (Karabas Romanistan (Karabas)			
	jor Lokes aktiven Lokes aktiven Skesakoven	100 - 100 101-10-106 - 100 101-10-106 - 100 101-10-106 - 100	ja Bolista (M. 1994) Bolista (M. 1994) Bolista (M. 1994) Bolista (M. 1994)			
	227 214 22 22 21 1924 214 22 22 21 1924 214 22 22 22 1924 214 22 22 22 1924 214 22 22 22 1924	200 - 100 101 - 100 - 100	14. 14. 14. 14. 14. 14. 14. 14. 14. 14. 14.			
		200 - 100 101 - 010 - 010 101 - 010 - 010	72. 8 - 11. (0.1.) 9 - 11. (0.1.)			
		 第二日 第二日<td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td>				
a en la companya de l 2019 El companya de la companya de l 2019 El companya de la companya de l 2019 El companya de la companya de l 2019 El companya de la companya de la companya de la comp de la companya de la comp de la companya		 第二日、日本の時代の時代の時代の時代の時代の時代の時代の時代の時代の時代の時代の時代の時代の				
(a) Sec. 2. Construction of the construction of the second sec		an a				
(a) and (a) and (b)	27 24 6 24 7 24 24 24 6 24 24 24 7 7 7 8 24 6 24 24 7 7 8 24 6 24 24 7 7 8 24 7 7 7 8 24 7 7 7 8 24 7 7 7 7 7 8 24 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	1000 100				
alam (2019) - Sanahar Agam (2019) 2019 - Dagona Sanahar Agam (2019) 2019 - Dagona Grand, James (2019) - Sanahar Anagara (2019) 2019 - Dagona Grand, James (2019) - Sanahar Anagara 2019 - Sanahar Andrew (2019) - Sanahar Agama (2019) 2019 - Sanahar Andrew (2019) - Sanahar Andrew (2019) 2019 - Sanahar Andrew (2019) - Sanahar Andrew (2019)						
And C.		And An				
And C.						
And C. L. C. M. C. M. C. M. Margari, J. M. 1999. ComP. J. L. M. M. M. Schwart, and J. M. Ser, J. M. Markat, M. M. 1999. ComP. J. M. M. M. Schwart, and J. M. Ser, J. M. Markat, M. M. 1999. M. M. Markat, M. M. M. Schwart, J. M. Schwart, M. M. 1999. M. M. Markat, M. M. M. Schwart, J. M. M. M. J. Markat, J. & Schwart, M. 1999. M. M. Markat, M. M. M. Schwart, J. M. M. M. J. Markat, J. & Schwart, M. 1999. M. M. Markat, M. M. M. Schwart, M. M. 2019. M. M. Markat, M. M. M. Markat, J. M. M. J. Markat, J. & Schwart, M. 1999. M. M. Markat, M. M. Markat, J. M. M. M. J. Markat, J. & Schwart, M. 1999. M. M. Markat, M. M. Markat, J. M. Markat, J. M. Markat, J. & Schwart, M. 1999. M. M. Markat, J. M. M. Markat, J. M. Markat, J. M. 1999. M. M. Markat, M. M. Markat, J. M. Markat, J. M. 1999. M. M. Markat, M. M. Markat, J. M. 1999. M. M. Markat, M. M. 1999. M. M. Markat, J. M. 1999. M. Markat, J. M. 1999. M. Markat, J. M. 1999. M. Markat, M. 1999. M. Markat, J. M. 1999. M. Markat, J. M. 1999. M. Markat, J. Markat, J. Markat, J. Markat, J. Markat, Markat, J. Markat, Markat, M. 1999. M. Markat, M. 1999						
(a) and (a) and (b) and (b) and (c) and (b) and (c)						
 Andre J., La Martin, C., Carley, M., 2007. Stern P., Charles, J., Barres, J., Charles, J., Charles, J., Barres, J., Charles, J., Ch				10 10 447200000		
(a) Sector (C. C. C	200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200					
(a) Sec. 2. Construction of the constructio	1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000					
 Andre J., La M. (2014) The support of the	200 201 201 201 201 201 201 201					
 Andre J., A. (2019) C. C. C. (2019) (2019) C. M. (2019) C. C. C. C. (2019) (2019) C. M. (2019) C. C. C. (2019) (2019) (2019) (2019) C. M. (2019) C. C. (2019) (2019) (2019) (2019) (2019) C. M. (2019) C. (2019) (2019) (2019) (2019) (2019) (2019) C. M. (2019) C. (2019) (20	1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 10000 1000 1000 10000 10000 1000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 10000 100000 100000			1 1 2 1 2 2		
 Andre J., L. L. M. A. L. T. K. LEY, M. M.						
 Andre V. J., A. M. M.	200 201 201 201 201 201 201 201					
 Andre J., La V. M. K. J., K. K. L. (2009). C. M. K. J. (2009). A second system of the second system of the sys						
 Andre J., L. L. M. K. J., K. L. K. L. K. M. K. K.						
анала у прости проста проста слава стали у прости проста проста слава стали у прости проста у проста проста и стали стали у прости проста у проста и стали у у проблеми проста у прости проста и стали у проста и стали проста у проста у проста и стали и стали и стали стали и стали у проста и стали и стали и стали и стали стали и стали и проста у проста у проста и стали и стали и стали и проста у проста у проста и стали и стали и стали и проста у проста у проста и стали и стали и проста у проста у проста и стали и стали и проста у проста у проста и стали и стали и проста у проста у проста и стали и стали и проста у проста у проста и стали и стали и проста у проста у проста и стали и стали и проста у проста у проста и стали и стали и проста у проста у проста и стали и стали и проста у проста у проста и стали и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у проста у проста и стали и проста у проста у п						
ο κατα το που παι το ποιο το ποιο το ποιο 1997 Το το ποιο ποιο ποιο το ποιο το ποιο ποιο						
 Andre J., La J. A. A.				10 10 40 <		
 са на супсание и селото селото селото селото селото селото супсание селото супсание супсание	200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200			1 1 4 1 4 2		
 Andre J., L. L. C. M. M. P. Marcola, J. M. 1999. C. M. C. M. M. S. M. N. M. M.				10 10 20 <		
 Andre J., L. L. M. A. P. C. M. LEVIN, A 1999. Stern P. J., Levin M. D. S. K. P. Levin, J. M. K. M. K.				1 1 1 1		
 Andre J., J. J. J. A. M. A. A.				1 1 2 2		
 Andre J., J. J. M. (1997). The second of the second seco		(1) A set of the se		10 10 10 <		
 Andre J., L. L. C. M. M. J. K. K. L. K. M. M.				1 1 1 1		
 Andre J., La Caller, C. & Conservation (2013) Sterrich, C. & Caller, C. & Conservation (2014) Sterrich, C. & Caller, C. & Sterrich, C. & Sterrich, C. & Conservation (2014) Sterrich, C. & Sterrich, Sterrich, Sterrich, Sterrich, Sterrich, Sterrich, Sterrich, Sterrich,				1 1 2 2		
 Andre J., L. L. M. A. P. C. M. Level, J. M. 1999. Stern P. J., Level A. P. J. Schwart, A. J. Schwart, J. M. 1999. Stern P. J. M. 1999. A second statistic space of the statistic sp		2. 一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的人類。 一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的人名 一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的		1 1 1 1		
 Andre J., Le Collection D., Processor J. (2019) Stern D., Charles J., Barres J., Karles J.,		一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部一部				
 Andre J., J. J. J. A. (1997). The sequence of the seq						
 Andre J., J. J. J. A. M. A. D. K. J. K. M. J. M. M.		(a) A second		1 1 1 1		
 Andre J., J. J. J. A. M. M.		(a) A second				
 Andre J., J. J. J. K. M. K. J. K. K. J. K. K.		• A state of the second sec				
 Andre J., J. J. J. A. A. A. S. A. A. J. A. A.		2. 一种植物和植物植物和植物植物和植物植物和植物和植物、化合物、化合物、化合物、化合物、化合物、化合物、化合物、化合物、化合物、化合				
 Andre J., J. J. J. A. (1997). The sequence of the second second		2. 一個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個個	$\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}$			
 Andre J., J. J. J. A. M. A. P. A. A. J. A. M. M. A. M. M.		• A strain of the second se				
 Andre J., J. J. J. K. M. K. K.		(1) 一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的				
 Andre J., J. J. J. A. M. A. D. A. A. J. A. M. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. M.		2. 新聞都會理解。 一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的一個人的				
 Andre J., J. J. J. K. M. A. S. K. LEVIN, J. M. M. MARTINE, M. M.		(a) A second				

	and the second				
na hara na sanga na sanga Tabula ka na sanga na sanga na sanga na sangan na sangan na sangan na sangan na sang Na sangan na		 Base and second and the Charles of Base and the second seco	e engle engle engle i de tradició de la gradició de la COS de la		
		 Begin BELLING MEET OF DESCRIPTION 	ى بەر يەر يەر يەر يەر يەر يەر يەر يەر يەر ي		
	SHELFTELL COLUMNER OF LO	· 电心理学校 计算机算法 化合金化合金化合金化合金化合金化合金	enderstation en de	et de l'été de la comme de la cale	
化乙酰胺酸乙酸乙酰氨基 化氯化物医氯化物医氯化乙酸乙酯	一种的现在分词是不是不可以把自己的的变形。	server references there are reference	经济资源的资源 化化学合金	et et de la contrata	
an an walling an an an the grade in the state of the state		 Book (FEE) and FEG(FEE) and FEE) 	부산인인하이었던 이번 이 분석인인인 1999년 - 1999년 - 1999년 199		
ne an ann an Anna an Anna an Anna an Anna an Anna an Anna an Anna. An an Anna an Anna an Anna an Anna an Anna an Anna an Anna.	 Complete March 1990, Complete March 2000, Complete Mar National Anno 2000, Complete March 2000, Compl	 Market and Alexandra and Alexandr Alexandra and Alexandra a	en de la serie de la conserie Esta de la serie de la Carterie		
		and the reaction of the second			
	SHELFTELL COLUMNERSELS	· 通知法律指定的问题的问题的问题。 (1995年1月1日)	englished frage	et de l'été de la proviente de la caso d	
	一般的现在分词是不可能。 机转动转移 化环合	·····································	ender op ander en	(1) 出现了10-10-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-0	
	 BREEFFELT COLUMN REPORT 	BOAR FELSION STREET THE MERCE.	PRODUCTION OF A PROPERTY		
		 Market Report of the state of t	n det tak ti setuare Kan ha kuka setuar	(1) An Alto Antonio Distribution (Activity) (A 1977) Physical Report (1978) (1977) (1977)	
		A STATE OF A			
	SHELFTELL COLUMNED THE	and the second states and the second second	COLORADO E COLO	DAR DE BELLER STREER STREERS	
$\left(\left(\left$	CONTRACT CONTRACTOR (11)) where the form that the state of the form τ	(1) 夏夏市市委員会員 (第二年中夏市)	CONTRACTOR AND A CONTRACTOR OF A DESCRIPTION	
	 DELETELT LEEP DELETERATION 	BOARDER AND	1、1111年1月1日(1月11日) 1、1、1、1、1、1、1、1、1、1、1、1、1、1、1、1、1、1、1、	O AR UNALLASSA REPORTS AND AND	
		 Statistics and the second statistics of the statistical second statistics. 			
		Reprint a second s			
		The PERSON FRANCES OF STREET	COLUMN FOR FORMAL		
	 DELETED CONTRACTORS 	~ 100) is the set of the descent of the Core $C_{\rm e}$	COLUMN RULE FRANCE	et ES "FOUNDER OF BELLE STREET	
ne i 19 Martin en sent et state presidente de la seconda de la seconda de la seconda de la seconda de la secon	 DBEARTRELS CONTRACTORS (ED.) 	A STATE FOR AN ADDRESS OF A DECK.	 Fourier State 	et de sources d'anne de sources	
		2. 当时的公司的一个规模的第三百姓的公司。			
$(1 + 2^{-1}) S_{\alpha,\beta}^{\alpha} = (1 + 2^{-1}) S_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + (1 + 2^{-1}) S_{\alpha$		2. 当时的中心的一口的现在形式中的中心的。			
		2. 当时,1996年1月1日日,1996年1月1日日,1996年1月1日。			
ne de la conservação de la conservação da conservação de la conservação da conservação da conservação da conser En esta esta esta da conservação da conservação da conservação da conservação da conservação da conservação da c		 A PROPERTY OF A P			
		a television (1992) and the	P2 P1 grader todate		
		Construction (Britishing Decision)	REAR DOWNER STREET		
		2. 当时的中心的一口的现在分词中的中心的。			
		2. 当时的公司的 计数据存取 有效的 化分子	Protection of the field of the		
		 A state of the sta			
				NUMBER POLISER, PARAGE	
			al est de statue d'here		
and a second second A second secon					
			ana sho shi a ana		
			en al contra apro-		
	(1) 其其其一、人民治理、人民、上國共產人民 、	2. 人名英格兰尔特 合规程序公司目标开始。			
		(1) 11-10-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-1		n an an the second s	
		2. 当我的公司的公司把任何任何不必要任何。		no anna mar ann an an an	
	الله (۲۵ ۱۹ بر ۱۹ بر ۱۹۹۵ - ۲۹۹۹ (۲۰۰۹) ۱۹ بر ۱۹ بر ۱۹۹۹ - ۲۹۹۹ (۲۰۰۹)				
en en Surgeren gaar in de strongen sternen. Een Mangelen gewenen gebeuren gebeuren. Mangelen gewenen gebeuren gebeuren gebeuren.	 No. 1997 No. 1997	yan yang yang yang yang yang yang yang y			
en en Turgene en gester en angelen en generale forsen. 2017 - Margine II. en en angelen en generale generale en angelen. 2017 - Dia angelen en angelen generale en angelen en angelen en angelen en angelen en angelen en angelen en ang	 [1] [1] [2] [2] [2] [2] [2] [2] [2] [2] [2] [2				
ne na Talajan na seguna kan seguna seguna kan Proma. 1997 - Margana Santan, Santan, 1997 - Santan, Santan, 1997 - Marina Santan, S	 V. V. V				
ne e Turgeres dan ser sur un in sur dan Armes e la Tengres (La dan La dan ser e dan ser e dan ser e dan en anne un el gerere proget, esta gerered en anne e dan ser e dan ser esta dan anne dan ser e dan e dan ser ser dan ser e dan ser e dan ser e dan ser e dan e dan ser sur e dan ser e gerere un ser e dan ser e dan ser e dan en forman gerer un more e gerere un ser e dan ser e dan ser e dan ser	 [1] [1] [2] [2] [2] [2] [2] [2] [2] [2] [2] [2				
en en Turgenen general (1999), en general (1998) 2017 - Margine J., and an Galeria (1998), en general (1998) 2017 - Charles C., and an antipathies and an antipathies 2018 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), en general (1998), 2018 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), en general (1998), 2018 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), en general (1998), 2019 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), en general (1998), 2019 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), en general (1998), 2019 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), en general (1998), 2019 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), en general (1998), 2019 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), en general (1998), 2019 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), en general (1998), 2019 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), en general (1998), 2019 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), en general (1998), 2019 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), en general (1998), 2019 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), 2019 - Antipathies (1998), en general (1998), 2010 - Antipathies (1998), 2010 - An	12 12 13 12 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>				
(a) Solutions and the fill of the fill of Provides an efficiency of the fill of the solution protons. The fill of the solution.	[14] [14] Source and Comparison of the second se				
ne e Turgene og af star for og for Stread e of Tengo e Turgen og er generalet og er en	[14] [15] [16] [16] [16] [16] [16] [16] [16] [16]				
(a) A Conjunction of the conjunction of the set of the set of the conjunction of the set of the set of the set of the conjunction of the set of the	12 12 12 1 12 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>				
(c) Self Light (Self 2011) Light (Light Chronic) Self Theory of Control (Light Self (Self Chronic)) (Theory of Control (Light Self (Self Chronic))) (Theory of Control (Light Self Chronic))) (Theory of Control (Light Self Chronic)) (Theory of Control (Light Self Chronic))) (Theory of Control (Light Self Chronic))) (Theory of Control (Light Self Chronic))) (Theory of Control (Light Self Chronic)))	1/2 1/2 Support (1,2) 1/2				
(a) Solid	1/2 1/2 Sec. 1, 102 1				
Hersel Turgensen, geschlassing um die Structure (Structure) im Structure (Structure) um die Structure (Structure) structure (Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure (Structure) um die Structure (Structure) Structure (Structure) um die Structure (Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure) structure (Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure (Structure) Structure) Structure (Structure) S	12 12 12 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>				
Hersel Lugareses, gan char (Lugar), in Carlor Minesu, et al. "The accurate of the equivalence of the experimentation of the course of the experimentation of the experimentation of the experimentation the experimentation of the experimentation."	1/2 1/2 1/2				
(a) Set Transport (a) Set Transport (b) and Press. (b) Transport (b) Transport (b) and (b) a	1/2 1/2 Sec. 5, 102 1.9.9 for control (2010)				
Constructions of the state o	14 14 14 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>				
(a) A Depression of the Court of the Advances of the Advanc	1/1 1/2 1/2 1/2 1/2 1/2 1/2 1/2 1/2 1/2 1/2 1/2 1/2 1/2		1 1		
(a) Set Digital Set Set Set Control (Control (Control)) (Control (Control (Control)) (Control (Control)) (Control (Control)) (Control) (Control) (Control) (Control (Control)) (Control (Control)) (Control (Control)) (Control (Control)) (Control (Control)) (Control) (Control) (Control (Control)) (Control) (Control) (Control (Control)) (Control (Control) (Control) (Control)	1/2 1/2 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 Sec. 5. 102 1.9.16 Sec. 6.102 1.9.16 Sec				
Constructions of the state of the the state of the sta	12 100 10<		1 1		
 A. S. Lagrons, E. S. A. Lagron, J. C. Lagron, M. Sans, J. S. Lagrons, J. Lagro	1/2 1/2 Sector and Sect				
 A. S. Correspondences and the second system of the second s	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ (-1) $		1 1		
 A. S. Lagrance, particular in the control of the second system of the second system	1/2 1/2 maximum 1 <td< th=""><th></th><th>1 1</th><th></th><th></th></td<>		1 1		
 на придакти дата на при и при при Македа. на при при при при при при при при при при	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ (1,1,1) \\ (1,1,$				
 An end Degree end and the control of the second s	1/2 1/2 Marca Anale 1/2 1				
 A. S. Lagressing and the control of the second system of th	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ (1,1,1) \\ (1,1,$				
 A. S. Lagrons, E. S. A. Lagran, J. C. S. A. M. Steve, J. S. S.	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ (1,1,1) \\ (1,1,$				
 A. S. Dagenser, and M. H. L. L. M. Dagensky, M. Hans, M. S. M. S. L. M. S. M.	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ (1,1) \\ (1,$				
 A. S. Tang, and particular in the second strength of the se	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ (1,1) \\ (2,$				
 And R. Lagrand, S. S. A. A.	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c } & (1,1) \\ & (1,1$				
 A. S. Dugenski, and K. K. L. S. K. Dugenski, M. S. S.	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\$		1 2 <th2< th=""> <th2< th=""> <th2< th=""> <th2< th=""></th2<></th2<></th2<></th2<>		
 A. S. Lupersequences and the second second	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ (1,1) \\ (1,$		1 1		
 And Elizabers grant for the control of the Alfred Stream. An Theorem 2 and the analysis of t	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ (1,1) \\ (1,$				
 And Turgenser, general under soll of the second s	$\begin{array}{c} & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ &$				
 A. S. Lupersequences in a constraint of the second secon	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c } & (1,1) \\ & (1,1$				
 And Taglers et al. (2011). Control Markets A. T. Salar et al. (2011). Control Markets A. T. Salar et al. (2011). Control Markets A. S. S.	$\begin{array}{c} & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &$				
 And Turgenser, general and the set of the set	$\begin{array}{c} & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &$				
 A. S. Lagonski, S. S. Lagonski, J. S. Lagonski, P. S. S.	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c } & (-1) & ($				
 And Taglers of general and the second of the second seco	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c } & (-1) (-1) (-1) (-1) (-1) (-1) (-1) (-1)$				
 A. S. Turgers of general status of the transmission of the second status of the seco	$\begin{array}{c} & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &$				
 A. S. Lagonski, S. S. Land, J. S. Land, M. Steve, J. S. S.	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c } & (1,1) \\ & (1,1) $				
 And S. Lagonski, S. S. A. C. S. L. C. C. A. A. Solar Stream. A. T. S. L. S. A. L. S. S. A. S. S.	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\$				
 A. S. T. September 2014. A control of the first of the set of the se	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\$				

Figure S.4 Alignment of *phoU* and *phoR* genes from gammaproteobacterial species This shows the alignment of the gammaproteobacteria gene sequences that we used for our initial DCA. The first 25 species' genes are shown.

$\{1, \dots, n^{n}\} = \{1, 2\}, \{1, \dots, n^{n}, n^{n}\} \in \{1, \dots, n^{n}\}, \{1, \dots, n^{n}\}, \{1, \dots, n^{n}\}, \{1, \dots, n^{n}\}, \{1, \dots, n^{n}\}\}$			ti shekiri.					6 1						
		13日1日日 - 19月 小田山田 - 19月1日 - 19月	n de la composition En la composition de									Certina a Alta Alta	n na singé Na sa singé	
and the extended strength of the second second second second		n an an an									i ser ces		e îs Ce	det o Gen
(b) The set of setting of the base of the set of the		- 1985 - 1995 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -		888.06 £ 6 81			e <u>e t</u> e site de la constante La constante de la constante de	6 - EU / 11 - EU			e de Britan Britan	66-6 - 4 1 - 2 - 1	fillen også Stationer	
		and the second						e su c A su c			가지 아이지 않는다. 이 아이지 아이지 아이지 않는다. 이 아이지 아이지 아이지 아이지 아이지 않는다.			
		1. (a)					$(T \to QQ)$	6.50.1			一般 伊吉士		101619	
		 Interview of the second se second second sec					c = 0.01	아 아이 아이			18		a a te bib	
		and the second s	n nerge n er ster d								ierener Trielen	engi inte Réferences		
and a second second Second second		an in the second					e Ala di	e Gradaal	1.1		e le la la		The Fe	1.4.1 B.2.5
		al Hereine a					$= 5/q_{\rm e}/0$	$0 \rightarrow 0 \rightarrow 0$					$(7,1)\in\mathbb{R}$	
		all, Brian a se						Constant. Anna anna	2010 - 104 100 - 104					
a de la mais de la companya de marco de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la company A persona de la companya de la compan		TABLE A		CERCIPEURE:			n na de Al Alago III.						- 14 - 44 - 44 - 74 - 44 - 44	
		1999 1999 1999		OR COLUMN AREA			$= 5 (4, -1)^2$	€ri e i li			8 -6 ⁶ 6 -		7.635	
		a di kacala da serie da serie Serie da serie da seri					6 A. U.	e e c						
		an the second second		SECOLES SECOL										
		and a second		OR COLUMN COMPANY			6.00.00	e stat			9439.02 F			
		 The state of the state 		OR GROUP CORP.			6 A. U.	er e te t					20.86	
		in a star a la constante. No se se sentencia de la constante de la consta					a de alto de Los Antonio (10)	erie L Arie II	an an star Tanàna amin'ny fisiana					
		12.00		GEOUVEL FE			n an suit suit E de suit de				ie eren			and but
														a di si seria di seri
[14] M. Swert and S. S. Sandara and S. Sa Sandara and Sandara and Sandara Sandara and Sandara a Sandara and Sandara and Sand Sandara and Sandara and Sandara and Sandara							e contente							
$\{k_1,k_2,\dots,k_n\}$ is a space for experiment there we set i . Set		110000-0100	C 16 - 104		- <u></u>		ser esu			1.5.1	For the state	GE CAR		ELSE CON
ander i der einen gestalten gehanden der Keinen gehanden eine Bernen von einen der Bernen von der Bernen von de Bernen der Keinen von der Keinen der Keinen der Keinen von der Bernen von der Bernen von der Bernen von der Bern				- <u>Co</u> , 196 - C							10.250			1941, 1961, 1944 2011, 1947, 1947
ا ما المراجع المراجع من المراجع المراجع والمراجع المراجع				Sector Sector						L. et al.	<u>E-F-E</u> -F-1			ELLI LL
				- 1994 1994 -			an thank			1.044	10.0359.5			ELUS DOG
$\left[\left\{ x_{i} \in [n], x_{i} \in [n$										t stal				
na an an Sun anns an Anna an Sun Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna An	AND LEFT			an ha she an she an sa Ta ba she an she an sa				e literio Sinterio						ELLI COM FUI D'ANNO A
والمراجع والمحاري والمحاري والمحاج والم		The COMPLET	tion Les			- 0.4 Geo	g Collinson		1994	- 192				ELCS DOM
$((x_1,y_1,\dots,y_n)) = ((x_1,y_1,\dots,y_n)) + ((x_$	10.055			1000 (Sec. 1974)		10.500		e der s	6.446		64666)			ELUS DOG
an de la géneral de la participação de la companya de la participação de la companya de Marine de Brita. A companya de la comp														
		diam that is												
							e es la rela				- 6 H E E E I			ECC3 (D)+
							Bios Constan Escuratoria							
							a de la levela				- E F E (E)			ELCS DOG
	 E.UER E.UER 			a stran (1964) - Angel - Angel			8 CARLANDA Alamana		146					
							eller och Eller och							
$\mathbb{E} \left[$											an a march a			ELCS DOM
enter i no <u>n</u> sente entre entre service de la Prince entre de la companya de la companya de la companya de la comp							es e con				- 9 H- E- 8 H - 1			ENCE CON
n an an an an an an ann an ann an an an							हेर्ड संस्थित हुव				-9-69-69-69 		an an tai Ga	entra dan Jaw
ار 1996 - میں ایک		allano (1354) (s 2005) - Angeles 2014-1944 (s	oga da			angkan <u>n</u> a Ta	हे देखें करते. हुवे स्वर्थ स्ट्र				-6+0-8-6 (ng lang Ng Ng lang	E1913-3044 197
13 میلانید (میروند) افراد کردی در میلید میلید (میروند) میلید (میروند) میلید (میلید) افرانی میلید (میلید) میلید (میلید) میلید (میلید) میلید (میلید) میلید (میلید) میلید (میلید) میلید (میلید) میلید (میلید) میلید (میلید) میلید)		21.000 (11.000) 2000 (11.000) 2000 (11.000) 2000 (11.000) 2000 (11.000)	na an a			ang Song Ing Song Song Song Song Song Song Song Song Song Song Song Song Song Song Song	ول المراجعة (1994) المراجع مراجع (1994) مراجع (1994)	SI NER IA N TI TE R	Y Portes Protes IPErates		- 6 4 6 8 9 4 - 1999 - 1999		ng lang Ng Ng lang Ng lang	E1423 (1044 1945) - 1947 - 1944 - 1947 - 1944
ال 20 من 20 هذه العامية على الاسترابية من الرائية التي يعاني من المارية العامية (2012). 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2018 عليه المراجع المارية المراجع المارية المراجع (2017). 2017 - 2018 - 2018 من المراجع من المراجع المارية (2017). 2017 - 2018 - 2018 من المراجع المراجع المارية (2018).			स्टब्स् (13) स्टब्स् (14) स्टब्स् (14)	 第二十二日、第三十二日 第二十日、三十日、三十日、三十日、三十日、三十日、三十日、三十日、三十日、三十日、三	- Lo Briero 1994 1994 - Millero Del Strato 1922 Robert 1923 Robert 1923 Robert 1923 Robert 1923 Robert 1923 Robert 1923 Robert 1924 Robert	n fongen Till Startfo Startfo Startfo Startfo	e Contra de la con	S (12)	Y Books States 1985 - Ales Ales - Ales Ales - Ales		· 日本 部長 日 ·		se cos la costa co	E11_3 (004) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.0
د که به دول کی در پردیمی کلی در میرید به این در کاری این در باری میارید و در این است. این در باله که این این این در این میری این در این در این در این در این میری میری این این در باله که این این در این میری این میری در این میری این در این میری این که این در این میری این میری این میری این میری این میری در این در این میری این میری این میری این در باله که این میری میری این میری این میری این میری در این میری این میری این میری این میری این میری این میری این در باله که این میری میری این میری این میری این میری این میری در این میری در این میری این میری این میری این میری در باله که این میری میری این میری این میری این میری این میری در این میری این میری این میری این میری این میری این		212 (1999) (1999) (1999) 213 (1999) (19900) (19900) (19900) (1990) (19900) (19	1111 - 11 1-2-11 (日) 1-2-11 (日) 1-2-11 (日) 1-2-11 (日)		 Contraction 	n formal of The An office An o	E Contractor Igni Contractor Contractor E Contractor Contractor Contractor Contractor Contractor	8 (<u>1</u> 8)	Y Poore Poor IPE-orbit IPE					E12,3 (0)4 (2)4 (2)4 (2)4 (2)4 (2)4 (2)4 (2)4 (2
Friday and J. S. Sandar, "Proceeding of the state of t			1000 Da 1000 Da 1000 Da 1000 Da 1000 Da 1000 Da			11.000 () 11.0000 11.00000 11.00000 11.00000 11.00000 11.00000 11.00000 11.00000 11.00000000	EL + C + + C + 		Y Barry Provi S President S President S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S				δη το θη Γιμ το τ	E14_3_3_4 a 44
Fortz and Jack and States and						1.1.1 (* 100 <u>)</u> 1.1.1			Y P E 				 δ.2 (1.68) 1.6 (1.68)	
(4) A second a second seco			1000 (14) 1000 (14) 1000 (14) 1000 (14) 1000 (14) 1000 (14) 1000 (14) 1000 (14) 1000 (14)			1.1.2 (1.1.2) 1.1.2 1							λη ο 64 Για ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο ο	
(4) (1994) هذا بالمعادة الآل (1994) من المراكز (1994) من المراكرم (1994) من المراكز (1994) من الم						1.1.2 (1997) 1.1.2 1.								
Forder and Jack an											· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
1. Start Barry, S.			। 											
(4) (1994) هو رو بروی از از این و بروی از از این و رو بروی از این و بروی از این و بروی از این و برو رامی از این و بران و بروی از این و بروی از ایز این و بروی از ایز این و بران و ب			د											
$ \begin{array}{c} 1000000 \\ 0.000000 \\ 0.000000 \\ 0.000000 \\ 0.000000 \\ 0.00000 \\ 0.000000 \\ 0.000000 \\ 0.000000 \\ 0$														
14. Second B. J. (1999) And S. S. (1999) An experimental problem of the second proble													· (1) · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
14.1 A set of a se														
$ \begin{array}{c} 130 \times 100 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0$			 соби (12), 											
$ \begin{array}{c} 1000000000000000000000000000000000000$			 сабек (1) 											
 Martin MJ, Conselling J, Conselling A, Conselling A, Song J, Xuyan J, Xuyan JJ, Xuy														
 Martin M., Carlon M. (2014). A structure of the structure struc														
 Martin M., Carlon M. (2014) A structure of Control of Structure (Structure (Structure														
$ \begin{array}{c} 101010101010101010101010101$														
$1 = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \right)^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \right)^{2$								 A.D. (1998) C. (199						
$ \begin{array}{c} 133 \times 143 \\ 134 $														
$ \frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$														
$\frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$								 A.D. <li< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></li<>						
$ \begin{array}{c} 134444 \\ 13444 \\ 1344 $														
$ \frac{1}{2} 1$														
$ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{i=1}$														
$ \frac{1}{2} 1$														
$ \begin{array}{c} 1344444 \\ 134444 \\ 134$														
$ \frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$														

	44.0	1950 af	s 270	1.0	ph. Tau	1p.	Press Contractor
(2) Substituting and Substituting States (2) Substituting and substituting subs substituting substituting						- DERI LOLL.	n haar oo haaday ah ahaan dharaa ka
[19] S.						 Hereitz (188-414) Santa Timor (188-414) 	
na stani se se postani se na sena na se						· · · · · · · ·	
Report Balance and Strangers and Strangers					PRE-FEFERE	11OROU 1 OR	Constant Coll Strengthered E. R.
							in the second of excitation in the h former and the Galaxy in the second
recently in the construction of the second second state of the second							Alter an of a Charlen Constant
ersen and the end of the CMM of the providence and the CMM of the Annual Mark (Second Second Second Second Seco Annual Second					10-былы 2004 жылы татырдарынан араба	trattor a constructo Charte	(i) I. Constant of Physics (i) the fit of the second se
				O#H		UTENE TE COLLES	en anticipational Calabra de 1999. Els -s -s sus SECOE sei€n se sus f
					CALCONT LEVELS TO APP		-rasions and the last of the
					 Harvel and definition Harvel and the second se	teretar a un tra da. 11 años estás de tra	an the second and the University and the second and the state of the
					r af of the Subble Fr	er −éé al Geff-Fr	 Le se ell'address LEE
					 Sector BOB COLPANY 	LORD CALL 1979.	 A second TELETE ABILITY
na ana ao amin'ny fivondrona dia mampiasa na fivondro amin' amin' amin' amin' amin' amin' amin' amin' amin' ami Ny INSEE dia mampiasa mampiasa amin' ami					 President of Alexandrian Alexandrian President of Alexandrian Alexandrian 	EFSH1660 LEHTER	
						norsen driven i sour	sources and the REALTS AREA E.
						LERE ANDER LATUR 1. Storige de Latur	。此后来,中国的王朝和王子,王子。 1991年,第19月1日,王子子,王子子。
				ALL-BREEDING ALPORE	COLECCE VILLE		1.1. Sector STream and a
						De la Restera	
testadas de esta de construction de la sub-la servición de la construction de la construc	$T_{2,1}(x) = M_{2,1}(x)$			 Second Elements 	College - Auf - Liter Diff		
na sena a Californi e a canada e a Una constructiva da de la california da sena da sena da california da sena En 17 de californi e a californi da californi da californi da californi da californi da californi da californi d						HERE'S INVERSE	en al anti-anti-anti-anti-anti-anti-anti-anti-
Representative Representative and the Representative sector representative sector representative sector represe	The second sec				Colorence Colorence	65 · · · · 66	
(c) Sector (Sector) (Sector						 COSERCE - Report Complete - Coserce 	n wEilen an
a a a second a second A debit a second a se						- THUR - Price	
						 1000 - 5000 	
nese na anti 12 den Erekon (12 tees nesten erekond) nesten die jaar 19 de teel 19 neem – Anna Statest, frankrijk is teel ferste antiske fan de teel in de teel die state fan d						 First Problems First Official Pro- 	
and the second state of the second state of the second state of the					NU		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
					fel en enfektere en Genoùen angenzen e		
and an every every the first of the second						CELENCE OF SERVICE	
	11 I. I. I.				- + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	Carendo (Hestore)	
					la se solariana. Na se solarian	ALE LES HERES (BAL)	
				e en el Hiter el	HE HE HERE BOD	en en altera de la com	
an de la companya de La companya de la comp				n in statistica. National Anglesia	na se sen arrientes en se Na se señe para arr	ere dar et berte. Are dar et berte	sérpintin son son son son son son son son son so
and the Additional science of the second science of				· ····································	ilê er ewî ter ev		e da Robello e compositor de la
					化氟化合物 网络希腊人名英格兰德人		
[14] A. C. Martin, and M. Martin, and M. S. Martin, "Interface of the second system o system of the second system of the second sys					is the constant of the	a transfer following and	
an a	·····			 A Participation A Participation A Participation 	6 → → ±113 → £ ±103 → h++ → → £ − 1 → → 4	n 1944-0 m (HES 1944) El PLEZ MAET (EM	- 7.00-E
an de la servición de la servic La servición de la servición de La servición de la servición de	n in the second se			 A state of the sta	боло н≗зун-боё) но на бороно № 16	n der Heinen Gebergen Ellig Miller (Altern Biller Livier (Altern Biller)	алана 1996 — Собрания 1996 — Собрания 1996 — Собрания
a service and a service of the servi		аланан алан алан алан алан алан алан ал	n an an an an an an an arte arte	A CONTRACTOR A	 A set the transfer of the transf	1944-407 (HEST) ELECTRES IN TOTAL G. 1440 EQC (11)	инания Поссинента данания Поссинента Поссин
(a) Second Se	·····	аланан алан алан алан алан алан алан а		A CONTRACTOR AND A CONT	 Колтон (1994) (1994) Колтон (1994) (1994) Колтон (1994) (1994) (1994) Колтон (1994) (1994) (1994) (1994) Колтон (1994) (1994) (1994) (1994) (1994) 	(1)	17.000000000000000000000000000000000000
Bernstein, S.	ана на разната 1999 — Правила 1999 — Правила 1990	All All All All All All All All All All All	in a second fragment	1	$\hat{F}_{1} = - \hat{F}_{1} + \hat{F}_{2} + \hat{F}_{3} + \hat{F}_{3$	111-00 (1000) E FLEF (1000) C FLEF (1000) C FLEF (1000) C FLEF (1000) C FLEF (1000) C FLEF C FL	
Bernstein, S.	на н	n an	and And	 (1) - (1)	 キャット(主要の)、「「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」、「」	111+-0 100000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.00000 0 0.000000 0 0.000000 0 0.000000 0 0.0000000 0 0.000000000 0 0.00000000000000000000000000000000000	1000 1000
Bernstein auf der Statistische Statistisc	 1 3 4 4	en e	international and the second s	1 1 1 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1 4 1	 В стор (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995) 111-000 (1995)	C (1994)
Bernard, M., Barran, J., & Karl, K. & Kar	n an Iara An Iara Tarati Iara An Iara An Iara	лана (1993) - Сана Рейстири - Сана Рейстири - Сана (1993) - С	ente entre entre entre entre entre porte entre entre porte entre entre porte entre entre porte entre entre	3.1 1.1 4.1 0.1 0.6 64.0 1.4 4.1 0.1 0.6 64.0 1.4	 В стор (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	$\begin{array}{l} (1) + 0 & (1) & (1) & (1) \\ (1) + 0 & (1) & (1) & (1) \\ (1) & (1) & (1)$	 Contraction (1998) Contraction (19
Bernstein, S., Starter, M., Starter, M., Starter, S., Starter, Starter, S., Starter, St		2010 2010		1 1 1 2 1 2 2 4 1 2 2 2 4 1 2 2 2 2 4 1 2 3 2 2 3 2 3 2 3	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{c} = (\mathbf{c} + \mathbf{c} + \mathbf$	110+03 100+04 100+04 0 100+04 100+04 0 100+04 100+04 0 100+04 100+04 0 100+04 100+04 0 100+04 100+04 0 100+04 100+04 0 100+04 100+04 0 100+04 100+04 00 100+04 100+04 00 100+04 100+04 00 100+04 100+04	 (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)
Bernstein, S., S. & Santa, S	на н	 A second s		4 1 1 4 3 0 4 3 0 0 4 3 0 0 0 4 3 0 0 0 0 4 1 0	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{f}_{-} = (\mathbf{x}_{-} + \mathbf{y}_{-}) + \mathbf{f}_{-} = \mathbf{f}_{-} = (\mathbf{x}_{-} + \mathbf{x}_{-}) \\ \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{x}_{-} + \mathbf{f}_{-}) + \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{x}_{-} + \mathbf{f}_{-}) \\ \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{x}_{-} + \mathbf{f}_{-}) + \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{x}_{-} + \mathbf{f}_{-}) \\ \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{x}_{-} + \mathbf{f}_{0}) + \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{x}_{-} + \mathbf{f}_{0}) \\ \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{x}_{-} + \mathbf{f}_{0}) + \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{x}_{-} + \mathbf{f}_{0}) \\ \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{f}_{0} + \mathbf{f}_{0}) + \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} \\ \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{f}_{0} + \mathbf{f}_{0}) + \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} \\ \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{f}_{0} + \mathbf{f}_{0}) + \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} \\ \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{f}_{0} + \mathbf{f}_{0}) + \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} \\ \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{f}_{0} + \mathbf{f}_{0}) + \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} \\ \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{f}_{0} + \mathbf{f}_{0}) + \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} \\ \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{f}_{0} + \mathbf{f}_{0}) + \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} \\ \mathbf{f}_{0} = (\mathbf{f}_{0} + \mathbf{f}_{0}) + \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf{f}_{0} \\ \mathbf{f}_{0} = \mathbf$	110+03 100 100 2 2 100 100 3 2 100 100 4 2 100 100 5 2 100 100 100 6 2 100 100 100 100 6 2 100 <	 (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)
Bernstein, S., Starter, Starter		2010 - 2010 - 2010 2010 - 2010 2010 - 2010 2010 - 2010 2010 - 2010 2010 - 2010 2	A second	4 1 1 4 0 1 1 4 0 1 0 1 4 0 1 0 1 1 4 0 1 0 1	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} (1) & (1) & (1) & (1) & (1) & (1) \\ (1) & (1) & (1) & (1) \\ (1) & (1) &$	 Alexandrowski († 1998) Alexandrowski (†
		 A set of the set of		4 0 0 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 0	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} (1) = (1 + 1) + (1 $	• 1 1
The second se		 A and a second se		4 (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{e}_{1} = (\mathbf{e}_{1} + \mathbf{e}_{2} + e$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 1
Bernstein, S., S. (2000). The state of the structure o		 A second s		 A. S. S. BARDER A. BARDER A.	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{f}_{-} = (\mathbf{x}_{-} + \mathbf{g}_{-}) + \mathbf{f}_{-} = \mathbf{f}_{-} = (\mathbf{x}_{-} + \mathbf{g}_{-}) \\ + \mathbf{g}_{-} = (\mathbf{x}_{-} + \mathbf{g}_{-}) + \mathbf{g}_{-} = (\mathbf{g}_{-} + \mathbf{g}_{-}) \\ + \mathbf{g}_{-} = (\mathbf{f}_{-} + \mathbf{g}_{-}) + \mathbf{g}_{-} = (\mathbf{g}_{-} + \mathbf{g}_{-}) \\ + \mathbf{g}_{-} = (\mathbf{f}_{-} + \mathbf{g}_{-}) + \mathbf{g}_{-} = (\mathbf{g}_{-} + \mathbf{g}_{-}) \\ + \mathbf{g}_{-} = (\mathbf{g}_{-} + \mathbf{g}_{-}) + \mathbf{g}_{-} = (\mathbf{g}_{-} + \mathbf{g}_{-}) \\ + \mathbf{g}_{-} = (\mathbf{g}_{-} + \mathbf{g}_{-}) + \mathbf{g}_{-} = (\mathbf{g}_{-} + \mathbf{g}_{-}) \\ + \mathbf{g}_$	114-03 144-03 144-04 114-03 144-04 144-04 11 144-04 144-04 12 144-04 144-04 144-04	
		 Antonio State (1997) 		 A. S. G. BALLAND A. S. S.	$\begin{array}{c} 4 & (x,y) \in \{x,y\} \in \{x,y\}, \\ \\ \ (x,y) \in \{x,y\} $	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	(1) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (2) (2)
		1. A set of the se		4 1 1 4 0 1 1 4 0 1 0 1 4 0 1 0 1 1 4 0 1 0 0 1	$\begin{array}{c} 4 & k \ge 0 + - 4 + 4 = 0 \\ k \ge 0 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 +$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-1 1
		Comparison of the second		$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} 4 & (x,y) \in \{1,1\}, (x,y) \in \{1$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
		 A and a second se		2 1	$\begin{array}{c} 4 & (\mathbf{x}_{1}, \mathbf{x}_{2}) \in \mathbf{F}_{1} = \mathbf{F}_{2} = \mathbf{F}_{1} \\ 5 & (\mathbf{x}_{1}, \mathbf{x}_{2}) = \mathbf{F}_{1} \\ 5 & (\mathbf{x}_{1}, \mathbf{x}_{2}) = \mathbf{F}_{2} \\ 5 & ($	1 (1) - (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	-1 2.5 -1 -1 2.5 -1 -1 -1 2.5 -1 -1 -1 2.5 -1 -1 -1 -1 2.5 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 2.5 -1 -
		201 201 201 201 201 201 201 201		1 1 2 1 2 0	$\begin{array}{c} 4 & (x,y) \in \{x,y\} \in \{x,y\}, \\ \\ (x,y) \in \{x,y\} \in $	1 11 - 03 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10	(1) (1) (1)
		2000 - 2000 -		$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{A}_{1} = \mathbf{A}_{2} + \mathbf{A}_{2} + \mathbf{A}_{3} + \mathbf{A}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
		δ δ		A Total 4 0. 0. 0. 4 0. 0. 0. 0. 4 0. 0. 0. 0. 4 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 4 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 0. 4 0.	$\begin{array}{c} 4 & (x,y) \in \{1,1\}, (x,y) \\ (x,y) \in \{1,1\}, (x,y) \in \{1,1\}, (x,y) \\ (x,y) \in \{1,1\}, (x,y) \in \{$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 1
				$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ 4$	$\begin{array}{c} 4 & (\mathbf{x}_{1}, \mathbf{x}_{2}) \in 4 \in 4 \in 4 \\ 5 (\mathbf{x}_{1}, \mathbf{x}_{2}) \in 5 \left\{ 5 ($		1 1
A second seco		 Toto Series - Construction of Production of P			$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{A}_{1} = \mathbf{A}_{1} + \mathbf{A}_{2} + \mathbf{A}_{2} + \mathbf{A}_{3} + \mathbf{A}$	1 (1) - (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	<pre></pre>
		201 201 201 201 201 201 201 201			$\begin{array}{c} 4 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & $	1 1 1 - 0 1 1 1 1 0 - 0 1 1 1 0 - 0 1 1 1 0 - 0 1 1 1 0 - 0 1 1 0 - 0 1 0 0 0 0	1 1
		 Andream Antonio and Antonio a			$\begin{array}{c} 4 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & $	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	 A. L. A. A.
					$\begin{array}{c} 4 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 = 4 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ $	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
				$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c} 4 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 = 4 + 6 + 6 + 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ $	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	 A. J. C. P. L. C. P. C. C.
		1 1 1			$\begin{array}{c} 4 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 & $	1 1 1 + - 0 1 + 0 1 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 +	<pre>************************************</pre>
					$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	 A. S. A. S.
					$\begin{array}{c} 4 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 = 5 & 0 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 1 \\ 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 \\ 5 & 5 \\ 5 \\ 5 & 5 \\ $	1 11 - 00 1 - 00 - 00 - 00 - 00 - 00 -	1 1
					$\begin{array}{c} 4 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 = 4 + 4 + 4 \\ 5 & 1 & 5 + 1 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 & 5 + 1 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 5 \\ 5 + $	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 1
					$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 (1) - (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	1 1
					$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 1 1	1 1
					$\begin{array}{c} 4 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ $	1 11 - 00 1 (10 - 00 - 00 - 00 - 00 - 00	-1 1
					$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 (1) - (1)	-1 (1) (1) -1 (2) (1) -1 (2) (2) (2) -1 (2) (2) (2) -1 (2) (2) (2) -1 (2) (2) (2) (2) -1 (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) -1 (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) -1 (2)
					$\begin{array}{c} 4 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 = 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 & 1 \\ $	1 11 - 00 1 - 00 - 00 - 00 - 00 - 00 -	1 1
					$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 1 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	

	an a		 Construction of the second seco		a paga ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang	en gran Sen sen en sen en sen	an a
에 가 있는 것은 가 있었다. 이 가 있는 것 같은 것 같	and the structure of the second s		L SEDERCH SE S TENERTEREN DE L	 A second statistics of a second statistics 	 Second Back (CDD) and Consequences and ABBRE EDITED and Consequences 	ann Charle (1996) Bhr Anns Clark (1976) Bhr	e diker ber texter in Anna skirter indered
ale and the state of the state of The state of the stat	and the second		LIGTIERE			20511201111555500 2051120111155550	 There is a state of the state o
a contract of the second of the second s			CONTRACTOR -	and the second second second sec		ADRIE MICHTER EIN	SHERE MARY CORE IN LONG
A sector with the first sector $\overline{\Gamma}$ is the first sector sector sector $\overline{\Gamma}$.	$\mathcal{F}(E) \circ \Omega \mapsto \mathbb{C}(e \oplus E) \in \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$		L'IGRIDERER	1	 Optimization Complexity on Els 	ere Concolor La El El L	 (alber she prove a first
	a Franciska (1997), se		 AGE DE REPORT - LA CALINA 	 A set of the set of		APPENDED DE LE CARLERO	 Contraction de la contraction de la
	internet des steppignes en		- HON DECEMBER - H HEAD DECEMBER - H	 A second state of the second stat		ARRE DELLIGRELER ARRE DALLE SALERA	 Contractor Signation (DESS) Contractor Signation (DESS)
	an a		STREET FOR STREET	and the second		AVEL DAVEL COMPLEX	CONTRACTOR STREET
	and the second second		SHOP TE FER SHOP			WELLIGHT SELET	FILL FOR THE FOLLOW
			TURN FOR THE PARTY OF	 (a) - (b) + (b) +	- Evelor and records	eres politicas su	 Effer Ball Or (01b)
	an an tha the second		LPGF 1E FE Store -		 Average CEC (Report CE 	 FURNIUMELEL 	 F. H. HERRER, 19168
n en an anna 1975 anna 1987. Tha ann an theann an 1977 ann an tha anna 1977 anna 1977 anna 1977 anna 1977 anna An anna 1977 anna anna an anna 1977 anna anna 1977	 For eacher structure of a second structure of a second structure of a second structure structure of a seco		LEDS DE CERTER SE S	 A state of the second seco second second sec	 A statistical P.G. (Chapter Sec. 2014) Automatical P.G. (Chapter Sec. 	a el adult cheleu. S'el adult delle	e in earleador (UDD) A la cardonición a
	 For all the later of the later		LEGENE PROVIDE L	and the second	A AND TROUBLE AND A	a et angli 1000 - 1000 A	 Final Property of the
and the second second second second second second			LPGT IE PHONE -	1	「「「人」の意味でした。」というないでき	a Richards (SRUBL	PERCENTER DE 19
			TBOUDER OF AN AND	and the second second second Street		 Fit (ROULDINEED) 	 i el el facto del la
	 For each and the second se second second sec		LIPOF DE FUEL	 A set of the set of		 F.C. SPOLLTUS FLET 	 Constraints of Log
a de la companya de En acestra de la companya de la comp	tation estimation d'autorité de la companya. La fondation de la companya de la co		LENGE DE CHEVIELE -	 A second state of the second stat	 A set of the set of	G REPORTE L'ARESE. L'ENGENIE SELE	e an air eachann 191 a A r-air cannairte an - A
	an ann ann an thairt		TROUTE HOLDS			a stande in seis	- 1 - 4 - 47 - 64 - 10 - 1
e and the second se			LPGF DE ELGINA	and the state of the state of the state		A REPORTED ARES	 i = at article 1 (102) 3
	et al construction de la constru		Those designs and the	 (a) - (a) - (b) -		 R.C. (POLLT LARGE L 	 i = el - (F_2)(i = 102 - 1
	 For each state (Figure 1) and a state (Figure 1) and a		LINGE TE PROPERTY A	 A set of the set of		 F.C. (POLIG) UPFLE L. 	 B. D. SERVICE BULLET
n 1996 en 1996 en 1997 en 1997 En 1997 en 1997	and the second second second		Turge of the end of the		a contra e CO a Creatica.	a ne verse someet	
			a provincia de las				
An Charles and a minimum fill a sector of the sector.	NAMES OF LCCC			ARRENCE - CONTRACTOR	WILLE CHORING AND		e galance a series
A second state of the second state of the second state	 Sources designed a 		A REPORT OF A	FEGEONAL AND AND A	- TORNED LIVE BODY	1990 - Anna Station	PDG
[Sectors 1] A. B. Martin and S. Martin and A. Martin and S. Martin and S. Martin and S. Martin and S. Martin and S. Martin and A. Martin and A. Martin and A. Martin and A. Martin and A Martin and A. Martin and	- しゃん しきりをやくし			 Freedorgelijke stationer op de setter op de s op de setter op de set op de setter op de setter o	 Bessen and the state of the sta		
	 Constraints and a second s second second s second second se		and the second sec		 B. DODARC CONTRACTOR 	541 (J. 1997)	
e a ser and the second seco	C. T. CONTRACTOR				UND FORFORDED FOR FERE		
	unt letter sozielet este				UNE FORMORIES FERE		
in a state of the second s	 Figure 10, Figure 10		 Fiber 2 	Chevelogical and the second	UNDERGRADEUS OF FERL		
	 Click Providence 				LA SA E GENERALEMA E ESCL 1. Transferencia de la composi-		
	 Construction (Construction) 				CARENCER PROCESSION AND AND A	un en la esta de la composition. Un filos de la composition de la compos	
	A LUGH FOR LAFLA		 - 1.5 - Flotter - R 		ARY LODGED BY FERLE		
	ELGG FOR LAFLA		$c_{\rm e} > 1.5 \pm 0.5 < 0.1 < 0.5 < 0.5$		SERVICE FERL		
	 ETOR FOULDFUS 		 CONTRACTOR 		 Francisco de la terreta. 		
	 EUGR FOR LAFUA 	and the second secon			 A CONSCREDENTES FERCE 		
	A THAR FOR THE A		e elle societadores A elle Elle States		 REFERENCE FROM FROM 		
	UNR FOR LIFELS		- IS CONTRACT		INER TOOPPOEL INTERNE		
	(c) 168 FORLUFUE		$e_{\rm c} > 1.5 ~(-0.7 L_{\odot}) < 4$		En lassebells a Fiast		
[14] - 12 - 12 - 12 - 14 - 14 - 19 - 12 - 14 - 12 - 14 - 14 - 14 - 14 - 14	 FROM BOULTERS 			Angel SUG - Charles and A	 Entropedelle alle setter 		
	 LUSH FOUL FUR TING ENVILUES 				- とせいにおけたもしい ステキャンシー しに、 ちかんし		
	 LUGH FOTLLFLA 		e ello i dure i e ello i dure i		A BELLISCHEREN ZURBELL		
	TOR FORLUPILA		 US RECTURE 		- EN SCHOELS / FORL		
しんがい かいしち ほうしん モンター・コンド・モント しかわ	 LUGH FORL FUR 			and a state of the second state of the	THE REPAIR AND A REPORT		
					and the second second second second		
			erne Alte		and the second s		
te constante o constante o como se o com			ense En se soor tilterer	n an	The state of the open of the o	HHEETEHTVEHENEN UNF	
Hardwards Marine Lawren Friedrich an eisen sam Hardeninger Marine Lawren ei Sterner St		i dese 1999 - El Dese Dese 1999 - El Deserve	erne Fried State - Constanting (State State - Constanting (State)	n (n. 1997) 1946 - Angel Charley, and an	 The state of the state Control of the state Provide the state Provide the state Provide the state 	rahe street reak variation tablet en l'affais variation l'inté	
tropul uti el tropuc d'in occara no c'horno us Antropul de c'horn 'Frank an antropul an Antropul de c'horn 'Frank an 'no c'hornoù an		1999 - 1818 - 19 - 1818 - 19 - 1918 - 1919 - 1919 - 1919	USA SALEERA SALE AN GALERA SALE AN GALERA	11 P 14 P 15 A P D A A P L E F D F D A F P TR 14 A S E L E F D	A POLICE AND A POL	966 HF 66 F (166 8 M) (196 9 M) (196	
 Construction of the second seco		THE EVEN	 (1): (1): (2): (3): (4): (5): (5): (6): (7): <	A CARACTER AND A CARA	A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR A CONT	De antonio come vie de De antonio come vie de l'argente e l'agne vie d l'argente e l'agne vie d	
(1) An other provides the second s		Liter I H. H. H. M. H. D. D. D. H. D. D. M. H. M. M. M.		 (%) Constant (Constant) (%) Constant (%) Constant (Constant) (%) Const	12 Conception of the second	144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144	1977 - Constantino de la const
(1) Herris Person, S. K. (1995) And A. (1		1999 1997 - 1997 1997 - 1997 - 1997 1997 - 1997 - 1997 1997 - 1997 - 1997 1997 -	 Construction Const		The second secon	1000 1000	1999 - Colore Artelle Rock (Colore Artelle Artelle Artelle Artelle Artelle Artelle Artelle Rock (Colore Artelle Artelle Artelle Artelle Artelle Artelle Artelle
e.e. days former, e.e. here ever a former and a solution of the former and the solution of the solution of the former and the solution of the solution of the solution of the solution. The solution of the		1999 - 18, 8, 91 - 8, 82, 80 - 10, 84, 90 - 10, 84, 90 - 10, 84, 90 - 10, 84, 90 - 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10,		 State (1997) State	 (14) (14) (14) (14) (14) (14) (14) (14)	HEEN EN SELEVIEL HEEN S	1999 - Contractor
 Angeler, Construction of the second state of the seco		1999 118 8 11 18 8 2017 19 8 2017 10 17 18 19 10 17 18 19 10 17 18 19 10 17 18 19 10 17 18 10 17 18 10 1	(1) (1)		120 00000000000000000000000000000000000	100 100 R=#Friesting 100 100 R=#Friesting 100 100 R=Histing 100 100	1444 Environ Tolley United Environ Tolley United United States United States St
Construction of the second structure of the second	۲۰۰۰ ۲۳۵۰ - ۲۰۰۰ ۲۳۵۰ - ۲۰۰۰ ۲۳۵۰ - ۲۰۰۰ ۲۳۵۰ - ۲۰۰۰ ۳۳۵۰ - ۲۰۰۰ ۳۳۵۰ - ۲۰۰۰ ۲۹۵۰ - ۲۰۰۰ ۲۹۵۰ - ۲۰۰۰ ۲۹۵۰ - ۲۰۰۰ ۲۹۵۰ - ۲۰۰۰	1999 1997	 На Со таказа Со таказа		144 - 147 5 Provide Dir Roberts 147 - 147 - 147 - Roberts 147 - 147 - 147 - Roberts 147 - 147 - 147 - 147 - 147 148 - 147 - 148 - 147 - 147 148 - 147 - 148 - 147 - 147 148 - 147 - 148 - 147 - 147 148 - 148 - 147 - 148 - 148 148 - 148 - 148 - 148 - 148 148 - 148 - 148 - 148 148 - 148 - 148 - 148 148	ниц	The second secon
(a) "Any of the set		1994 18 8 10 2 8 800 17 70 80 10 70 70 70 10 70 70 70 10 70 70 70 10 70 70 70 10 70		 B. Same and S. Sa	140 010 010 000 010 010 010 010 010 010 000 010 010 000 010 010 000 010 000 000		ALAN AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND A
(1) Construction of the second sec	 41 42 43 44 45 45 46 47 47 48 49 49 49 49 49 40 4	1999 - 18 6 01 - 8 0000 - 9 0000 - 90000 - 900000 - 90000 -	 Сонструкций странатор Со			144, 147 149, 147 149, 147, 147, 147, 147, 147, 147, 147, 147	ENANCES STAR TOEPLOATEL ENANCES STAR TOEPLOATEL STAR TOEPLOATE
• The short of the first of the state of	173 193 193 193 193 193 193 193 19	1999 				1420 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12	Environment Envir
(1) Support and the second state of the sec	1 1 1 1	2000 	 Сонструкций станций стан	 Benerican Strategy and Strategy			ALL AND ALL AN
(a) a second		1999 1998 2007 200 200	Control (1995) Contro			1440 111 111 111 111 111 111 111 111 111	EDV TOP LANGEL EDV TOP LANGEL
(a) a set of a strategic property of the		1999 1998 2008				1420 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12	Environmental and a second sec
(a) South a starting and the starting of th	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1999 199 1999 1				144 127 PDEFINET_LEST, 1000 (P) 1 ADDETALEST, 1000 (P) 1	 Alexies - Construction Alexies - Constru
(4) Constraints and the state of the stat		1999 1999 200 200				1440 117 117 117 117 117 117 117 117 117 11	
(a) Construction of the		1999 1998 1998 1998 1998 1997				144 127 RUBFIGEL_LETING 128 APEFLIGEL_UETING 128 </td <td></td>	
(a) Construction (Construction) and the construction of the con	2 2 2						 Albert Andre Andr
A. S.	1 1 1 1	1999 1997 200 200	 Сонструкций и сонструкций и сонструкци сонструкций и сонструкций и сонструкций и сонструкций и сонст				1000 1000
(a) (a) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b		1999 1998 1998 1998 1998 1997					
The contrast of the contrast	1 1 1 1						
(a) (a) (a) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b			••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••				Company and a second seco
(a) considering a charge of the probability of t						144 111 RUMPE (S. 1, RUM (S. 1)) 111 RUMPE (S. 1) 111 RUMPE (S. 1) 111 RUM (S. 1) 111 <t< td=""><td>1000 1000 1000</td></t<>	1000 1000 1000
(a) (a) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b	3 3 3 3						
Construction of the second							1000 1000
(a) South States (States (Experiment)) is a subscription of the states (States (Experiment)) is a s						1440 110 1440 110 110 1450 110 110 110 1450 110 110 110 110 1450 110 110 110 110 110 1450 110 110 110 110 110 110 1450 110	1000 1000 1000
(a) and the state of the sta	1 1 1 1		1 1				
(a) a standard of the stand			4 -				1000 1000
							State State State
	1 1 1 1	中国の「「「「「」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」	1 1				
		1. 「「「「」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」					1000 1000 1000
		中国の「「「「「」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」					
		1. 「「「「」」」」、「」」、「」」、「」」、「」」、「」」、「」」、「」」、「」					1000 1000 1000
		(1) 「「「」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」					
		「「「「「」」」「「」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」					1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
		1. 「「「「」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」」					
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					Book Control (1998)
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					No.1 No.2 No.2 Statute



Figure S.5 Alignment of phoU and phoR genes from species across the proteobacteria phylogenetic group This shows the alignment of the proteobacteria gene sequences that we used for DCA. The first 25 species' genes are shown

REFERENCES

- Gardner SG, Johns KD, Tanner R, McCleary WR. 2014. The PhoU protein from *Escherichia coli* interacts with PhoR, PstB, and metals to form a phosphate-signaling complex at the membrane. J Bacteriol 196:1741-1752.
- Wanner BL. 1993. Gene regulation by phosphate in enteric bacteria. J. Cell. Biochem.
 51:47-54.
- Hsieh YJ, Wanner BL. 2010. Global regulation by the seven-component Pi signaling system. Curr Opin Microbiol 13:198-203.
- Stock AM, Robinson VL, Goudreau PN. 2000. Two-component signal transduction. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 69:183-215.
- Li Y, Zhang Y. 2007. PhoU is a persistence switch involved in persister formation and tolerance to multiple antibiotics and stresses in *Escherichia coli*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 51:2092-2099.
- Lamarche MG, Wanner BL, Crepin S, Harel J. 2008. The phosphate regulon and bacterial virulence: a regulatory network connecting phosphate homeostasis and pathogenesis. FEMS Microbiol Rev 32:461-473.
- 7. Shi W, Zhang Y. 2010. PhoY2 but not PhoY1 is the PhoU homologue involved in persisters in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J Antimicrob Chemother **65**:1237-1242.
- 8. **Buckles EL, Wang X, Lockatell CV, Johnson DE, Donnenberg MS.** 2006. PhoU enhances the ability of extraintestinal pathogenic *Escherichia coli* strain CFT073 to colonize the murine urinary tract. Microbiology **152:**153-160.

- Chekabab SM, Harel J, Dozois CM. 2014. Interplay between genetic regulation of phosphate homeostasis and bacterial virulence. Virulence 5.
- VanBougelen RA, Olson, E. R., Wanner, B. L., and Neidhardt, F. C. 1996. Global analysis of proteins synthesized during phosphorus restriction in *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 178:4344-4366.
- Wanner BL. 1996. Phosphorus assimilation and control of the phosphate regulon, p. 1357-1381. *In* Neidhardt FC, III RC, Ingraham JL, Lin ECC, Low KB, Magasanik B, Reznikoff WS, Riley M, Schaechter M, Umbarger HE (ed.), *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella*: cellular and molecular biology. American Society for Microbiology, Washington D. C.
- Gao R, Stock AM. 2009. Biological insights from structures of two-component proteins. Annual review of microbiology 63:133-154.
- Szurmant H, White RA, Hoch JA. 2007. Sensor complexes regulating two-component signal transduction. Current opinion in structural biology 17:706-715.
- West AH, Stock AM. 2001. Histidine kinases and response regulator proteins in twocomponent signaling systems. Trends in biochemical sciences 26:369-376.
- Ferris HU, Coles M, Lupas AN, Hartmann MD. 2014. Crystallographic snapshot of the Escherichia coli EnvZ histidine kinase in an active conformation. Journal of structural biology 186:376-379.
- Mascher T. 2014. Bacterial (intramembrane-sensing) histidine kinases: signal transfer rather than stimulus perception. Trends in microbiology 22:559-565.

- Ferris HU, Dunin-Horkawicz S, Hornig N, Hulko M, Martin J, Schultz JE, Zeth K, Lupas AN, Coles M. 2012. Mechanism of regulation of receptor histidine kinases. Structure 20:56-66.
- Moglich A, Ayers RA, Moffat K. 2009. Structure and signaling mechanism of Per-ARNT-Sim domains. Structure 17:1282-1294.
- Gutu AD, Wayne KJ, Sham LT, Winkler ME. 2010. Kinetic characterization of the WalRKSpn (VicRK) two-component system of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*: dependence of WalKSpn (VicK) phosphatase activity on its PAS domain. J Bacteriol 192:2346-2358.
- 20. Botella E, Devine S, Hubner S, Salzberg L, Gale R, Brown E, Link H, Sauer U, Codee J, Noone D, Devine K. 2014. PhoR autokinase activity is controlled by an intermediate in wall teichoic acid metabolism that is sensed by the intracellular PAS domain during the PhoPR-mediated phosphate limitation response of *Bacillus subtilis*. Molecular microbiology doi: 10.1111/mmi.12833. [Epub ahead of print].
- 21. Dago AE, Schug A, Procaccini A, Hoch JA, Weigt M, Szurmant H. 2012. Structural basis of histidine kinase autophosphorylation deduced by integrating genomics, molecular dynamics, and mutagenesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109:E1733-1742.
- 22. **Casino P, Rubio V, Marina A.** 2010. The mechanism of signal transduction by twocomponent systems. Current opinion in structural biology **20**:763-771.
- Huynh TN, Noriega CE, Stewart V. 2013. Missense substitutions reflecting regulatory control of transmitter phosphatase activity in two-component signalling. Molecular microbiology 88:459-472.

- 24. **Huynh TN, Stewart V.** 2011. Negative control in two-component signal transduction by transmitter phosphatase activity. Molecular microbiology **82:**275-286.
- Kenney LJ. 2010. How important is the phosphatase activity of sensor kinases? Curr Opin Microbiol 13:168-176.
- 26. **Podgornaia AI, Casino P, Marina A, Laub MT.** 2013. Structural basis of a rationally rewired protein-protein interface critical to bacterial signaling. Structure **21:**1636-1647.
- 27. **Mizuno T.** 1997. Compilation of all genes encoding two-component phosphotransfer signal transducers in the genome of Escherichia coli. DNA research : an international journal for rapid publication of reports on genes and genomes **4:**161-168.
- Nakata A, Amemura M, Shinagawa H. 1984. Regulation of the phosphate regulon in Escherichia coli K-12: regulation of the negative regulatory gene phoU and identification of the gene product. J. Bacteriol. 159:979-985.
- Dutta R, L. Qin, and M. Inouye. 1999. Histidine kinases: diversity of domain organization. Mol. Microbiol. 34:633-640.
- 30. Yamada M, Makino K, Shinagawa H, Nakata A. 1990. Regulation of the phosphate regulon of *Escherichia coli*: properties of *phoR* deletion mutants and subcellular localization of PhoR protein. Mol. Gen. Genet. 220:366-372.
- 31. Scholten M, Tommassen J. 1993. Topology of the PhoR protein of *Escherichia coli* and functional analysis of internal deletion mutants. Molecular microbiology **8:**269-275.
- 32. Carmany DO, Hollingsworth, K., and McCleary, W. R. 2003. Genetic and biochemical studies of phosphate activity of PhoR. J. Bacteriol. **185**:1112-1115.
- Taylor BL, Zhulin IB. 1999. PAS domains: internal sensors of oxygen, redox potential, and light. Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR 63:479-506.

- 34. Wang C, Sang J, Wang J, Su M, Downey JS, Wu Q, Wang S, Cai Y, Xu X, Wu J, Senadheera DB, Cvitkovitch DG, Chen L, Goodman SD, Han A. 2013. Mechanistic insights revealed by the crystal structure of a histidine kinase with signal transducer and sensor domains. PLoS biology 11:e1001493.
- 35. **Kelley LA, Sternberg MJ.** 2009. Protein structure prediction on the Web: a case study using the Phyre server. Nature protocols **4**:363-371.
- 36. Shi L, Hulett FM. 1999. The cytoplasmic kinase domain of PhoR is sufficient for the low phosphate-inducible expression of pho regulon genes in *Bacillus subtilis*. Molecular microbiology 31:211-222.
- 37. Chang C, Tesar C, Gu M, Babnigg G, Joachimiak A, Pokkuluri PR, Szurmant H, Schiffer M. 2010. Extracytoplasmic PAS-like domains are common in signal transduction proteins. J Bacteriol 192:1156-1159.
- Ellison DW, and McCleary, W. R. 2000. The unphosphorylated receiver domain of PhoB silences the activity of its output domain. J. Bacteriol. 182:6592-6597.
- 39. Kim SK, Makino, K., Amemura, M., Nakata, A., and Shinagawa, H. 1995.
 Mutational analysis of the role of the first helix of region 4.2 of the sigma 70 subunit of *Escherichia coli* RNA polymerase in transcriptional activation by activator protein PhoB. Mol. Gen. Genet. 248:1-8.
- Blanco AG, Sola M, Gomis-Ruth FX, Coll M. 2002. Tandem DNA recognition by PhoB, a two-component signal transduction transcriptional activator. Structure. 10:701-713.
- Wanner BL. 1995. Signal transduction and cross regulation in the *Escherichia coli* phosphate regulon by PhoR, CreC, and Acetyl Phosphate. ASM Press, Washington, D. C.

- McCleary WR. 1996. The activation of PhoB by acetylphosphate. Molecular microbiology 20:1155-1163.
- 43. **Wanner BL.** 1987. Control of *phoR*-dependent bacterial alkaline phosphatase clonal variation by the *phoM* region. J. Bacteriol. **169:**900-903.
- Zhou L, Gregori, G., Blackman, J. M., Robinson, J. P., and Wanner, B. L. 2005.
 Stochastic activation of the response regulator PhoB by noncognate histidine kinases.
 Journal of Integrative Bioinformatics:11-24.
- 45. Lewis VG, Ween MP, McDevitt CA. 2012. The role of ATP-binding cassette transporters in bacterial pathogenicity. Protoplasma **249**:919-942.
- Chen J. 2013. Molecular mechanism of the Escherichia coli maltose transporter. Current opinion in structural biology 23:492-498.
- Li CH, Yang YX, Su JG, Liu B, Tan JJ, Zhang XY, Wang CX. 2014. Allosteric transitions of the maltose transporter studied by an elastic network model. Biopolymers 101:758-768.
- 48. **Bao H, Duong F.** 2014. Nucleotide-free MalK drives the transition of the maltose transporter to the inward-facing conformation. J Biol Chem **289**:9844-9851.
- 49. Hayashi T, Chiba S, Kaneta Y, Furuta T, Sakurai M. 2014. ATP-Induced
 Conformational Changes of Nucleotide-Binding Domains in an ABC Transporter.
 Importance of the Water-Mediated Entropic Force. The journal of physical chemistry. B.
- 50. Heuveling J, Frochaux V, Ziomkowska J, Wawrzinek R, Wessig P, Herrmann A, Schneider E. 2014. Conformational changes of the bacterial type I ATP-binding cassette importer HisQMP2 at distinct steps of the catalytic cycle. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1838:106-116.

- 51. Chen S, Oldham ML, Davidson AL, Chen J. 2013. Carbon catabolite repression of the maltose transporter revealed by X-ray crystallography. Nature **499:**364-368.
- 52. Vastermark A, Saier MH, Jr. 2014. The involvement of transport proteins in transcriptional and metabolic regulation. Curr Opin Microbiol **18**:8-15.
- 53. Surin BP, Rosenberg H, Cox GB. 1985. Phosphate-specific transport system of *Escherichia coli*: nucleotide sequence and gene-polypeptide relationships. J. Bacteriol. 161:189-198.
- 54. Surin BP, Jans DA, Fimmel AL, Shaw DC, Cox GB, Rosenberg H. 1984. Structural gene for the phosphate-repressible phosphate-binding protein of Escherichia coli has its own promoter: complete nucleotide sequence of the phoS gene. J Bacteriol **157:**772-778.
- 55. Magota K, Otsuji N, Miki T, Horiuchi T, Tsunasawa S, Kondo J, Sakiyama F, Amemura M, Morita T, Shinagawa H, et al. 1984. Nucleotide sequence of the phoS gene, the structural gene for the phosphate-binding protein of Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol 157:909-917.
- 56. **Gebhard S, Tran SL, Cook GM.** 2006. The Phn system of Mycobacterium smegmatis: a second high-affinity ABC-transporter for phosphate. Microbiology **152**:3453-3465.
- 57. Harris RM, Webb DC, Howitt SM, Cox GB. 2001. Characterization of PitA and PitB from *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. **183**:5008-5014.
- 58. Hoffer SM, Schoondermark P, van Veen HW, Tommassen J. 2001. Activation by gene amplification of *pitB*, encoding a third phosphate transporter of *Escherichia coli* K-12. J. Bacteriol. 183:4659-4663.

- 59. Hoffer SM, Tommassen J. 2001. The phosphate-binding protein of *Escherichia coli* is not essential for P(i)-regulated expression of the pho regulon. J. Bacteriol. 183:5768-5771.
- 60. McCarthy S, Ai C, Wheaton G, Tevatia R, Eckrich V, Kelly R, Blum P. 2014. Role of an Archaeal PitA Transporter in the Copper and Arsenic Resistance of Metallosphaera sedula, an Extreme Thermoacidophile. J Bacteriol **196:**3562-3570.
- Haldimann A, Daniels LL, Wanner BL. 1998. Use of new methods for construction of tightly regulated arabinose and rhamnose promoter fusions in studies of the *Escherichia coli* phosphate regulon. J. Bacteriol. 180:1277-1286.
- 62. **Steed PM, Wanner BL.** 1993. Use of the rep technique for allele replacement to construct mutants with deletions of the *pstSCAB-phoU* operon: evidence of a new role for the PhoU protein in the phosphate regulon. J. Bacteriol. **175:**6797-6809.
- 63. **Rice CD, Pollard JE, Lewis ZT, McCleary WR.** 2009. Employment of a promoterswapping technique shows that PhoU modulates the activity of the PstSCAB2 ABC transporter in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol **75:**573-582.
- 64. Chakraborty S, Sivaraman J, Leung KY, Mok YK. 2011. Two-component PhoB-PhoR regulatory system and ferric uptake regulator sense phosphate and iron to control virulence genes in type III and VI secretion systems of *Edwardsiella tarda*. J Biol Chem 286:39417-39430.
- Oganesyan V, Oganesyan N, Adams PD, Jancarik J, Yokota HA, Kim R, Kim SH.
 2005. Crystal structure of the "PhoU-like" phosphate uptake regulator from *Aquifex aeolicus*. J Bacteriol 187:4238-4244.

- 66. Liu J, Lou Y, Yokota H, Adams PD, Kim R, Kim SH. 2005. Crystal structure of a PhoU protein homologue: A new class of metalloprotein containing multinuclear iron clusters. J. Biol. Chem. 280:15960-15966.
- 67. Lee SJ, Park YS, Kim SJ, Lee BJ, Suh SW. 2014. Crystal structure of PhoU from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, a negative regulator of the Pho regulon. Journal of structural biology **188**:22-29.
- 68. Luttmann D, Gopel Y, Gorke B. 2012. The phosphotransferase protein EIIA(Ntr) modulates the phosphate starvation response through interaction with histidine kinase PhoR in Escherichia coli. Molecular microbiology 86:96-110.
- Baek JH, Lee SY. 2007. Transcriptome analysis of phosphate starvation response in Escherichia coli. J Microbiol Biotechnol 17:244-252.
- 70. Baek JH, Kang YJ, Lee SY. 2007. Transcript and protein level analyses of the interactions among PhoB, PhoR, PhoU and CreC in response to phosphate starvation in *Escherichia coli*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 277:254-259.
- 71. **Muda M, Rao NN, Torriani A.** 1992. Role of PhoU in phosphate transport and alkaline phosphatase regulation. J. Bacteriol. **174:**8057-8064.
- Wanner BL. 1986. Bacterial alkaline phosphatase clonal variation in some *Escherichia coli* K-12 *phoR* mutant strains. J. Bacteriol. 168:1366-1371.
- Torriani A, Rothman F. 1961. Mutants of *Escherichia coli* constitutive for alkaline phosphatase. J Bacteriol 81:835-836.
- 74. Horiuchi T, Horiuchi S, Mizuno D. 1959. A possible negative feedback phenomenon controlling formation of alkaline phosphomonoesterase in *Escherichia coli*. Nature 183:1529-1530.

- 75. Wuttge S, Bommer M, Jager F, Martins BM, Jacob S, Licht A, Scheffel F, Dobbek H, Schneider E. 2012. Determinants of substrate specificity and biochemical properties of the sn-glycerol-3-phosphate ATP binding cassette transporter (UgpB-AEC2) of Escherichia coli. Molecular microbiology 86:908-920.
- 76. Crepin S, Chekabab SM, Le Bihan G, Bertrand N, Dozois CM, Harel J. 2011. The Pho regulon and the pathogenesis of *Escherichia coli*. Vet Microbiol 153:82-88.
- 77. **Daigle F, Fairbrother JM, Harel J.** 1995. Identification of a mutation in the *pst-phoU* operon that reduces pathogenicity of an *Escherichia coli* strain causing septicemia in pigs. Infect. Immun. **63**:4924-4927.
- 78. Cheng C, Tennant SM, Azzopardi KI, Bennett-Wood V, Hartland EL, Robins-Browne RM, Tauschek M. 2009. Contribution of the *pst-phoU* operon to cell adherence by atypical enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* and virulence of *Citrobacter rodentium*. Infect Immun 77:1936-1944.
- 79. Lee K, Jung J, Kim K, Bae D, Lim D. 2009. Overexpression of outer membrane protein OprT and increase of membrane permeability in phoU mutant of toluene-tolerant bacterium Pseudomonas putida GM730. J Microbiol 47:557-562.
- Rao NN, Torriani A. 1990. Molecular aspects of phosphate transport in Escherichia coli.
 Molecular microbiology 4:1083-1090.
- 81. Torriani-Gorini A. 1987. The birth of the Pho regulon, p. 3-11. *In* Torriani-Gorini Aea (ed.), Phosphate metabolism and cellular regulation in mircroorganisms. Am. Soc.
 Microbiol.

- Makino K, Shinagawa H, Amemura M, Kawamoto T, Yamada M, Nakata A. 1989.
 Signal transduction in the phosphate regulon of *Escherichia coli* involves phosphotransfer between PhoR and PhoB proteins. J. Mol. Biol. 210:551-559.
- 83. Bachhawat P, Swapna GV, Montelione GT, Stock AM. 2005. Mechanism of activation for transcription factor PhoB suggested by different modes of dimerization in the inactive and active states. Structure 13:1353-1363.
- 84. Makino K, Shinagawa H, Amemura M, Nakata A. 1986. Nucleotide sequence of the *phoR* gene, a regulatory gene for the phosphate regulon of *Escherichia coli*. J. Mol. Biol. 192:549-556.
- 85. Makino K, Amemura M, Kim SK, Nakata A, Shinagawa H. 1993. Role of the sigma 70 subunit of RNA polymerase in transcriptional activation by activator protein PhoB in Escherichia coli. Genes & development 7:149-160.
- 86. Etzkorn M, Kneuper H, Dunnwald P, Vijayan V, Kramer J, Griesinger C, Becker S, Unden G, Baldus M. 2008. Plasticity of the PAS domain and a potential role for signal transduction in the histidine kinase DcuS. Nature structural & molecular biology 15:1031-1039.
- 87. Rao NN, Roberts MF, Torriani A, Yashphe J. 1993. Effect of glpT and glpD
 mutations on expression of the phoA gene in Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol 175:74-79.
- Shulman RG, Brown TR, Ugurbil K, Ogawa S, Cohen SM, den Hollander JA. 1979.
 Cellular applications of 31P and 13C nuclear magnetic resonance. Science 205:160-166.
- Peterson CN, Mandel MJ, Silhavy TJ. 2005. Escherichia coli starvation diets: essential nutrients weigh in distinctly. J Bacteriol 187:7549-7553.

- 90. Rees DC, Johnson E, Lewinson O. 2009. ABC transporters: the power to change.
 Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology 10:218-227.
- 91. Webb DC, Rosenberg H, Cox GB. 1992. Mutational analysis of the *Escherichia coli* phosphate-specific transport system, a member of the traffic ATPase (or ABC) family of membrane transporters. A role for proline residues in transmembrane helices. J. Biol. Chem. 267:24661-24668.
- 92. Amemura M, Makino K, Shinagawa H, Kobayashi A, Nakata A. 1985. Nucleotide sequence of the genes involved in phosphate transport and regulation of the phosphate regulon in Escherichia coli. J Mol Biol **184:**241-250.
- 93. Davidson AL, Dassa E, Orelle C, Chen J. 2008. Structure, function, and evolution of bacterial ATP-binding cassette systems. Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR 72:317-364, table of contents.
- 94. **Surin BP, Dixon NE, Rosenberg H.** 1986. Purification of the PhoU protein, a negative regulator of the pho regulon of *Escherichia coli* K-12. J. Bacteriol. **168:**631-635.
- 95. Madej T, Addess KJ, Fong JH, Geer LY, Geer RC, Lanczycki CJ, Liu C, Lu S, Marchler-Bauer A, Panchenko AR, Chen J, Thiessen PA, Wang Y, Zhang D, Bryant SH. 2012. MMDB: 3D structures and macromolecular interactions. Nucleic acids research 40:D461-464.
- 96. Rao NN, Wang E, Yashphe J, Torriani A. 1986. Nucleotide pool in pho regulon mutants and alkaline phosphatase synthesis in *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 166:205-211.
- 97. Miller J. 1992. A short course in bacterial genetics: a laboratory manual and handbook for Escherichia coli and related bacteria. Cold Springs Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor.

- 98. Sambrook J, Fritsch RF, Mantiatis T. 1989. Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual,
 2nd ed. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, N. Y.
- 99. Neidhardt FC, P. L. Bloch, and D. F. Smith. 1974. Culture medium for enterobacteria.J. Bacteriol. 119:736-747.
- Datsenko KA, Wanner. BL. 2000. One-step inactivation of chromosomal genes in Escherichia coli K-12 using PCR products. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97:6640-6645.
- 101. Yamada M, Makino K, Amemura M, Shinagawa H, Nakata A. 1989. Regulation of the phosphate regulon of *Escherichia coli*: analysis of mutant *phoB* and *phoR* genes causing different phenotypes. J. Bacteriol. 171:5601-5606.
- 102. Blomfield IC, Vaughn V, Rest RF, Eisenstein BI. 1991. Allelic exchange in Escherichia coli using the Bacillus subtilis sacB gene and a temperature-sensitive pSC101 replicon. Molecular microbiology 5:1447-1457.
- 103. Buron-Barral MC, Gosink KK, Parkinson JS. 2006. Loss- and gain-of-function mutations in the F1-HAMP region of the *Escherichia coli* aerotaxis transducer Aer. J Bacteriol 188:3477-3486.
- 104. Studdert CA, Parkinson JS. 2005. Insights into the organization and dynamics of bacterial chemoreceptor clusters through in vivo crosslinking studies. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102:15623-15628.
- 105. **Battesti A, Bouveret E.** 2012. The bacterial two-hybrid system based on adenylate cyclase reconstitution in *Escherichia coli*. Methods **58**:325-334.
- 106. Thibodeau SA, Fang R, Joung JK. 2004. High-throughput beta-galactosidase assay for bacterial cell-based reporter systems. BioTechniques 36:410-415.

- 107. Griffith KL, Wolf RE, Jr. 2002. Measuring beta-galactosidase activity in bacteria: cell growth, permeabilization, and enzyme assays in 96-well arrays. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 290:397-402.
- 108. Zundel CJ, D. C. Capenter, and W. R. McCleary. 1998. Analysis of the conserved acidic residues in the regulatory domain of PhoB. FEBS Lett. 441:242-246.
- 109. Schurdell MS, Woodbury GM, McCleary WR. 2007. Genetic evidence suggests that the intergenic region between *pstA* and *pstB* plays a role in the regulation of *rpoS* translation during phosphate limitation. J Bacteriol 189:1150-1153.
- Ruiz N, Silhavy TJ. 2003. Constitutive activation of the *Escherichia coli* Pho regulan upregulates *rpoS* translation in an Hfq-dependent fashion. J Bacteriol 185:5984-5992.
- 111. Baba T, Ara T, Hasegawa M, Takai Y, Okumura Y, Baba M, Datsenko KA, Tomita M, Wanner BL, Mori H. 2006. Construction of Escherichia coli K-12 in-frame, single-gene knockout mutants: the Keio collection. Molecular systems biology 2:2006 0008.
- 112. Vivian JT, Callis PR. 2001. Mechanisms of tryptophan fluorescence shifts in proteins. Biophysical journal 80:2093-2109.
- 113. Anjem A, Varghese S, Imlay JA. 2009. Manganese import is a key element of the OxyR response to hydrogen peroxide in *Escherichia coli*. Molecular microbiology 72:844-858.
- 114. Waters LS, Sandoval M, Storz G. 2011. The *Escherichia coli* MntR miniregulon includes genes encoding a small protein and an efflux pump required for manganese homeostasis. J Bacteriol 193:5887-5897.

- Golynskiy MV, Gunderson WA, Hendrich MP, Cohen SM. 2006. Metal binding studies and EPR spectroscopy of the manganese transport regulator MntR. Biochemistry 45:15359-15372.
- Silver S, Johnseine P, King K. 1970. Manganese Active Transport in Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol 104:1299-1306.
- 117. Alatossava T, Jutte H, Kuhn A, Kellenberger E. 1985. Manipulation of intracellular magnesium content in polymyxin B nonapeptide-sensitized Escherichia coli by ionophore A23187. J Bacteriol 162:413-419.
- 118. Lopez C, Sanchez J, Hermida L, Zulueta A, Marquez G. 2004. Cysteine mediated multimerization of a recombinant dengue E fragment fused to the P64k protein following immobilized metal ion affinity chromatography. Protein expression and purification 34:176-182.
- Winnen B, Anderson E, Cole JL, King GF, Rowland SL. 2013. Role of the PAS sensor domains in the Bacillus subtilis sporulation kinase KinA. J Bacteriol 195:2349-2358.
- 120. Sousa EH, Tuckerman JR, Gondim AC, Gonzalez G, Gilles-Gonzalez MA. 2013. Signal transduction and phosphoryl transfer by a FixL hybrid kinase with low oxygen affinity: importance of the vicinal PAS domain and receiver aspartate. Biochemistry 52:456-465.
- 121. Yamada S, Sugimoto H, Kobayashi M, Ohno A, Nakamura H, Shiro Y. 2009.
 Structure of PAS-linked histidine kinase and the response regulator complex. Structure 17:1333-1344.

- 122. Echenique JR, Trombe MC. 2001. Competence repression under oxygen limitation through the two-component MicAB signal-transducing system in Streptococcus pneumoniae and involvement of the PAS domain of MicB. J Bacteriol 183:4599-4608.
- Gerke V, Creutz CE, Moss SE. 2005. Annexins: linking Ca2+ signalling to membrane dynamics. Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology 6:449-461.
- 124. Swairjo MA, Concha NO, Kaetzel MA, Dedman JR, Seaton BA. 1995. Ca(2+)bridging mechanism and phospholipid head group recognition in the membrane-binding protein annexin V. Nature structural biology 2:968-974.
- 125. Titball RW, Naylor CE, Miller J, Moss DS, Basak AK. 2000. Opening of the active site of Clostridium perfringens alpha-toxin may be triggered by membrane binding. International journal of medical microbiology : IJMM 290:357-361.
- 126. Mikkelsen H, Hui K, Barraud N, Filloux A. 2013. The pathogenicity island encoded PvrSR/RcsCB regulatory network controls biofilm formation and dispersal in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PA14. Molecular microbiology 89:450-463.
- 127. Garen A, Otsuji N. 1964. Isolation of a Protein Specified by a Regulator Gene. J Mol Biol 8:841-852.
- 128. **Zuckier G, Torriani A.** 1981. Genetic and physiological tests of three phosphatespecific transport mutants of *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. **145**:1249-1256.
- 129. Amemura M, Shinagawa H, Makino K, Otsuji N, Nakata A. 1982. Cloning of and complementation tests with alkaline phosphatase regulatory genes (*phoS* and *phoT*) of *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 152:692-701.

- 130. Dwyer RS, Ricci DP, Colwell LJ, Silhavy TJ, Wingreen NS. 2013. Predicting functionally informative mutations in Escherichia coli BamA using evolutionary covariance analysis. Genetics 195:443-455.
- Liu Y, Eyal E, Bahar I. 2008. Analysis of correlated mutations in HIV-1 protease using spectral clustering. Bioinformatics 24:1243-1250.
- Liu Y, Bahar I. 2012. Sequence evolution correlates with structural dynamics. Mol Biol Evol 29:2253-2263.
- 133. Clark GW, Ackerman SH, Tillier ER, Gatti DL. 2014. Multidimensional mutual information methods for the analysis of covariation in multiple sequence alignments. BMC bioinformatics 15:157.
- 134. Simonetti FL, Teppa E, Chernomoretz A, Nielsen M, Marino Buslje C. 2013.
 MISTIC: Mutual information server to infer coevolution. Nucleic acids research 41:W8-14.
- Mahony S, Auron PE, Benos PV. 2007. Inferring protein-DNA dependencies using motif alignments and mutual information. Bioinformatics 23:i297-304.
- Weil P, Hoffgaard F, Hamacher K. 2009. Estimating sufficient statistics in coevolutionary analysis by mutual information. Computational biology and chemistry 33:440-444.
- 137. Zhang S, McDonald PW, Thompson TA, Dennis AF, Akopov A, Kirkness EF,
 Patton JT, McDonald SM. 2014. Analysis of human rotaviruses from a single location over an 18-year time span suggests that protein coadaption influences gene constellations. Journal of virology 88:9842-9863.

- 138. Albanesi D, Martin M, Trajtenberg F, Mansilla MC, Haouz A, Alzari PM, de Mendoza D, Buschiazzo A. 2009. Structural plasticity and catalysis regulation of a thermosensor histidine kinase. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106:16185-16190.
- Kozakov D, Brenke R, Comeau SR, Vajda S. 2006. PIPER: an FFT-based protein docking program with pairwise potentials. Proteins 65:392-406.
- 140. Comeau SR, Gatchell DW, Vajda S, Camacho CJ. 2004. ClusPro: an automated docking and discrimination method for the prediction of protein complexes.
 Bioinformatics 20:45-50.
- 141. **Comeau SR, Gatchell DW, Vajda S, Camacho CJ.** 2004. ClusPro: a fully automated algorithm for protein-protein docking. Nucleic acids research **32**:W96-99.
- 142. Kozakov D, Beglov D, Bohnuud T, Mottarella S, Xia B, Hall DR, Vajda S. 2013.
 How good is automated protein docking? Proteins: Structure, Function, and
 Bioinformatics 81:2159-2166.
- 143. Morcos F, Pagnani A, Lunt B, Bertolino A, Marks DS, Sander C, Zecchina R, Onuchic JN, Hwa T, Weigt M. 2011. Direct-coupling analysis of residue coevolution captures native contacts across many protein families. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108:E1293-1301.
- 144. Letunic I, Bork P. 2011. Interactive Tree Of Life v2: online annotation and display of phylogenetic trees made easy. Nucleic acids research 39:W475-478.
- 145. Letunic I, Bork P. 2007. Interactive Tree Of Life (iTOL): an online tool for phylogenetic tree display and annotation. Bioinformatics 23:127-128.
146. Maddison WP, Maddison DR. 2014. Mesquite: a modular system for evolutionary analysis. Version 3.01 <u>http://mesquiteproject.org</u>.